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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K

[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

[] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission File Number: 0-52105

KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

Delaware 94-303027¢
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation oganization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No

27422 Portola Parkway, Suite 200 Foothill Ranch,
California 926102831

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
(949) 614-1740

(Registrant's telephone number, including area)code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Name of each exchange on which
Title of each class registered

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) tfie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vkelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%dbéturities Act. Ye&l NoO
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of Act. Yed€l NoM

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b filed all reports required to be filed by SectiB or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4L68ring
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter pahatithe registrant was required to file such reg)pand (2) has been subject to such filing neguents for
the past 90 days. Y NoO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iisnitted electronically and posted on its corpovdeb site, if any, every Interactive Data File rieed to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Régnl&-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the pding 12 months (or for such shorter period that th
registrant was required to submit and post sueB)fii Yes No[O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquitlers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K (82@% of this chapter) is not contained herein, a&iiidnot
be contained, to the best of registrant's knowlettgéefinitive proxy or information statementsamporated by reference in Part 11l of this FormKL.@r any
amendment of this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantleazge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&se the
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelezd filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rul&b-2 of the Exchange Act

Large accelerated filéd Accelerated filed

Non-accelerated filed (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting compariy

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExgje Act). Yedd No M



The aggregate market value of the registrant's comstock held by non-affiliates of the registran@the last business day of the registrant's meagntly
completed second fiscal quarter (June 30, 2014)appsoximately $1.3 billion .

As of February 16, 2015 , there were 17,464,752eshaf the Common Stock of the registrant outstaqndi
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PART |

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Report”) ¢aims statements which constitute “forward-lookatgtements” within the meaning of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B99hese statements appear throughout this Repadding Item 1. “Business — Business
Operations,” Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” and Item Rldnagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@hdition and Results of Operations.”
These forward-looking statements can be identifigthe use of forward-looking terminology such bslieves,” “expects,” “may,”
“estimates,” “will,” “should,” “plans,” or “anticiates,” or the negative of the foregoing or othefateons or comparable terminology, or by
discussions of strategy.

Readers are cautioned that any such forward-loottiaigments are not guarantees of future perforenand involve significant risks and
uncertainties and that actual results may vary filoose in the forward-looking statements as a tegwlarious factors. These factors include:
the effectiveness of managemeardtrategies and decisions; general economic asidéss conditions, including cyclicality and otlenditions
in the aerospace, automotive and other end mankeeterve; developments in technology; new or medifitatutory or regulatory
requirements; changing prices and market conditiang other factors discussed in Item 1A. “Risktbes® and elsewhere in this Report. No
assurance can be given that these are all of ther§that could cause actual results to vary riadlgfrom the forward-looking statements.

Readers are urged to consider these factors cigrafudvaluating any forward-looking statements anel cautioned not to place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements. Diwdrdiooking statements included herein are made onbf #se date of this Report and
undertake no obligation to update any informationtained in this Report or to publicly release eewisions to any forwartboking statemen
that may be made to reflect events or circumstati@soccur, or that we become aware of, aftedtte of this Report except as required by
law.

Item 1. Business
Availability of Information

We file Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Rep@mn Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, RPr8tatements and other
information with the Securities and Exchange Consiois (“SEC”). You may inspect and, for a fee, camy document that we file with the
SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100detStd.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please calSthE€ at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further
information on the Public Reference Room. You miap abtain the documents that we file electronicatbm the SEC's website at
http://www.sec.gov Our filings with the SEC, as well as news relsas@nouncements of upcoming earnings calls amtguewhich our
management participates or hosts with memberseahtlestment community and an archive of webcdsssich earnings calls and investor
events and related investor presentations, areaghsitable on our website at http://www.kaiseraloam.com. Information on our website is
not incorporated into this Report.

Business Overview

Founded in 1946, Kaiser Aluminum Corporation’s m@imnline of business is the production of semi-fzdted specialty aluminum
products. At December 31, 2014 , we operated 1dskedt production facilities in the United States and in Canada.

Consistent with the manner in which our chief ofirgadecision maker reviews and evaluates our lessinour Fabricated Products
business is treated as a single operating seginesddition to the Fabricated Products segmenthawe one business unit, All Other, which
provides general and administrative support forapearations. For purposes of segment reportingruddied States generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”), we treat the Falatied Products segment as its own reportable segalé@ither is not considered a
reportable segment (see “Business Operations” Helow

Through our 12 focused production facilities in ¥oAmerica, we manufacture rolled, extruded andvdraluminum products to
strategically serve four end market applicatiomsoapace and high strength products ("Aero/HS sty extrusions for automotive
applications ("Automotive Extrusions"), general ewgring products ("GE products") and other indakproducts ("Other products”). See
“Business Operations — Fabricated Products Segniettiv for additional information. In 2014 , we duxed and shipped approximately
588.8 million pounds of semi-fabricated aluminurndurcts from these facilities, which comprised &lbor consolidated net sales of
approximately $ 1.4 billion .

We have long-standing relationships with our cugtienwhich consist primarily of blue-chip companieduding leading aerospace
companies, automotive suppliers and metal senaagecs. In our served markets, we seek to be fiygieu of choice by pursuing “Best in
Class” customer satisfaction and offering a broadipct portfolio. We have a culture of
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continuous improvement that is facilitated by theig€r Production System (“KPS"), an integrated igpfibn of tools such as Lean
Manufacturing, Six Sigma and Total Productive Mautdiring. We believe KPS enables us to continuoteglyce our own manufacturing
costs, eliminate waste throughout the value chaihdeliver “Best in Class” customer service throaghsistent, on-time delivery of superior
quality products on short lead times. We strivédbtly integrate the management of the operatiitisin our Fabricated Products segment
across multiple production facilities, product bnend target markets in order to maximize the iefficy of product flow to our customers.

In recent years, we have pursued significant cegt@nding initiatives to expand manufacturing ¢sliges, increase capacity and improve
product capabilities, product quality and efficign€he most significant of these initiatives isegiss of investments to more than double our
capacity and expand our manufacturing capabilifyramluce thick heat treat plate at our Spokane hifigton (“Trentwood") facility in order
capitalize on significant demand growth for aeregpapplications.

Business Operations

Fabricated Products Segment

Overview

Our Fabricated Products segment produces rolleédjded and drawn aluminum products used princifaliyaerospace and defense,
automotive, consumer durables, electronics, etadtand machinery and equipment applications. Agated above, the Fabricated Products
segment focuses on products that strategicallyederer end market applications, more particularer@HS products, Automotive Extrusions,
GE products and Other products. During 2014 , 20482012 , our North American manufacturing faeiitproduced and shipped
approximately 588.8 million , 563.7 million and 585nillion pounds of fabricated aluminum productspectively, which accounted for all of
our total net sales.

For information regarding net sales, operating ime@nd total assets of the Fabricated Productsesgigsee Note 13 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in I8efiFinancial Statements and Supplementary DatahigfReport; such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

Types of Products Produced

We have strategically chosen end market applicatibat allow us to utilize our core metallurgicatigprocess technology capabilities to
create value added products in markets that preggmrtunities for sales growth and premium pricgfiglifferentiated products. The market
for fabricated aluminum mill products is broadlyfided to include flat-rolled, extruded, drawn, fedjand cast aluminum products used in a
variety of end market applications. We participateertain portions of the markets for flat-rolladd extruded/drawn products, focusing on
highly engineered products for aerospace/high gthermutomotive, general engineering and othemeaiket applications.

The table below provides shipment and sales infaomgin millions of dollars except for shipmenfanmation and percentages) for our
end market applications:

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Shipments (mm Ibs):
Aero/HS products 236.¢ 40% 224.: 40% 223.¢ 38%
Automotive Extrusions 78.t 13% 64.1 11% 62.¢ 11%
GE products 2234 38% 222t 40% 232.7 40%
Other products 50.C 9% 52.¢ 9% 66.5 11%
588.¢ 10(% 563.7 10(% 585.¢ 10(%
Sales:
Aero/HS products $ 686.2 51% $ 677.C 52% $  695.] 51%
Automotive Extrusions 173.t 13% 129.t 10% 125.k 9%
GE products 419t 31% 411.C 32% 441.¢ 33%
Other products 76.¢ 5% 80.C 6% 98.1 7%
$ 1,356.: 10% $ 1,297. 10% $ 1,360.: 100(%




Aero/HS ProductOur Aero/HS products include high quality heat tyglate and sheet, as well as cold finish rod aard deamless drawn
tube, hard alloy extrusions and billet that are nfactured to demanding specifications for the glalesospace and defense industries. These
industries use our products in applications thataled such properties as high tensile strength rewgatigue resistance properties and
exceptional durability even in harsh environmehts. instance, aerospace manufacturers use highggtralloys for a variety of structures that
must perform consistently under extreme variatiartemperature and altitude. Our Aero/HS produntsused for a wide variety of end uses.
We make aluminum plate, sheet, extruded shapetuaedor aerospace applications and we manufaatuegiety of specialized rod and bar
products that are incorporated in diverse appbeati The aerospace and defense industries’ consumgdtfabricated aluminum products is
driven by factors that include overall levels affr@me build rates, which are cyclical in natuned alefense spending, as well as the usage of
competing materials such as titanium and compoditesiand has increased for thick plate with growtimonolithic construction of
commercial and other aircraft. In monolithic constion, aluminum plate is heavily machined to fdira desired part from a single piece of
metal (as opposed to creating parts using alumistuget, extrusions or forgings that are affixedrte another using rivets, bolts or welds).
Military applications for heat treat plate and ghiaelude aircraft frames and skins.

Automotive Extrusiongiutomotive products consist of extruded aluminumducts for many North American automotive applicasi
Examples of the variety of extruded products thatswpply to the automotive industry include extdigeoducts for structural components,
bumper systems, anti-lock braking systems and dtaiva for drive shafts. For some Automotive Extouasi, we perform limited fabrication,
including sawing and cutting to length. Demand gioand cyclicality for Automotive Extrusions terarhirror automotive build rates in Noi
America. Additional growth for Automotive Extrusisiis driven by efforts from automotive manufactarer reduce the weight of vehicles to
improve fuel efficiency by converting applicatioinem steel to aluminum.

GE ProductsMost of our GE products are standard catalog iteoid to large metal service centers. Our GE pradeansist primarily of
6000-series alloy rod, bar, tube, wire, sheetgepdaid standard extrusions. The 6000-series allag extrudable medium-strength alloy that is
heat treatable and extremely versatile. Our GEymtadhave a wide range of uses and applicationsy m@which involve further fabrication
for numerous transportation and other industrial erarket applications where machining of plate,and bar is intensive. For example, our
GE products are used in the enhancement and prodwdtmilitary vehicles, ordnances, semiconduct@anufacturing cells, numerous
electronic devices, after-market motor sport pand tooling plates. Our rod and bar products aneufis@tured into rivets, nails, screws, bolts
and parts for machinery and equipment. Demand drawd cyclicality for GE products tend to mirrophd economic patterns and industrial
activity in North America. Demand is also impacbgdthe destocking and restocking of inventory tigfvaut the supply chain.

Other ProductsOther products consist of extruded, drawn and lgilet aluminum products for a variety of North Ariean industrial end
uses. Demand for Other products tends to mirrcadbexzonomic patterns and industrial activity in thagkmerica.

Types of Manufacturing Processes Employed
We utilize the following manufacturing processegtoduce our fabricated products:

Flat Rolling. The traditional manufacturing process for alumirflatirolled products uses ingot, a large rectangsi@ab of aluminum, as the
starter material. The ingot is processed througérgs of rolling operations, both hot and colei$hing steps may include heat treatment,
annealing, stretching, leveling or slitting to amhe the desired metallurgical, dimensional andésfgumance characteristics. Aluminum flat-
rolled products are manufactured using a varietilofys, a range of tempers (hardness), gaugak(®ss) and widths and various finishes.
Flat-rolled aluminum semi-finished products aregyaily either sheet (under 0.25 inches in thicknesglate (0.25 inches or greater in
thickness). The vast majority of the North Americaarket for aluminum flat-rolled products uses “ecoan alloy” sheet and plate for
construction, beverage/food can and other appticatiWe have focused our efforts on “heat treattipcts, which are distinguished from
common alloy products by higher strength and otlesired product attributes. The primary end maabelications of heat treat flat-rolled
sheet and plate are for Aero/HS and GE products.

Extrusion.The extrusion process typically starts with a tél#gt, which is an aluminum cylinder of varyingiigth and diameter. The first
step in the process is to heat the billet to avatézl temperature whereby the metal is mallealile.billet is put into an extrusion press and
pushed, or extruded, through a die that gives theernal the desired two-dimensional cross seciitve. material is either quenched as it leaves
the press, or subjected to a post-extrusion heatrirent cycle, to control the material’'s physicalgerties. The extrusion is then straightened
typically by stretching and cutting to length befdieing hardened in aging ovens. The largest emketnapplications for extruded products are
in the construction, general engineering and cugtmoducts. Building and construction products repre the single largest end market
application for extrusions by a




significant amount. However, we have strategicelfigsen to focus on extruded products for Aero/H8p#motive Extrusions, GE and Other
end market applications, utilizing our well-deveddtechnical expertise, strong production capghalitd high product quality to meet the
requirements of these more demanding applications.

Drawing. Drawing is a fabrication operation in which extrddebes and rods are pulled through a die, or draiva primary purpose of
drawing is to reduce the diameter and wall thicknekile improving physical properties and dimensidviaterial may go through multiple
drawing steps to achieve the final dimensional $jgations. We primarily use drawing in connectwith our Aero/HS products.

A description of the manufacturing processes amnelgcay of products at each of our production féesi at December 31, 2014 is shown
below:

Location Types of Products Manufacturing Process
Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) Aero/HS Extrusion

Chandler, Arizona (Tube) Aero/HS Extrus@rawing
Florence, Alabama Aero/HS, GE, Other Drawing

Jackson, Tennessee Aero/HS, Auto, GE Bxin{Brawing
Kalamazoo, Michigan Auto, GE Extrusion

London, Ontario (Canada) Auto Extrusion

Los Angeles, California GE, Other Extrusion

Newark, Ohio Aero/HS, GE Extrusion/Rod Rall
Richland, Washington GE Extrusion

Richmond, Virginia (Bellwood) Auto, GE Exsion/Drawing
Sherman, Texas Auto, GE, Other Extrusion

Spokane, Washington (Trentwood) Aero/HS, GE Flat Rolling

As reflected by the table above, many of our faediemploy the same basic manufacturing procesgatuce the same types of produ
We make a significant effort to tightly integraketmanagement of our Fabricated Products segmergsamultiple manufacturing locations,
product lines and end market applications to mazentie efficiency of product flow to customers. @émtralize purchasing of our primary
aluminum requirements in order to better manageepdredit and other benefits. Our sales forcethadnanagement thereof are also
significantly integrated as many customers purclasember of different products that are produdedifferent plant facilities. We believe th
integration of our operations allows us to capefficiencies while allowing our facilities to renmalighly focused on their specific processes
and end market applications.

Raw Materials

To make our fabricated products, we purchase pyirarmminum ingot, sow and recycled and secondamgpsaluminum from third party
suppliers in varying percentages depending on uanmarket factors, including price and availabilifpe price for primary aluminum
purchased for the Fabricated Products segmenpiisatfy based on the Average Midwest TransactiaoeR{‘Midwest Price”), which reflects
the primary aluminum supply/demand dynamics in N@éwnerica. Recycled and scrap aluminum is typicpllychased at a discount to ingot
prices but can require additional processing. Mezame Midwest Price, comprised of the average boridetal Exchange (“LME”) plus
average Midwest premium, per pound of primary atumi for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , were $0.85 + $0&084 + $0.11 and $0.92 + $0.10
respectively. At February 16, 2015 , the LME pluglMest premium transaction price per pound wasZ6.80.24 .

In addition to producing fabricated aluminum progufor sale to third parties, certain of our praitre facilities provide one another with
billet, log, or other intermediate material forther production in lieu of purchasing such itenwmfrthird-party suppliers. For example, our
Newark, Ohio facility supplies billet and log teetackson, Tennessee facility and redraw rod t&litrence, Alabama facility

Pricing, Metal Price Risk Management and Hedc

As noted above, we purchase primary and secondiamjiraum, our principal raw material, on a floatipgce basis typically based on the
Midwest Price. Our pricing of fabricated aluminunogucts is generally intended to lock in a conwarsnargin (representing the value added
from the fabrication process(es)) and to pass npeie fluctuation through to our
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customers. We manage the risk of fluctuations énghice of aluminum through our pricing policieslarse of financial derivatives. Our three
principal pricing mechanisms are as follows:

e Spot priceSome of our customers pay a product price thatrporates the spot price of primary aluminum in efffat the time of
shipment to a customer. Spot prices for these mtsdithange regularly based on competitive dynarkicgtuations in underlying
aluminum price is a significant factor influencialganges in competitive spot prices. This pricinghamism typically allows us to
pass metal price risk through to the customerssBore of our higher value added products sold gpoabasis, the pass through of
metal price movements can sometimes lag by as msiskveral months, with a favorable impact to usnahetal prices decline and
an adverse impact to us when metal prices incr&seefrom time to time, enter into hedging transatg with third parties to
minimize the impact to us of metal price swingstfase higher value added products.

* Inde>-based priceSome of our customers pay a product price thatpoates an index-based price for primary aluminsuch as
Platt’'s Midwest price for primary aluminum. Thisg@ng mechanism also typically allows us to passaingrice risk through to the
customer.

e Firm price.Some of our customers who commit to volumes andhgrof delivery pay a firm price, creating metaicerrisk that we
must hedge. We are able to limit exposure to npetaé risks created by firm-price customer salettreats by using third-party
hedging instruments. Total fabricated product sk&pts for which we were subject to price risk wémenillions of pounds, 138.3,
119.8 and 178.8 during 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , otispdy.

All hedging activities are managed centrally to imiize transaction costs, monitor consolidated rpbeures and allow for increased
responsiveness to changes in market factors. Hgdgitivities are conducted in compliance with dqyoapproved by our Board of Directors
and administered by our hedging committee (memifenghich include our principal executive officerjqripal financial officer and principal
accounting officer).

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

Industry sales margins for fabricated productstélate in response to competitive and market dynansiales are made directly to
customers by our sales personnel located in theetdi$itates, Canada, Europe and China and by indepesales agents in other regions of
Asia, Latin America and the Middle East. Our saled marketing efforts are focused on the marketé&éso/HS products, Automotive
Extrusions, GE products and Other products.

Aero/HS Productsipproximately 51% of our Aero/HS product shipmeauts sold to metal service centers with the remaiadig directly
to end market application customers. Sales are ipiacharily under contracts (with terms spanningrirone year to ten years) as well as on ai
order-by-order basis. We serve this market withoatiNAmerican sales force focused on Aero/HS ando@ucts and direct sales
representatives in Western Europe and China. Pyinemand drivers for Aero/HS products include #heel of commercial aircraft
construction spending (which in turn is often sebje broader economic cycles) and defense spending

Automotive Extrusion®©ur Automotive Extrusions are sold primarily tcsfitier automotive suppliers under multi-year salgeements.
Almost all sales of Automotive Extrusions occuraihgh direct channels using a North American disatgs force that works closely with our
technical sales organization. Key demand driverefw Automotive Extrusions include the level ofidoAmerican light vehicle
manufacturing and increased use of aluminum extngsin vehicles for fuel efficiency and in respotséncreasingly strict governmental
standards.

GE ProductsA substantial majority of our GE products are dolthrge metal service centers in North Americahwiders primarily
consisting of standard catalog type items shippigld avrelatively short lead-time. We service thiarket with a North American sales force
focused on GE and Aero/HS products. Competitiveadyins for GE products include product price, pradiune breadth, product quality,
delivery performance and customer service.

Other ProductsOther products are primarily sold directly to intfied end users using a North American direct stdese. Demand for
industrial products is linked to the overall strngf the U.S. industrial economy.

Customers

In 2014 , our Fabricated Products segment had appabely 800 customers. Our two largest custoniRediance Steel & Aluminum Co.
(“Reliance”) and The Boeing Company ("Boeing"), @aated for approximately 22% and 10% , respectiv@iypur net sales in 2014 . While
the loss of Reliance or Boeing as customers woale la material adverse effect on us, we believeotitalongstanding relationship with each
is good and that the risk of losing either as darusr is remote. See Note 13 of Notes to Cons@dl&inancial Statements included in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” isfReport for information about our significant centrations, which information is
incorporated herein by reference.




Research and Developme

We operate three research and development ce®erdolling and Heat Treat Center and our MetalkalgAnalysis Center are both
located at our Trentwood facility. The Rolling aHdat Treat Center has complete hot rolling, colingpand heat treat capabilities to simul:
in small lots, processing of flat-rolled produats process and product development on an experahscdle. The Metallurgical Analysis
Center consists of a full metallographic laboratang a scanning electron microscope to supporareselevelopment programs as well as
respond to plant technical service requests. Ting tenter, our Solidification and Casting Cenigflpcated in Newark, Ohio and has a
developmental casting unit capable of castingtsiléad ingots for extrusion and rolling experimeiiitse casting unit is also capable of casting
full size billets and ingots for processing on pineduction extrusion presses and rolling mills. Se& 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statermamtd Supplementary Data” of this Report for infation about our research and
development costs, which information is incorpaddterein by reference.

The combination of our research and developmenkwand concurrent product and process developmehinigur production operations
has resulted in the creation and delivery of valdéed KaiserSele€products.

All Other

All Other provides general and administrative suppmour operations. The expenses incurred inkih&ness unit are not allocated to our
other operations. All Other is not considered arigble segment.

Segment and Geographical Area Financial Information

The information set forth in Note 13 of Notes tonSolidated Financial Statements included in IterfFancial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Report regarding ourABAeporting segment and the geographical areafiich we operate is incorporated
herein by reference.

Competition

The fabricated aluminum industry is highly compe¢it We concentrate our fabricating operations ighlly engineered products for which
we believe we have production capability, technéadertise, high product quality and geographic @heér competitive advantages. We
differentiate ourselves from our competitors byspimg “Best in Class” customer satisfaction, whidriven by quality, availability, service
and delivery performance and having a broad prodiffieting, including the products in our Kaiser &#® product line.

Our primary competitors in the global heat tredtatdrolled products are Alcoa Inc., ConstelliumMNand Aleris Corporation. In the
extrusion/drawn products, we compete with manyaiegfi participants, as well as larger companies witlational presence, such as Sapa AS
and Alcoa. Some of our competitors are substaptiatber, have greater financial resources and Imaag other strategic advantages.

For heat treat plate and sheet products, partiguiar aerospace applications, new competitioninsted by technological expertise that
only a few companies have developed through sizanifiinvestment in research and development aretidsmf operating experience. Further
use of plate and sheet in safety critical appl®timakes quality and product consistency crifeetors. Suppliers must pass a rigorous
gualification process to sell to airframe manufaets. Additionally, significant investment in inftaucture and specialized equipment is
required to supply heat treat plate and sheet.

We maintain a competitive advantage by using apfiio engineering and advanced process engineridigtinguish our company and
our rolled and extruded/drawn products. In comlimatour application and process engineering amcerpertise in metallurgy and
manufacturing process control allow us to manufa&cproducts that are differentiated from the méjasf our competitors. In particular, our
differentiated KaiserSelect® products are engirared manufactured to deliver enhanced productckenistics with improved consistency,
S0 as to result in better performance, lower wastk in many cases, lower cost for our customers.

Employees

At December 31, 2014we employed approximately 2,650 people, of whipproximately 2,590 were employed in our Fabricé&estiucts
segment and approximately 60 were employed in orparate group, most of whom are located in ouicef in Foothill Ranch, California.

The table below shows each manufacturing locatteprimary union affiliation, if any, and the esation date for the current union
contracts as of December 31, 2014 . As indicatéallgaunion affiliations are with the United SteBlaper and

6




Forestry, Rubber, Manufacturing, Energy, Alliedusttial and Service Workers International UnionLAEIO, CLC (“USW"), International
Association of Machinists (“IAM”) and InternationBrotherhood of Teamsters (“Teamsters”).

Contract
Location Union Expiration Date
Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) Non-union —
Chandler, Arizona (Tube) USW Mar 2015
Florence, Alabama Usw Mar 2017
Jackson, Tennessee Non-union —
Kalamazoo, Michigan Uusw Feb 2016
London, Ontario (Canada) USW Canada Feb 2015
Los Angeles, California Teamsters Apr 2015
Newark, Ohio usw Sep 2015
Richland, Washington Non-union —
Richmond Virginia, (Bellwood) USW/IAM Nov 2017/Nov 2017
Sherman, Texas IAM Dec 2016
Spokane, Washington (Trentwodd) USW Sep 2015

1 We are currently in the process of negotiatingléher agreement covering employees at our Londomau@ facility and will start
negotiations at our Chandler, Arizona, and Los AegjeCalifornia facilities within the next three ntbs. We consider our relationship v
our employees to be good and do not expect anyfis@nt issues to arise from the negotiations ttered the labor agreements expiring in
2015. See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Finaigtatements in Item 8. “Financial Statements ampfumentary Data” of this Report
for additional information about concentration abdr subject to collective bargaining agreements.

2 In January 2015, the Company and the USW entetediinew five-year labor agreement relating to eyes at the Company's Newark,
Ohio and Spokane, Washington (Trentwood) facilitefective October 1, 2015 through September 8202

8 There are two labor agreements with the USW cogegmployees at the Spokane, Washington (Trentwizeiljty. One agreement cove
the majority of the employees at the facility aglhwe the Company's Newark, Ohio facility. The athgreement covers employees
working at a leased site near the Trentwood roltirillj complex. At December 31, 2014, both agreeméatd an expiration date of
September 30, 2015. In January 2015, both agreemere extended through September 30, 2020.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to a number of environmental lavésragulations, to potential fines or penalties sssé for alleged breaches of the
environmental laws and regulations and to potentains and litigation based upon such laws andlatigns.

We have established procedures for regularly etialy@nvironmental loss contingencies. Our envirental accruals represent our
undiscounted estimate of costs reasonably expézted incurred based on presently enacted lawseandations, existing requirements,
currently available facts, existing technology and assessment of the likely remediation actiorisettaken. See Note 9 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in I8fiFinancial Statements and Supplementary Dafetfiie Report.

Legal Structure
Our current corporate structure is summarized ksie:

*  We directly own 100% of the issued and outstagdhares of capital stock of Kaiser Aluminum Inwgents Company, a Delaware
corporation (“KAIC"), which functions as an interdiate holding company.

*  We directly own 100% of the ownership interesKaiser Aluminum Beijing Trading Company, whichsMarmed in China for the
primary purpose of engaging in market developmadt@mmercialization and distribution of our protiuic Asia.
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KAIC owns 100% of the ownership interests of eat

« Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Products, LLC, a Dedee limited liability company (“KAFP”), which digly holds the assets
and liabilities associated with our Fabricated listsl segment (excluding those assets and liabilitgsociated with our
London, Ontario and Chandler, Arizona (Extrusiamifities and certain of the assets and liabiliiesociated with our
Fabricated Products segment’s operations in the 8taVashington) and owns 100% of the ownershigrést of each of:

» Kaiser Aluminum Washington, LLC, a Delaware lied liability company, which holds certain of thesats and
liabilities associated with our Fabricated Prodiseigment’s operations in the State of Washingtod; a

» Kaiser Aluminum Alexco, LLC, a Delaware limitédbility company, which holds the assets and liiés associated
with our Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) facility;

» Kaiser Aluminum Canada Limited, an Ontario cogtimn, which holds the assets and liabilities asged with our London,
Ontario facility;

e Kaiser Aluminium Mill Products, Inc., a Delawagerporation, which engages in market developmedtcmmercialization
and distribution of our products in the United Kalagn.

e Trochus Insurance Co., Ltd., a corporation fatrimeBermuda, which has historically functionedaasaptive insurance
company;

e Kaiser Aluminum France, SAS, a corporation fodnme France for the primary purpose of engagingarket development and
commercialization and distribution of our produict&urope; and

< DCO Management, LLC, a Delaware limited lialyiltompany, which, as a successor by merger to KAiseninum &
Chemical Corporation, holds our remaining non-opegaassets and liabilities.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

This Item may contain statements which constittaesfard-looking statements” within the meaning loé fPrivate Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. See Iter“Business — Forward-Looking Statements” for cautioninformation with respect to such forward-loogin
statements. Such cautionary information shoulddaglras applying to all forward-looking statementsevever they appear in this Report.
Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of futuréop@ance and involve significant risks and uncenti@s. Actual results may vary
from those in forwar-looking statements as a result of a number obfadncluding those we discuss in this Item andwleere in this Report.
In addition to the factors discussed elsewherdiis Report, the risks described below are thosewleabelieve are material to our compa
The occurrence of any of the events discussed leglold significantly and adversely affect our besis, prospects, financial position, results
of operations and cash flows as well as the tragirige of our common stock.

We have experienced and continue to experiencedfiects of global economic uncertainty.

The global economy continues to experience a paifaohcertainty with wide-ranging effects, includin

disruption in global financial markets that legimes reduced the liquidity available to us, customers, our suppliers and the
purchasers of products that materially affect desfanour products, including commercial airlines;

a weakened global banking and financial systeah ¢reates ongoing risk and exposure to the impfawdn-performance by banks
committed to provide financing, hedging countengartinsurers, customers and suppliers;

volatility in commodity prices that can matelyampact the results of our hedging strategiesata near-term cash margin
requirements, reduce the value of our inventonmskeorrowing base under our revolving credit fagiind potentially result in
substantial non-cash charges as we adjust invemsdungs and mark-to-market our hedge positions;

our inability to achieve the level of growth, intatjon or other benefits anticipated from our stgat investment

fluctuations in our costs, including the coseokrgy, raw materials and freight, which we matybeoable to pass entirely through to
our customers;

substantial fluctuations in consumer spending ltlaae at times reduced the demand for some applicathat use our produc

destocking and restocking of inventory levels tigtoaut the supply chain for certain of our prodt
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e pressure to reduce defense spending, which tiedsacould affect demand for our products usedeifense applications, as the U.S.
and foreign governments are faced with competinigpnal priorities;

« the inability to predict with any certainty teaccess or failure of efforts to reduce governndefitit spending or the scope, nature or
effect of such efforts; and

« rapidly falling oil prices, which could impadi¢ demand of our products, especially in aeroshagestrength and automotive
applications.

We are unable to predict the impact, severity amatibn of these effects, any of which could haveaderial adverse impact on our
financial position, results of operations and cimlvs.

We operate in a highly competitive industry.

The fabricated products segment of the aluminumstrg is highly competitive. Competition in theesalf fabricated aluminum products is
based upon quality, availability, price, servicel aelivery performance. Many of our competitors substantially larger than we are and have
greater financial resources than we do and may btier strategic advantages, including more efiiciechnologies or lower or more stable
raw material costs. Our facilities are located wrtN America. To the extent that our competitorgehar develop production facilities located
outside North America, they may be able to prodiigglar products at a lower cost or sell those puts at a lower price either during periods
when the currency exchange rates favor foreign etitign or through a process of dumping those petslin violation of existing trade laws.
We may not be able to adequately reduce our cogigaes to compete with these products. Increasetpetition could cause a reduction in
our shipment volumes and product pricing or inceeasr expenditures, any one of which could haveaterial adverse effect on our financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.

We depend on a core group of significant customers.

In 2014 , our largest fabricated products custoyriResiance and Boeing, accounted for approxima2hb and 10% , respectively, of our
net sales in 2014 and our five largest custometstéat accounted for approximately 47% of our feétéd products net sales. If our existing
relationships with significant customers materiaéteriorate or are terminated and we are not sstdedn replacing lost business, our
financial position, results of operations and ciislvs could be materially and adversely affectedadidition, a prolonged or increasing
downturn in the business or financial position w§ af our significant customers could cause anyanaore of them to limit purchases to
contractual minimum volumes, seek relief from caotual minimums or breach those obligations, alllbich could materially and adversely
affect our financial position, results of operaand cash flows.

Our industry is very sensitive to foreign economiegulatory and political factors that may advergedffect our business.

We import primary aluminum from and manufactureriedted products used in, foreign countries. Fadiothe politically and
economically diverse countries in which we opemthave customers or suppliers, including inflatitmctuations in currency and interest
rates, availability of financial capital, competgifactors, civil unrest and labor problems, caffgct our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. Our financial positi@sults of operations and cash flows could alsacwersely affected by:

» acts of war or terrorism or the threat of war erddgsm

e government regulation in the countries in whichaperate, service customers or purchase raw ma,
« the implementation of controls on imports, exportgrices

» the adoption of new forms of taxation and du

* new forms of emission controls and tax, commdmigwn as “cap and trade”

» the imposition of currency restrictiol

» the nationalization or appropriation of rights ¢her assets; al

» trade disputes involving countries in which we @fpey service customers or purchase raw mate

The commercial aerospace industry is cyclical anoladhturns in the commercial aerospace industry, inding downturns resulting from
acts of terrorism, could adversely affect our buess.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue frpmoducts sold to the aerospace industry, whidtighkly cyclical. The aerospace industry
is historically driven by the demand for new comai@raircraft. Demand for commercial aircraft iflienced by trends in airline passenger
traffic and increasing global travel, normal reglacent of older aircraft, replacement
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of fuel inefficient aircraft, airline industry pritdibility, the state of the U.S. and global econesnihe effects of terrorism, the effects of
concerns regarding pandemics of infectious disandenumerous other factors, including safety careaith newly introduced aircraft, any of
which could result in a sharp decrease globallyaw commercial aircraft deliveries and order cdatiehs or deferrals by the major airlines.
Despite existing backlogs, financial uncertaintyhia industry, inadequate liquidity of certain i€l companies, terrorist acts or the increased
threat of terrorism may lead to reduced demanaéov aircraft that utilize our products, which coaldiversely affect our financial position,
results of operations and cash flows.

Reductionsin defense spending for aerospace and non-aerospad#ary applications could substantially reducesthand for our products.

Our products are used in a wide variety of militapplications, including military jets, armored i@bs and ordnance. The funding of U.S.
government programs is subject to congressionabgpiations. Many of the programs in which we papate may extend several years;
however, these programs are normally funded annu@hanges in military strategy and priorities nadfigct current and future programs. With
significant pressure to reduce defense spenditigeald.S. and foreign governments are faced withpsiimg national priorities, reductions in
defense spending could reduce the demand for adupts and could adversely affect our financialtpms results of operations and cash
flows.

Our customers may reduce their demand for aluminyroducts in favor of alternative materials.

Our fabricated aluminum products compete with potslnade from other materials, such as steeljuitaand composites, for various
applications. For instance, the commercial aeraspadustry has used and continues to evaluatauttigef use of alternative materials to
aluminum, such as titanium and composites, in cmeeduce the weight and increase the fuel efiyeof aircraft. Additionally, the
automotive industry, while motivated to reduce ethiveight with the use of aluminum, may reversteel for certain applications. The
willingness of customers to accept other mateiralieu of aluminum could adversely affect the dech&or our products, particularly our
Aero/HS products and Automotive Extrusions and guersely affect our financial position, result®perations and cash flows.

Downturns in the automotive and ground transportati industries could adversely affect our busine

The demand for our Automotive Extrusions and manguo general engineering and other industrial potslis dependent on the
production of cars, light trucks, SUVs and heaviydiehicles and trailers in North America. The amittive industry is highly cyclical, as new
vehicle demand is dependent on consumer spendahi died closely to the overall strength of thertidAmerican economy. Weak demand
for, or lower production of, new cars, light trucl&JVs and heavy duty vehicles and trailers, paldity by U.S. manufacturers, could
adversely affect the demand for our products ane kamaterial adverse effect on our financial pasjtresults of operations and cash flows.

Changes in consumer demand for particular motor veles could adversely affect our business.

Sensitivity to fuel prices and consumer preferemagsinfluence consumer demand for motor vehi¢lashave a higher content of the
aluminum Automotive Extrusions that we supply. Toes of business with respect to, or a lack of cemmial success of, one or more partic
vehicle models for which we are a significant sigaptould have an adverse impact on our finanaaltjon, results of operations and cash
flows.

We face pressure from our customers on pricing.

Cost cutting initiatives that many of our customiease adopted generally result in downward pressangricing. If we are unable to
generate sufficient production cost savings infthiere to offset price reductions, our financiakjion, results of operations and cash flows
could be adversely impacted.

Reductions in demand for our products may be moezeare than and may occur prior to reductions in dand for, our customer products.

Customers purchasing our fabricated aluminum prisd@specially those in the cyclical aerospacestgiugenerally require significant
lead time in the production of their own produdtserefore, demand for our products may increas® psidemand for our customepoducts
Conversely, demand for our products may decreasearasustomers anticipate a downturn in their respe businesses. As demand for our
customers’ products begins to soften, our custotygisally meet the reduced demand for their préslusing their own inventory without
replenishing that inventory, which results in auetibn in demand for our products that is greatantthe reduction in demand for their
products. Further, the reduction in demand forgroducts can be exacerbated if inventory levetsiatustomers exceed normal levels, due t
production delays of specific commercial airframed®ls, prior purchases by our customers of ourymtsdunder sales contracts at committed
volumes that exceed the actual needs of our customefor other reasons. This amplified reductrodemand for our
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products while our customers consume their invgrimmeet their business needs (destocking) magradly affect our financial position,
results of operations and cash flows.

Our business is subject to unplanned business intptions which may adversely affect our business.

The production of fabricated aluminum products aluiinum is subject to unplanned events such aesirps, fires, inclement weather,
natural disasters, accidents, labor disruptioassiportation interruptions and supply interruptidbperational interruptions at one or more of
our production facilities, particularly interruptie at our Trentwood facility where our productidrplate and sheet is concentrated, could ¢
substantial losses in our production capacity.iarrhore, because customers may be dependent aregldeliveries from us, customers that
have to reschedule their own production due todelivery delays may be able to pursue financiahtdaagainst us and we may incur costs to
correct such problems in addition to any liabiliégulting from such claims. Interruptions may disom our reputation among actual and
potential customers, potentially resulting in aslo$ business. To the extent these losses areometad by insurance, our financial position,
results of operations and cash flows may be adlyeasiected by such events.

Covenants and events of default in our debt instremts could limit our ability to undertake certaitypes of transactions and adversely aff
our liquidity.

Our revolving credit facility and the indenture goring our $225.0 million of 8.250% Senior Noteg @020 ("Senior Notes") contain a
number of restrictive covenants that impose opegadind financial restrictions on us and may linoit ability to engage in acts that may be in
our long-term best interest, including restrictiamsour ability to:

. incur additional indebtedness and guarantee iedeless;

. pay dividends or make other distributions or repase or redeem capital stock;
. prepay, redeem or repurchase certain debt;

. issue certain preferred stock or similar equétgwsities;

. make loans and investments;

. sell assets;

. incur liens;

. enter into transactions with affiliates;

. alter the businesses we conduct;

. enter into agreements restricting our subsidsagbility to pay dividends; and

. consolidate, merge or sell all or substantiallypbour assets.

In addition, restrictive covenants in our revolvicrgdit facility require us in certain circumstaad¢e maintain specified financial ratios and
satisfy other financial condition tests. Our akitid meet those financial ratios and tests carffeetad by events beyond our control and we
may be unable to meet them.

A breach of the covenants or restrictions undeirtenture governing the Senior Notes or underrewolving credit facility could result in
an event of default under the applicable indebtsslnBuch a default may allow the creditors to @raé& the related debt. A payment default o
an acceleration following an event of default unaigr revolving credit facility, our indenture founSenior Notes, or our indenture for our
4.5% Cash Convertible Senior Notes due April 1,220Tonvertible Notes") could trigger an event efallt under the other two indebtedness
obligations as well as any other debt to whichasstacceleration or cross-default provision applidsch could result in the principal of and
the accrued and unpaid interest on all such dedsirbing due and payable. In addition, an event &dueunder our revolving credit facility
could permit the lenders under our revolving créafiility to terminate all commitments to extendther credit under that facility. Furtherma
if we were unable to repay any amounts due andip@yeder our revolving credit facility, those lemsl could proceed against the collateral
granted to them to secure that indebtedness. lawbet our lenders or noteholders accelerate fheyrneent of our borrowings, we and our
subsidiaries may not have sufficient assets toyréipat indebtedness. As a result of these restristiwe may be:

. limited in how we conduct our business and gmwdécordance with our strategy;
. unable to raise additional debt or equity finagcio operate during general economic or businesstlirns; or

. unable to compete effectively or to take advaataignew business opportunities.
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In addition, our financial results, our level oflebtedness and our credit ratings could adversigtahe availability and terms of any
additional or replacement financing.

You should read our more detailed descriptionsusfrevolving credit facility and the indenture goviag our Senior Notes in our filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, akagghe documents themselves, for further inforomaéibout these covenants.

Restrictive covenants in our debt instruments cantaignificant qualifications and exceptions

While our revolving credit facility and the indentugoverning the Senior Notes place limitation®anability to pay dividends or make
other distributions, repurchase or redeem capiteksand make loans and investments, investorsateuaware that these limitations are
subject to significant qualifications and excepsiofhe aggregate amount of payments made in conegliwith these limitations could be
substantial.

As suggested above, you should read our more e@étddscriptions of our revolving credit facilitycathe indenture governing our Senior
Notes in our filings with the Securities and ExcpaiCommission, as well as the documents themsdbsefsirther information about the:
covenants.

Servicing our debt requires a significant amount odsh and we may not have sufficient cash flow fraur business to pay our det

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the fpilcof, to pay interest on or to refinance ourtdatligations, including the Senior Notes
and our Convertible Notes, depends on our finargatition and operating performance, which argesutio prevailing economic and
competitive conditions and to certain financialsimess, legislative, regulatory and other fact@wond our control. We may be unable to
maintain a level of cash flows from operating atithé sufficient to permit us to pay the principalemium, if any and interest on our
indebtedness, including the Senior Notes and CdibleNotes.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insigffit to fund our debt service obligations, we ddake substantial liquidity problems and
could be forced to reduce or delay investmentscapital expenditures or to dispose of materialtasseoperations, seek additional debt or
equity capital or restructure or refinance our st@eness, including the Senior Notes and Converhldtes. We may not be able to effect any
such alternative measures, if necessary, on conmigneasonable terms or at all and, even if sasfid, those alternative actions may not
allow us to meet our scheduled debt service olidigat Our revolving credit facility and the indergwgoverning the Senior Notes restrict our
ability to dispose of assets and use the proceedsthose dispositions and may also restrict oilityabo raise debt or certain forms of equity
capital to be used to repay other indebtedness wix@tomes due. We may not be able to consummsagt dispositions or to obtain proceeds
in an amount sufficient to meet any debt servideggabions then due.

If we cannot make scheduled payments on our debtyillbe in default and holders of the Senior Naaed Convertible Notes could
declare all outstanding principal and interestéalbe and payable, the lenders under our revobiiedit facility could terminate their
commitments to loan money, the lenders could foeehgainst the assets securing their borrowingisvarcould be forced into bankruptcy or
liquidation.

The holders of the Convertible Notes and our counparties under the convertible note hedge and warté&ransactions that we entered into
in connection with the issuance of our Convertibdotes may affect the market price of our commoncto

In connection with the issuance of our Convertitges, we entered into privately negotiated tratisas whereby we purchased cash-
settled call options ("Option Assets") relatingsttares of our common stock and sold to the sanmienopbunterparties net-share-settled
warrants relating to our common stock. The fingtlement period for the Convertible Notes and thpti@h Assets began on January 15, 2015
and continues for 50 consecutive trading days,regndin March 27, 2015. The 120 consecutive tradagsettiement period for the net-share-
settled warrants commences on July 1, 2015.

We understand that the option counterparties ardéir affiliates and holders of some of our Cotitsée Notes have entered into various
derivative transactions with respect to our comrstock in order to hedge their exposure to fluctregiand volatility in the price of our
common stock and that they may modify their hedagtipns by entering into or unwinding various #atives with respect to our common
stock and/or purchasing or selling our common stndecondary market transactions prior to the nitgtaf our Convertible Notes (and are
likely to do so during the settlement averagingqgzkrelated to a conversion of our Convertible 8dt& hese transactions and activities could
adversely affect the market price of our commouglsto
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We are subject to counterparty risk with respectte Option Assets purchased to hedge our Convégtitbotes.

The Option Assets purchased in connection witlighgance of our Convertible Notes are intendecdetlgh amounts payable upon the
conversion of the Convertible Notes, less the jpaicamount thereon. The counterparties for thaddpAssets are financial institutions or
affiliates of financial institutions and we are fadt to the risk that these counterparties mayueéa otherwise fail to perform, or may exerc
certain rights to terminate their obligations, untfe Option Assets transactions. Our exposurbdatedit risk of these counterparties is not
secured by any collateral. If one or more of thementerparties becomes subject to insolvency pdicege, we will become an unsecured
creditor in those proceedings with a claim equalupoexposure at the time under those transactidnssize of our exposure is determined by
the difference between the market price of our comistock and the exercise price of the Option Asdating the final settlement period,
which began on January 15, 2015 and continuesf@oBsecutive trading days, ending on March 2752@thile the Option Assets will settle
within approximately six weeks from the date obtRieport and the counterparties currently appebe wolvent, we can provide no assurance
as to the financial stability or viability of any the counterparties. A default or other failurgpiyform, or a termination of obligations, by one
of the counterparties could materially and advgraéfect our financial position and results of céms.

We are a holding company and depend on our subsidmfor cash to meet our obligations and pay ariyidends.

We are a holding company and conduct all of ouratens through our subsidiaries, certain of whdch not guarantors of our Senior Nc
or our other indebtedness. Accordingly, repayméoio indebtedness, including the Senior Notedgejgendent on the generation of cash flow
by our subsidiaries and their ability to make soash available to us, by dividend, debt repaymentiterwise. Unless they are guarantors of
the Senior Notes or other indebtedness, our swvsdido not have any obligation to pay amountsauhie Senior Notes or other
indebtedness or to make funds available for thgtqgae. Our subsidiaries may not be able to, or nwaye permitted to, make distributions to
enable us to make payments in respect of our iedebkss, including the Senior Notes. Each of ousididries is a distinct legal entity and,
under certain circumstances, legal and contractsaictions may limit our ability to obtain cagiorin our subsidiaries. While our revolving
credit facility and the indenture governing the iSefNotes limit the ability of our subsidiariesitcur consensual restrictions on their ability to
pay dividends or make other intercompany payments} these limitations are subject to qualifiaagiand exceptions. In the event that we dc
not receive distributions from our subsidiaries,ma&y be unable to make required principal and éstepayments on our indebtedness,
including the Senior Notes.

Our inability to generate sufficient cash flowsstitisfy our debt obligations, or to refinance autabtedness on commercially reasonable
terms or at all, would materially and adverseleaffour financial position and results of operadion

We may not be able to successfully implement owdarctivity enhancement and cost reduction initiagi.

As the economy and markets for our products monautih economic downturns or supply otherwise betgirexceed demand through
increases in capacity or reduced demand, it ieasingly important for us to be a low cost produédéthough we have undertaken and expect
to continue to undertake productivity enhancemadt@ost reduction initiatives to improve performanincluding deployment of company-
wide business improvement methodologies, such aKaiser Production System, which involves thegnéted application of continuous
improvement tools such as Lean Manufacturing, $pm@& and Total Productive Manufacturing, we carassture you that all of these
initiatives will be completed or beneficial to ustbat any estimated cost saving from such aatisitvill be fully realized. Even when we are
able to generate new efficiencies successfulljénshort- to medium-term, we may not be able tdicoa to reduce cost and increase
productivity over the long term.

Our business could be adversely affected by incesais the cost of aluminum.

The price of primary aluminum has historically besehbject to significant cyclical price fluctuatioasd the timing of changes in the market
price of aluminum is largely unpredictable. Althdugur pricing of fabricated aluminum products isgelly intended to pass the risk of price
fluctuations on to our customers, we may not be &bpass on the entire cost of increases to aiomers and there can be a potential time Iz
between increases in costs for aluminum and tha mdien we can implement a corresponding incraapeiée to our customers. As a result,
we may be exposed to fluctuations in the costaliaminum since, during the time lag, we may haviedar the additional cost increase. If tt
events were to occur, they could have a materiadrse effect on our financial position, result®pérations and cash flows. In addition,
increases in aluminum costs may cause some ofustiomers to substitute other materials for our petelover time, adversely affecting our
financial position, results of operations and ciislvs due to a decrease in the sales of fabricaligmhinum products.

Legislation on derivative transactions could hava adverse impact on our ability to hedge risks agated with our business and on the c
of our hedging activities.
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We use over-the-counter (“OTC") derivatives product hedge our risks relating to primary aluminuices, energy prices and foreign
currency. Recent legislation has been adoptecctease the regulatory oversight of the OTC deneatimarkets and impose restrictions on
certain derivative transactions, which could aftbet use of derivatives in hedging transactioneedfilations subject us to additional capital or
margin requirements or other restrictions on cadlittg and commaodity positions, they could havedwreese effect on our ability to hedge ri
associated with our business or on the cost ohedging activities.

Our hedging programs may limit the income and cafétws we would otherwise expect to receive if owdlging program were not in place
and may otherwise affect our business.

From time to time in the ordinary course of bus@mege enter into hedging transactions to limit @xposure to price risks relating to
primary aluminum prices, energy prices and foragmency. To the extent that market prices or enghaates at the expiration of these
hedging transactions would have been more favotahls than the fixed prices or rates establishetthdése hedging transactions, our income
and cash flows will be lower than they otherwisauldchave been. Additionally, to the extent thatqary aluminum prices, energy prices or
foreign currency exchange rates deviate matergadty adversely from fixed, floor or ceiling pricasrates established by outstanding hedging
transactions, we fail to satisfy certain covenaot@n event of default occurs under the termé&@funderlying documents, we could incur
margin calls that could adversely impact our lidyidnd result in a material adverse effect onfmancial position, results of operations and
cash flows. Conversely, we are exposed to riskscésted with the credit worthiness of our hedgingrterparties. The credit worthiness of
hedging counterparties is inherently difficult &sass and can change quickly and dramatically. pdéoformance by a counterparty could have
a material adverse effect on our financial posijtr@sults of operations and cash flows.

Our failure to maintain satisfactory labor relation could adversely affect our business.

A significant number of our employees are represgbly labor unions under labor contracts with vagydurations and expiration dates,
including labor contracts with the United Steelp@aand Forestry, Rubber, Manufacturing, Energliedlindustrial and Service Workers
International Union, AFL-CIO, CLC (“USW?"), coveringeven of our manufacturing locations. Employepsesented by labor unions under
labor contracts represented approximately 63% okmployees at December 31, 2014 . In January 20&5vere successful in renegotiating
the terms of a labor contract with the USW covegngployees at our manufacturing locations in New@tkio and Trentwood and extending
the term of such contract through September 2080tr@cts at seven other manufacturing locationgrexp 2015 through 2017. We may not
be able to renegotiate or negotiate these or duar ddbor contracts on satisfactory terms. As phainy negotiation, we may reach agreements
with respect to future wages and benefits thatccmaterially and adversely affect our future finahposition, results of operations and cash
flows. In addition, negotiations could divert maaatgent attention or result in union-initiated wodtians, including strikes or work stoppages,
that could have a material adverse effect on maritial position, results of operations and caslivsl Moreover, the existence of labor
agreements may not prevent such union-initiatedkaotions.

Our participation in multi-employer union pensionlans may have a material adverse effect on our fiwéal performance.

We are required to make contributions to multi-emgpl pension plans in amounts established undiatiole bargaining agreements.
Pension expense for these plans is recognizednaistedions are funded. Benefits generally are Basea fixed amount for each year of
service. Based on the most recent information albbalto us, we believe a number of these multieygslplans are underfunded. As a result,
we expect that contributions to these plans masease. Additionally, the benefit levels and relateths will be issues in the negotiation of
collective bargaining agreements. Under current Eawemployer that withdraws or partially withdrafn@em a multi-employer pension plan
may incur withdrawal liability to the plan, whickpresents the portion of the plan’s underfundirag i allocable to the withdrawing employer
under very complex actuarial and allocation ruld® failure of a withdrawing employer to fund thedsigations can impact remaining
employers. The amount of any increase or decr@aserirequired contributions to these multi-emplgyension plans will depend upon the
outcome of collective bargaining, actions takerrhgtees who manage the plans and other employerpuarticipate in the plans, government
regulations and the actual return on assets hédtlteiplans, among other factors.

Environmental compliance, clean up and damage claimay decrease our cash flow and adversely affecttusiness

We are subject to numerous environmental laws agdlations with respect to, among other thingsaad water emissions and discharges
the generation, storage, treatment, transportatiohdisposal of solid and hazardous waste; ancetbase of hazardous or toxic substances,
pollutants and contaminants into the environmenm@liance with these environmental laws is and edgltinue to be costly.

Our continuing operations and certain of our forimgerations have subjected and may in the futusgestius to fines, penalties and
expenses for alleged breaches of environmental dandso obligations to perform investigations @atl up of the environment. We may also
be subject to claims from governmental authoritiethird parties related to alleged injuries to
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the environment, human health or natural resouinekiding claims with respect to waste dispost@ssithe clean up of sites currently or
formerly used by us or exposure of individuals &zdrdous materials. Any investigation, clean-uptber remediation costs, fines or penalties
or costs to resolve third-party claims, may be ificgemt and could have a material adverse effeabwnfinancial position, results of operations
and cash flows.

We have accrued and will accrue for costs reldtintpe above matters that are reasonably expeztee incurred based on available
information. However, it is possible that actuastsomay differ, perhaps significantly, from the amis expected or accrued. Similarly, the
timing of those expenditures may occur faster #haticipated. In addition, new laws or regulationglmanges to existing laws and regulations
may be enacted, including government mandated dniétives and limitations on carbon emissiomgttincrease the cost or complexity of
compliance. Difference in actual costs, the timifiggayments for previously accrued costs and thgaghof new or amended laws and
regulations may have a material adverse effectunrimancial position, results of operations andircfiows.

Governmental regulation relating to greenhouse gamissions may subject us to significant new costd aestrictions on our operations

Laws enacted by Congress, state governments aigeobf the Environmental Protection Agency coelgulate greenhouse gas emissions
through a cap-and-trade system under which emittetdd be required to buy allowances to offset siniss of greenhouse gas. In addition,
several states, including states where we have faetuning plants, are considering various greenb@as registration and reduction progre
Certain of our manufacturing plants use signifiamibunts of energy, including electricity and nat@as and certain of our plants emit
amounts of greenhouse gas above certain minimueshbtds that are likely to be imposed by existir@gppsals. Greenhouse gas regulation
could increase the price of the electricity we ase, increase costs for our use of natural gésnially restrict access to or the use of natura
gas, require us to purchase allowances to offsebwn emissions or result in an overall increasetncosts of raw materials, any one of wt
could significantly increase our costs, reduceammpetitiveness in a global economy or otherwisgatieely affect our business, operations ol
financial results. It is too early to predict howisting or future regulation will affect our bussg operations or financial results.

Our investment and other expansion projects may hetcompleted or start up as scheduled.

Our ability to complete our investment and expamgimjects and the timing and costs of doing se sabject to various risks associated
with all major construction projects, many of white beyond our control, including technical or heedcal problems, economic conditions
and permitting. Additionally, the start up of optgwas after such projects have been completed eamoimplicated and costly. If we are unable
to fully complete these projects, if the actualtsdsr these projects exceed our expectationd,tbeistart up phase after completion is more
complicated than anticipated, our financial positigesults of operations and cash flows could beely affected.

We may be subject to risks relating to our infornt technology systems.

We rely on information technology systems to precésnsmit and store electronic information anchage and operate our business. A
breach in cyber security could expose us and ostomers and suppliers to risks of misuse of contideinformation, manipulation and
destruction of data, production downtimes and dpera disruptions, which in turn could adverselfeaf our reputation, competitive position,
business or results of operations. The costs rktateyber or other security threats or disruptioras/ not be fully insured or indemnified by
other means.

In addition, from time to time we may replace amd/pgrade our current information technology systenese activities subject us to
inherent costs and risks associated with replaaimjupdating these systems, including potentialigton of our internal control structure,
substantial capital expenditures, demands on mamagfetime and other risks of delays or difficultivgransitioning to new systems or of
integrating new systems into our current systens.gpstems implementations and upgrades may nalt iegroductivity improvements at tl
levels anticipated, or at all. In addition, the Iempentation of new technology systems may causamtisns in our business operations. Such
disruption and any other information technologytegsdisruptions and our ability to mitigate thossraptions, if not anticipated and
appropriately mitigated, could have a material aslweffect on us.

We may not be able to utilize all of our net operaf loss carryforwards.

We have net operating loss carryforwards and atiggificant U.S. tax attributes that we believe l[daffset otherwise taxable income in
the United States. The net operating loss carndota available in any year to offset our net tagcattome will be reduced following a more
than 50% change in ownership during any periodéof@secutive months (an “ownership change”) asrdehed under the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986 (the “Code”). To mitigate the riskamf ownership change occurring, through July 206 certificate of incorporation prohibits
and voids certain transfers of our common stoabriter
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to reduce the risk that an ownership change welb@dize our net operating loss carryforwards. BeedJ.S. tax law limits the time during
which carryforwards may be applied against futases, we may not be able to take full advantagbeotarryforwards for federal income tax
purposes. In addition, federal and state tax lagvsaming to net operating loss carryforwards mayhanged from time to time such that the
net operating loss carryforwards may be reducediminated. If the net operating loss carryforwalbdsome unavailable to us or are fully
utilized, our future income will not be shieldedrr federal and state income taxation and the fottusrwise available for general corporate
purposes would be reduced.

We could engage in or approve transactions involyiour common shares that inadvertently impair theaiof our federal income tax
attributes.

Section 382 of the Code affects our ability to asefederal income tax attributes, including our eygerating loss carryforwards, following
a more than 50% change in ownership during anypgdef 36 consecutive months, an ownership charggdetermined under the Code. Cer
transactions may be included in the calculatioarobwnership change, including transactions innghour repurchase or issuance of our
common shares. When we engage in or approve amgairion involving our common shares that may blui@ed in the calculation of an
ownership change, our practice is to first perfoie calculations necessary to confirm that ouritgtib use our federal income tax attributes
will not be affected. These calculations are compled reflect certain necessary assumptions. Aauoglyd it is possible that we could approve
or engage in a transaction involving our commorrehthat causes an ownership change and inadvgiirepgirs the use of our federal inco
tax attributes.

Transfer restrictions and other factors could hindéhe market for our common stock.

In order to reduce the risk that an ownership chamguld jeopardize the preservation of our U.Sefatlincome tax attributes, including
operating loss carryforwards, for purposes of ®@eti382 and 383 of the Code, our certificate obiiporation includes restrictions through .
2016 on transfers involving 5% ownership. Thesedier restrictions may make our stock less attradt large institutional holders,
discourage potential acquirers from attemptingt@tover our company, limit the price that investmight be willing to pay for shares of our
common stock and otherwise hinder the market forcommon stock.

Our certificate of incorporation includes transferestrictions that may void transactions in our conom stock effected by 5% stockholders.

Our certificate of incorporation restricts the ts8ar of our equity securities if either (1) thenséeror holds 5% or more of the fair market
value of all of our issued and outstanding equiigusities or (2) as a result of the transfer, eitdrey person would become such a 5%
stockholder or the percentage stock ownership piach 5% stockholder would be increased. Thedgatiens are subject to exceptions set
forth in our certificate of incorporation and temate in July 2016. Any transfer that violates thestrictions is void and will be unwound as
provided in our certificate of incorporation.

We could engage in or approve transactions involyiour common shares that adversely affect signifitatockholders.

Under the transfer restrictions in our certificaféencorporation that extend through July 2016, 84r stockholders are, in effect, requirec
seek the approval of, or a determination by, owsrB®f Directors before they engage in transactionslving our common stock. We could
engage in or approve transactions involving ourmam stock that limit our ability to approve futuransactions involving our common stock
by our 5% stockholders in accordance with the feangstrictions in our certificate of incorporatiwithout impairing the use of our federal
income tax attributes. In addition, we could engager approve transactions involving our commartktthat cause stockholders owning less
than 5% to become 5% stockholders, resulting isatsiockholders’ having to seek the approval of determination by, our Board of
Directors under our certificate of incorporatiorfdre they could engage in future transactions ingl our common stock. For example, share
repurchases reduce the number of our common sbatgtsnding and could cause a stockholder holdisg than 5% to become a 5%
stockholder even though it has not acquired anytiaddl shares.
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The ownership of our stock is concentrated, witlieav owners who may, individually or collectivelyxegt significant influence over us.

Certain investment funds, advisers and organizatiovmn greater than 5% of our outstanding commotksis of December 31, 2014 . As a
result, any of them could have significant influerwer matters requiring stockholder approval,udiig the composition of our Board of
Directors. Further, to the extent that the subgthstockholders were to act in concert, they cqdtentially control any action taken by our
stockholders. This concentration of ownership ca@lidd facilitate or hinder proxy contests, tendézrs, open market purchase programs,
mergers or other purchases of our common stoclntigiit otherwise give stockholders the opportutatyealize a premium over the then
prevailing market price of our common stock or eatee market price of our common stock to dechfie.cannot assure you that the interests
of our major stockholders will not conflict with pinterests or the interests of our other investors

Payment of dividends may not continue in the futusmed our payment of dividends and stock repurchaaes subject to restrictior

Our Board of Directors has declared a cash dividendach quarter since the summer of 2007. Integidiour Board of Directors has
authorized a stock repurchase program. The futeckachtion and payment of dividends and the ongpimghase of our shares, if any, will be
at the discretion of the Board of Directors and dépend on a number of factors, including ourriitial and operating results, financial
position and anticipated cash requirements. Wegoanno assurance that dividends will be declaretiaid or that dividends will not be
reduced in the future. Additionally, our revolvingedit facility and the indenture for our SeniortB®impose limitations on our ability to pay
dividends and repurchase our common shares.

Our annual variable payment obligations to two voltary employees beneficiary associations ("VEBAs)e linked with our profitability,
which means that not all of our earnings will be aWvable to our stockholders.

We are obligated to make annual payments to two AdE@lculated in part on our profitability. Our @gtion to the VEBA that provides
benefits for eligible retirees represented by deni@ions and their surviving spouse and eligildpehdents terminates on September 30, 201
and is capped at $17.1 million per year. Our oliogato the VEBA that provides benefits for certather eligible retirees, their surviving
spouse and eligible dependents has no expressteiom date and is capped at $2.9 million per y&ara result of these variable payment
obligations, our cash flows may be reduced andali@f our earnings will be available to our stoolders.

The USW has director nomination rights through whidt may influence us and USW interests may notgaiwith our interests or the
interests of our stockholders, debt holders andetlstakeholders.

Pursuant to agreements between us and the USW3Wéhas the right to nominate candidates whicalg€ted, would constitute 40% of
our Board of Directors through December 31, 202@tdch time the USW is required to cause any direnominated by the USW to submit
his or her resignation to our Board of Directorhjain submission our Board of Directors may accepeject in its discretion. As a result, the
directors nominated by the USW have a significante in the decisions of our Board of Directorgsipossible that the USW may seek to
extend the term of the agreement and its righbtainate board members beyond 2020.

Delaware law and our governing documents may impedeliscourage a takeover, which could adverselfeaf the value of our commo
stock.

Provisions of Delaware law and our certificaterafdrporation and bylaws may discourage a changerdfol of our company or deter
tender offers for our common stock. We are curyesiibject to anti-takeover provisions under Dela@naw. These anti-takeover provisions
impose various impediments to the ability of adiparty to acquire control of us. Additionally, prsions of our certificate of incorporation &
bylaws impose various procedural and other requeres) which could make it more difficult for stocktiers to effect certain corporate actic
For example, our certificate of incorporation auihes our Board of Directors to determine the gipreferences and privileges and restric
of unissued shares of preferred stock without atg @r action by our stockholders. As a result,Board of Directors can authorize and issue
shares of preferred stock with voting or conversights that could adversely affect the voting tivev rights of holders of common stock. Our
certificate of incorporation also divides our BoaifDirectors into three classes of directors wlivs for staggered terms. A significant effect
of a classified Board of Directors may be to déiestile takeover attempts because an acquirer expdrience delays in replacing a majority
of directors. Moreover, stockholders are not peedito call a special meeting. Through July 2018,certificate of incorporation restricts
certain transactions in our common stock invola8g stockholders or parties who would become 5%kstaiders as a result of the transact
The general effect of these transfer restrictiariich were put in place to reduce the risk thabanership change would jeopardize the
preservation of our U.S. federal income tax attelsuincluding net operating loss carryforwards$piensure that a change in ownership of t
than
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45% of our outstanding common stock cannot occaninthree-year period without the consent of co@r8 of Directors. These rights and
provisions may have the effect of delaying or d#tigra change of control of our company and maytlihe price that investors might be
willing to pay in the future for shares of our commstock.

In addition to the risks discussed above, as a jlpltraded U.S. manufacturing company with custorseand suppliers outside the Unite
States, we are subject to a variety of other ris

In addition to the risks discussed above, as aigylttaded U.S. manufacturing company with custmsrend suppliers outside the United
States we are subject to a variety of other rissh of which could have a material adverse effeaiur financial position, results of operati
or cash flows, or the price of our comment stodkede risks include, among others, those associated

The volatility of costs of fuel, principally naturgas and utility services, principally electrigitysed by production facilitie

Changes in economic factors, including inflateord fluctuations in foreign currency exchangegated interest rates, in the countries
in which operations exists, customers are servicagdw materials are purchased;

The ability to attract and retain key managemedtather personnel and develop effective succegsans
Compliance with a wide variety of health and safatys and regulations and changes to such lawsegndiations

Disputes, legal proceedings, or investigatievisgther meritorious or not, with respect to a \grad matters, including matters related
to personal injury, employees, taxes, contractspaaduct liability;

Pursuing growth through acquisitions, includthg ability to identify acceptable acquisition calades, finance and consummate
acquisitions on favorable terms and successfutBgirate acquired assets or businesses;

Protection of intellectual property, includingtpnts, trademarks, trade secrets and copyrights, ihfringement by others and the
potential defense of claims, whether meritoriousat; alleging the unauthorized use of the intéllatproperty of others;

Taxation by multiple jurisdictions and the impa€sach taxation on effective tax rate and the amofitaxes paic
Compliance with Section 404 of the Sarba@®adey Act of 2002, including the potential impadtcompliance failures; ai

The failure to meet the expectations of investmiduding as a result of factors beyond the cortf@n individual compan

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

Information regarding the location, size and owhigr®f our principal production facilities as of @amber 31, 2014 is below:

Location Square footage Owned or Leased
Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) 115,00( Owned/Leased
Chandler, Arizona (Tube) 93,00( Owned/Leased
Florence, Alabama 252,00( Owned
Jackson, Tennessee 310,00( Owned
Kalamazoo, Michigan 465,00( Leased
London, Ontario (Canada) 265,00( Owned
Los Angeles, California 183,00( Owned
Newark, Ohio 1,293,001 Owned
Richland, Washington 45,00( Leased
Richmond (Bellwood), Virginia 430,00( Owned
Sherman, Texas 313,00( Owned
Spokane (Trentwood), Washington 2,866,001 Owned/Leased
Total 6,630,001

! The Chandler, Arizona (Extrusion) facility is sutti¢o a land lease with a lease term that expit@9R3, subject to certain extension ric
held by us. The facility is owned by us and is subject to any leases.

2 The Chandler, Arizona (Tube) facility is subjectttand lease with a lease term that expires ir8 26@bject to certain extension rights t
by us. The facility is owned by us and is not sabfe any leases.

3 The Kalamazoo, Michigan facility is subject to ade with a 2033 expiration dz
4 The Richland, Washington facility is subject teeade that expires in 2016, subject to certain sidarrights held by u

® The Spokane, Washington facility consists of 2,8@6,square feet, which is owned by us, and 121sg0@re feet, which is subject to a
lease with a 2015 expiration date and a renewamgubject to certain terms and conditions.

Plants and equipment and other facilities are geéilyan good condition and suitable for their intkera uses. For additional information
regarding our production facilities see the tabider Item 1. Business "Business Operations - FateicProducts Segment - Types of
Manufacturing Processes Employed" of this Report.

Our corporate headquarters, located in FoothilldRagalifornia, consists of 28,000 square feetetddnber 31, 2014 and is subject to a
lease that expires in 2019.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
Market Information
Our outstanding common stock is traded on the Np&labal Select Market under the ticker symbol “KAL

The following table sets forth the high and lowesaprices of our common stock for each quarterioddor fiscal years 2014 and 2013 :

High Low

Fiscal 2014

First quarter $ 73.3: % 66.7¢

Second quarter $ 7427 $ 66.4:

Third quarter $ 81.6: % 71.4¢

Fourth quarter $ 76.5: $ 68.2¢
Fiscal 2013

First quarter $ 65.1¢ $ 59.5(

Second quarter $ 67.0¢ $ 57.61

Third quarter $ 72.61 % 61.7¢

Fourth quarter $ 7347 % 62.6(

Holders
As of February 16, 2015 , there were approximadly holders of record of our common stock.
Dividends

We declare and pay regular quarterly cash dividémd®lders of our common stock, including holdefrsestricted stock. We also pay
quarterly dividend equivalents to the holders ofaia restricted stock units and to the holderparformance shares granted prior to 2014 witt
respect to the target number of underlying shafesmmon stock (constituting approximately one-fudilthe maximum payout). Holders of
performance shares granted in 2014 are not paiddeayly dividend equivalent, but instead are Ettito receive, in connection with the
issuance of underlying shares of common stockspeet of performance shares that ultimately vesheatime payment equal to the dividends
such holder would have received if the number ohsshares of common stock so issued had been heddard by such holder from the date
of grant of such performance shares through the afatuch issuance. Total cash dividends (and einddequivalents) paid in 2014 , 2013 and
2012 were $1.40 per share (or $25.4 million ), 8&r share (or $23.0 million ) and $1.00 per sljar&19.6 million ), respectively.

On January 13, 2015, we announced that our Bddpirectors approved the declaration of a quartedgh dividend of $ 0.40er commoil
share, or $7.1 million (including dividend equivat&), which was paid on February 13, 2015 to stolddrs of record at the close of business
on January 23, 2015 .

The future declaration and payment of dividendany, will be at the discretion of our Board of &itors and will depend on a number of
factors, including our financial and operating fesuinancial position and anticipated cash reguients and contractual restrictions under our
revolving credit facility, the indenture for our280% Senior Notes due 2020, or other indebtednegway incur in the future. We can give no
assurance that dividends will be declared and ipatide future. See Note 3 of Notes to Consolid&ti@adncial Statements in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Repordditional information about restrictions onidend payments.

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative totareholder return on our common stock with: (i) Fhessell 200@ index, (i) the S&P
SmallCap 60F index and (iii) the S&P SmallCap 660 aterials index. We are a component of each ofetledices. The graph assumes (i) ar
initial investment of $100 as of December 31, 2866 (ii) reinvestment of all dividends. The perfamme graph is not necessarily indicative o
the future performance of our stock price.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, the S&P Smallcap 600 Index,
the Russell 2000% Index, and the S&P 600€ Materials Index

$250 -

$200 -

$150 -

$100 &

$50 -

$0 -
12/09 12110 1211 12112 12113 12114
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*$100 invested on 12/31/09 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright© 2015 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All ights reserved.
Copyright® 2015 Russell Investment Group. All rights reserved.

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information regardiogr repurchases of our common shares during theegquended December 31, 2014 :

Stock Repurchase Plan

Maximum Dollar

Value of Shares that
May Yet Be Purchasec

Total Number of Average Price per Under the Programs

Shares Purchased Share (millions) *
October 1, 2014 - October 31, 2014 75,611 $ 7174 $ 83.c
November 1, 2014 - November 30, 2014 64,08¢ 7181 $ 78.7
December 1, 2014 - December 31, 2014 82,94 7198 $ 72.8
Total 222,64. % 71.8¢ N/A

Y In June 2008, our Board of Directors authorizedrépirchase of up to $75 million of our common ktdauring 2013, our Board of
Directors twice authorized additional funds undes program, with $75.0 million authorized in Ap2i013 and another $75.0 million
authorized in December 2013. Repurchase transaatidhoccur at such times and prices as managedeshs appropriate and will be

funded with our excess liquidity after giving cashesiation to internal and
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external growth opportunities and future cash floRspurchases may be in open-market transactioinspoivately negotiated transactions
and the program may be modified or terminated byBmard of Directors at any time.

Under our equity and performance incentive plantigipants may elect to have us withhold commonre$io satisfy minimum statutory
tax withholding obligations arising from the recd@gm of income and the vesting of restricted staelstricted stock units and performance
shares. When we withhold these shares, we arereeljai remit to the appropriate taxing authorittes market price of the shares withheld by
us on the date of withholding. The withholding ofrtmon shares by us could be deemed a purchaseto€smmon shares. When shares are
withheld, all such shares are canceled by us oappécable vesting dates or dates on which inctoribe employees is recognized and the
number of shares withheld is determined based @wldsing price per common share as reported oN#éisdaq Global Select Market on such
dates. During the quarter ended December 31, 2@#®4did not withhold any shares of common stocgatisfy employee tax withholding
obligations.

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table represents our selected finaintata. The table should be read in conjunctich Wwem 7. “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations” and Item 8. “Financial Statements amppfmentary Data” of this Report.

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(In millions of dollars, except shipments, averageealized sales price and per share amounts)

Net sales $ 1,356.. $ 1,297 $ 1,360.. $ 1,301 $ 1,079..
Net income $ 716 $ 104.¢ % 85.6 % 251 $ 12.C
Net income per share - Basic $ 40z $ 55¢ $ 4.4¢ $ 132 $ 0.61
Net income per share - Diluted $ 3.8¢ % 54  $ 448 % 1.3z $ 0.61

Shipments (mm Ibs) 588.¢ 563.7 585.¢ 560.¢ 514.¢

Average realized sales price (per Ib) $ 23C $ 23C $ 232 % 232 % 2.1C
Cash dividends declared per common share  $ 1.4C $ 1.2 $ 1.0 $ 0.9¢ % 0.9¢
Capital expenditures $ 59.2 % 702 $ 441 $ 32t % 38.¢
Depreciation and amortization expense $ 311 % 281 $ 26.5 % 252 % 19.¢
December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(In millions of dollars)

Total assets $ 1,743 $ 1,770.¢ $ 1,752 $ 1,320.¢ $ 1,318.¢
Cash and short-term investments $ 2917 % 299.C % 3584 % 49€ % 135.¢
Long-term borrowings (at face value), includin

amounts due within one year $ 400.C $ 400.C $ 400.C $ 179.71 $ 188.(

In addition to the operational results discusseldeim 7. “Management’s Discussion and AnalysisiofRcial Condition and Results of
Operations,” significant items that impacted theficial results included, but were not limitedth® following:

2014 :

We repurchased 633,230 shares of our commoR atdbe weighted average price per share of $7018ié total cost 0$44.9 million
was recorded as Treasury stock.

*  We recorded $23.7 millioof net periodic pension benefit income relatinght®e VEBAS

* We recorded a variable cash contribution payabtee VEBAs of $13.7 million with respect to cadlar year 2014 which will be pai
in the first quarter of 2015 .

*  We recorded $6.8 million of non-cash, pre-taxealized mark-tanarket losses on our derivative instrume
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2013:

 We reached a settlement with the Canada Revigercy Competent Authority for the 1998-2004 taangeand as a result, booked a
cash tax benefit of $7.6 million, of which $6.1 lwih had been received as of December 31, 201&ddlition, we signed an advance
pricing agreement with the Canada Revenue Ager€RA"), which resulted in an additional cash tax dférof $2.6 million .

*  We recorded $3.9 million of non-cash, pre-taxealized mark-tanarket gains on our derivative instrume

e We repurchased 1,232,077 shares of our comnook st the weighted average price per share of3864 he total cost of $79.3
million was recorded as Treasury stock.

*  We recorded $22.5 million of net periodic pensieméfit income relating to the VEB/

* We recorded a variable cash contribution payabtee VEBAs of $16.0 million with respect to cadlar year 2013, which was paid in
the first quarter of 2014.

2012:

*  Weissued $225.0 million principal amount of2 Senior Notes due 2020, resulting in proceed@2®8.4 million net of $6.6
million of initial transaction fees.

*  We recorded $16.0 million of non-cash, pre-taxealized mark-tonarket gains on our derivative instrume

» Our Board of Directors released stock trangdstrictions on 2,202,495 shares of our common stegied by the VEBA that provides
benefits for eligible retirees represented by demni@ions and their surviving spouse and eligil@pehdents, at a weighted-average
price of $49.31 per share.

* We recorded $11.9 million of net periodic pensienéfit income relating to the VEB/

* We recorded a variable cash contribution paytbtbe VEBAs of $20.0 million with respect to cadlar year 2012, which was paid in
the first quarter of 2013.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

This Report contains statements which constitutewfrd-looking statements” within the meaning of Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. These statements appear thouighis Report and can be identified by the udemfard-looking terminology such as
“believes,” “expects,” “may,” “estimates,” “will,” “should,” “plans” or “anticipates” or the negativeof the foregoing or other variations of
comparable terminology, or by discussions of styatdReaders are cautioned that any such forwardtiitop statements are not guarantees of
future performance and involve significant riskelamcertainties and that actual results may vapnirthose in the forwa-looking statements
as a result of various factors. These factors ideluthe effectiveness of management’s strategig@slacisions; general economic and busines:
conditions, including cyclicality and other conditis in the aerospace, automotive and other end ebaplications we serve; developments il
technology; new or modified statutory or regulatoeguirements; and changing prices and market dimk. This Item and Item 1A. “Risk
Factors” each identify other factors that could cause acteallts to vary. No assurance can be given theddtare all of the factors that coi
cause actual results to vary materially from thenfard-looking statements.

Management'’s discussion and analysis of finan@ation and results of operations (“MD&A”) is dgsied to provide a reader of our
financial statements with a narrative from the pecsive of our management on our financial condijtr@sults of operations, liquidity and
certain other factors that may affect our futurgutes. Our MD&A is presented in the following sects:

*  Overview

e Management Review of 20hd Outlook for the Futur

» Results of Operatior

» Certain Information Related to Our Significant TAttributes

» Liquidity and Capital Resourct

»  Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitmemd OffBalance Sheet and Other Arrangems
»  Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies;

* New Accounting Pronouncemet

23




Our MD&A should be read in conjunction with the solidated financial statements and related noaded in Iltem 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Report.

In the discussion of operating results below, @eiitams are referred to as non-run-rate items.pgeoposes of such discussion, non-rate
items are items that, while they may recur fromiqekto-period, (i) are particularly material to v#s; (ii) affect costs primarily as a result of
external market factors; and (iii) may not recufuture periods if the same level of underlyingfpemance were to occur. Non-run-rate items
are part of our business and operating environimeinare worthy of being highlighted for the benefireaders of our financial statements. Ou
intent is to allow users of the financial statersentconsider our results both in light of and safedy from items such as unrealized mark-to-
market gains or losses on derivatives relateduitidations in underlying metal prices, energy [wi@ir stock price and currency exchange
rates. For a reconciliation of operating incomel@ding non-run-rate items to operating income, “8&sults of OperationsSegment and
Business Unit Informatio” below.

We also provide information regarding value addadnue. Value added revenue represents net ssdethéehedged cost of alloyed metal.
A fundamental part of our business model is togait the impact of aluminum price volatility thrdugricing policies that allow us to pass
metal cost fluctuations through to our customes@ahedging program that addresses metal pricesex@dén circumstances in which we are
unable to pass metal cost fluctuations throughutocastomers due to firm-price customer sales ageets that specify the underlying metal
price plus a conversion price. As a result of aigipg policies and hedging program, fluctuationsinderlying metal price do not directly
impact our profitability. Accordingly, value addeglvenue (including average realized value addeeiaw, third party value added revenue
value added revenue of the product categories ofabricated Products segment) is worthy of beigyllyhted for the benefit of users of our
financial statements. Our intent is to allow us#rthe financial statements to consider our nessalformation both with and without the metal
cost component thereof. For a reconciliation ofieaddded revenue to net sales, see “Results ob@pes -Segment and Business Unit
Information” below.

Overview

We are a leading North American manufacturer ofidabricated specialty aluminum products for thidi@ing end market applications:
aerospace and high strength products ("Aero/HSymtst)); extrusions for automotive applications (t&motive Extrusions"); general
engineering products ("GE products"); and otheugtdal products ("Other products"). We operateltedocused production facilities in No
America to serve a global customer base. We hageparating segment, Fabricated Products. See tlRegWperations Segment and
Business Unit Informatio” below.

Our highly engineered products are manufactureddet demanding requirements of aerospace/highgstresutomotive, general
engineering and other industrial end market apfitina. We have focused our business on select amkietapplications where we believe we
have sustainable competitive advantages and opptiesifor long-term profitable growth. We belietrat we differentiate ourselves witBés
in Class” customer satisfaction and a broad prodffeting, including our KaiserSeletproduct line. Our KaiserSeletproducts are
manufactured to deliver enhanced product charatiesiwith improved consistency, which resultsuntsbenefits as better performance, lowe
waste and, in many cases, lower cost for our custem

In the commercial aerospace sector, we believegibaal economic growth and development will conério drive growth in airline
passenger miles. In addition, trends such as lomgees, larger payloads and focus on fuel efficyemave increased the demand for new and
larger aircraft. We believe the strength of comna@erospace demand is demonstrated by the existire-year backlog for the two primary
manufacturers of commercial aircraft. Further, vgédve that the long-term demand drivers, includingwing build rates, larger airframes and
continued conversion of parts to monolithic degighere aluminum plate is heavily machined to foha desired part from a single piece of
metal as opposed to using aluminum sheet, extreisioforgings that are affixed to one another usingts, bolts or welds) throughout the
industry will continue to increase demand for oighhstrength aerospace plate. We expect aerospateedemand to grow at a pace higher -
our other Aero/HS products (including sheet, ex@didhapes, cold finish rod and bar and tube) ag sdrhe applications using these other
Aero/HS products continue to be converted to mdmiclidesign (using plate in lieu of these otherdoiets). Additionally, our Aero/HS produ
other than plate tend to be used to a greater dagrpplications that have a lower growth ratetbammercial aerospace.

Our Aero/HS and GE products are also sold for nskefense end market applications. Requirementslitary engagements and
sequestration of spending by the United Statesrgovent will determine near-term demand for our Ad®and GE products for use in such
applications. In the long-term, we expect the padidu of theF-35, or Joint Strike Fighter, to be a demand driverdiar Aero/HS products.

Commercial aerospace and defense end market appiisdave demanding customer requirements folitguaaid consistency. As a result,
there are a limited number of suppliers worldwideovare qualified to serve these market segments.
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We believe barriers to entry include significanpital requirements, technological expertise and@rous qualification process for safety-
critical applications.

We expect the 2015 North American automotive sdutidld rates to increase approximately 2.7% ovdd28ased on data from IHS, a
provider of technical information. Our AutomotivatBisions typically have specific performance htites in terms of machinability and/or
mechanical properties for specific applicationsasra broad mix of North American original equiptm@anufacturers (“OEMs”) and
automotive platforms. We believe that these attabare not easily replicated by our competitotsane important to our customers, who are
typically first tier automotive suppliers. Additially, we believe that in North America, from 20@12013, the aluminum extrusion content per
vehicle grew at a compound annual growth rate @#wbased on data provided by the Aluminum Assamiadind IHS, as automotive OEMs
and their suppliers found opportunities to decreesight without sacrificing structural integrity dsafety performance. We also believe the
United States’ Corporate Average Fuel Economy (“EARegulations, which increase fuel efficiencyrtards on an annual basis, will
continue to drive growth in demand for aluminumresed components in passenger vehicles as a repdatcdor the heavier weight of steel
components.

Our GE products serve the North American indusimatket segments and demand for these productsaligrteacks the broader
manufacturing economic environment.

Management Review of 2014 and Outlook for the Futwe

During 2014, we further advanced our commerciafpten and, despite demand impeded by an inventeeytang in the supply chain for
all of our Aero/HS products, we established shipimecords in 2014 for heat treat plate, Automotixtrusions and total shipments.

We experienced lower heat treat plate prices di2iigl primarily due to: (i) competitive pressuresspot prices, which were exacerbated
by the aerospace plate inventory overhang antbyiigr effective prices on contract business thmafirior years, reflected certain payments
related to lower volumes.

The impact of lower heat treat plate prices wertigdyy offset by our improved manufacturing consien costs and the operating leverage
we obtained from our record shipments. Key factorgtributing to both the improved manufacturingwension costs and record shipments
include our prior investments at our Spokane, Wagbhn ("Trentwood") facility and at several of @utomotive extrusion facilities.

We returned $69.5 million to stockholders througlarerly dividends and stock repurchases duringt2QLr Board of Directors declare
17% increase in our quarterly dividend in 2014 sewéntly approved an additional increase of 14%Z0ih5.

In January 2015, we announced a new five yearatolebargaining agreement for our Trentwood and/ai&, Ohio facilities that expires
in September 2020. Pursuant to the agreement,ldigiation for annual contribution payments, cappedpproximately $17.1 million per year,
to our voluntary employees’ beneficiary associafEBA") that provides benefits for eligible reties represented by certain unions and the
surviving spouses and eligible dependents (thedWMEBA"™) will expire in September 2017. See Nogedf Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8. "Financial Statementd Supplementary Data" of this Report for mofermation.

Outlook

We anticipate strong year-over-year growth in skdpta and value added revenue driven primarily bsoA¢S products and Automotive
Extrusions combined with improving demand for GBdarcts. Operating income improvement is expectdmktdriven by increased sales,
increasing operating leverage and further gaimeanufacturing cost improvements.

Aerospace and high strength applications continwexperience a slow but steady abatement of thelysapain inventory overhang that r
dampened demand for our products serving thesécafiphs. We expect the inventory overhang to cardito abate at a steady pace
throughout 2015. Combined with higher airframe thudltes, we anticipate continued growth in our stept volume. While competitive pricil
pressure on spot transactions should subside, wetdanticipate significant price appreciation.

We expect our Automotive Extrusions will continwebiuild on the 2014 step-change in value addeduexgrowth as we launch and ramp
up new programs, including production for the ndawanum-intensive Ford F-150 truck. In addition, wil be transitioning production of
extrusions for anti-lock braking systems from oonHon, Ontario facility to our Kalamazoo, Michigtatility during the first quarter of 2015.
This initiative will free up capacity at the Londd@ntario facility to launch
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new programs and to more effectively utilize theagptional capability of our extrusion press linetha Kalamazoo, Michigan facility.

We are optimistic about 2015 as we expect growemgahd and increased production capacity will dainether year of record shipments.
We also anticipate another strong year for manufagy cost improvements as we continue to cap#atiz the investments in the Phase 5
capacity expansion, the new casting complex andatlamazoo, Michigan facility.

Looking beyond 2015, we remain very optimistic abaur prospects for further earnings growth dripeimarily by continued sales growth
and improving manufacturing costs. Demand is stteergng for our general engineering and industjgllications and our aerospace and
automotive served markets have strong secular grovemds expected to extend well beyond the netyfears. Overall, we expect our served
markets, which include aerospace, automotive andrgéengineering and industrial applications,nmagat a compound annual growth rate of
approximately 4% over the next five years and weeekour growth to equal or exceed that growth. rate

Our production capacity and manufacturing cost sampments will continue to benefit from investmentshave made as well as from
planned future investments. We expect to make agpedely $50.0 million to $75.0 million per year éapital investments over the next five
years, with an emphasis on capacity expansionutmmaotive extrusions and heat treat plate, contisumprovement initiatives focused
manufacturing cost improvements and product quality sustaining investments of approximately 70%egireciation to maintain peak
operating conditions for our manufacturing platform

Results of Operations
Fiscal 2014 Summary

»  Our operating income for 2014 was $137.9 milljevhich included items that we consider to be namrate, which netted totsenefit
of $7.0 million , primarily related to non-cash mpefriodic pension benefit income of $23.7 milli@bating to our two VEBAs, which
was partially offset by non-cash, mark-to-markaslof $10.4 million on commodity hedging positiof&ee “Segment and Business
Unit Information” for further discussion of our operating incomédrse non-run-rate items.)

* Netincome foi2014 was $71.8 million , which included the non-rate items as discussed above. S8edment and Business Unit
Information" below for discussion of additional non-run-raesms.

 We had combined cash balances, short-term imesgt and net borrowing availability under our teiay credit facility (with no
borrowings thereunder outstanding) of approxima$&§0.8 million as of December 31, 2014 .

*  We invested $59.4 million in capital spendingeS Capital Expenditures and Investmehtselow
e We paid a variable cash contribution of $16.0iom to the VEBAS

* We paid a total of approximately $25.4 millioar,$1.40 per common share, in cash dividendsoiekkblders, including holders of
restricted stock and dividend equivalents to haddrcertain restricted stock units and to the édaf performance shares granted
prior to 2014 with respect to the target numbeurederlying common shares (constituting approxinyadele-half of the maximum
payout).

* We repurchased 633,230 shares of common sto281i4 for a total cost of $44.9 million . Shareuahases were pursuant to a stock
repurchase program authorized by our Board of Borec As of December 31, 2014 , $72.8 million weailable under the program to
purchase additional shares of our common stock.

Consolidated Selected Operational and Financial émmation

The following data should be read in conjunctiothvaur consolidated financial statements and thesthereto included in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” isfReport. See Note 13 of Notes to Consolidatedriial Statements included in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” isfReport for further information regarding segnsent

Net SalesWe reported Net sales for 2014 of $1,356.1 milli@ompared to $1,297.5 million for 2013 and $1,264illion for 2012 . The
increase in Net sales during 2014 compared to 2&flscted a 4% increase in Fabricated Products segshipment volume. The increase in
Fabricated Products segment shipment volume wasapity due to a 14.4 million pound, or 22%, incre&s Automotive Extrusions shipment
volume and a 12.6 million pound, or 6%, increasAéno/HS products shipment volume. Total averagéized sales price per pound for 2014
was consistent with that of 2013. However, the agerrealized value added revenue per pound ded®€é per pound, or 5%, which was
offset by a $0.06 per pound, or 6%, increase imemehedged cost of alloyed metal prices per polind.decline in average value added
revenue per pound
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reflected (i) a 9% decrease in value added revpaugound for Aero/HS products, primarily due tevéw pricing for heat treat plate products;
(ii) a 4% decrease in value added revenue per pfr@E products due to lower heat treat plateipgicpartially offset by (iii) a 13% increase
in value added revenue per pound for Automotivauskbns driven by a richer mix of higher valueddurots and the launch of several new
automotive programs in 2014. See the tableS®gment and Business Unit Informatidrelow for further details.

The decrease in Net sales during 2013 comparedlt® ®as primarily due to a 22.2 million pound desesin Fabricated Products segmen
shipments and lower average realized sales prioe d€crease in shipments was comprised of (i) 2rflion pound decrease in GE products
shipments due primarily to slightly weaker demamddil product types; (ii) a 13.7 million pound dease in Other products shipments
reflecting our focus on higher value added prodyzstially offset by (iii) a 1.3 million pound inease in Automotive Extrusion shipments
reflecting the ramp up of new Automotive Extrusimograms; and (iv) a 0.4 million pound increas@@ro/HS products shipments reflecting
strong demand from commercial aerospace build deaagpened by excess customer inventory of certaiduygts. Average realized sales price
decreased slightly, reflecting a $0.06 per pourdide in the hedged, alloyed metal prices, mostiyet by a $0.04 per pound increase in the
average value added revenue per pound as compe?@d2. See the table irSegment and Business Unit Informatidrelow for further
details.

Fluctuation in underlying primary aluminum markeices does not necessarily directly impact profiigtbecause (i) a substantial portion
of the business conducted by the Fabricated Prediegiment passes aluminum price changes diredtiycostomers and (ii) our hedging
activities in support of the Fabricated Productmsent’s firm price sales agreements limit our lesss well as gains, from primary metal price
changes.

Cost of Products Sold, Excluding Depreciation amaoftization and Other Itemg&ost of products sold, excluding depreciation and
amortization and other items for 2014 totaled $Z,%nillion , or 82% of Net sales, compared to 38,0 million , or 80% of Net sales, 2012
and $1,116.2 million , or 82% of Net sales, in 20The increase in Cost of products sold, excludiegreciation and amortization and other
items during 2014 compared to 2013 was primarily tu(i) a $59.8
million increase related to the higher hedged obsiloyed metal prices discussed in "Net Salegvab (i) a $26.3 million
increase due to sales impact; (iii) $2.2 milliorhaiher major maintenance expense related to the e of major 2013 capital improvement
projects; and (iv) $3.2 million of higher energysteelated primarily to the severe 2014 winter saahese increases were partially offset |
reduction in (i) environmental costs of $2.7 mitliand (ii) net manufacturing conversion and otlestg of approximately $10.2 million.

The decrease in Cost of products sold, excludipyedgation and amortization and other items dugif$3 compared to 2012 was primarily
due to (i) a $60.0 million decrease related toloeer hedged cost of alloyed metal prices; (i)l 8 million decrease due to sales impact; (iii)
$2.1 million of lower major maintenance expense} @v) a decrease in net manufacturing conversiahather costs of approximately $0.9
million. These decreases were partially offset byregrease in environmental costs of $2.9 million.

See"Segment and Business Unit Informatidr@low for further discussion of the comparativeutssof operations for 2014 , 2013 and
2012 .

Unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instrumedtsealized (gains) losses on derivative instrumangsprimarily due to changes in
underlying commodity prices as well as derivatiedlements and are related to our operational reedgdeese hedges are intended to mitigate
our exposure to changes in prices for certain prtsdsnld and consumed by us and, to a lesser eidemitigate our exposure to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Unrealized loggaas) on derivative instruments were $10.4 milljé(0.7) million and $(15.2) million for
2014 , 2013 and 2012, respectively. Unrealizegdssn 2014 were comprised of $6.0 million of Iesge natural gas hedge positions, $2.6
million of losses on aluminum hedge positions ahd@$nillion of losses on electricity hedge positon

Depreciation and Amortizatioepreciation and amortization for 2014 was $31.Hienicompared to $28.1 million for 2013 and $26.5
million for 2012 . Approximately $2.2 million of éhincrease in Depreciation and amortization expen2014 compared to 2013 was due to
additional construction in progress being placesérvice during 2014 in connection with our castingiplex and Phase 5 expansion at our
Trentwood facility. The increase in Depreciatiom amortization in 2013 compared to 2012 was alstduhe construction in progress at our
Trentwood facility that was placed into serviceidgr2013.

Selling, Administrative, Research and Developmadt@eneral Selling, administrative, research and developmedtgeneral expense
totaled $81.4 million in 2014 compared to $80.4lioil in 2013 . The increase in 2014 was primariledo increased investment in research
and development initiatives.
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Selling, administrative, research and developmedtgeneral expense totaled $80.4 million in 2018 gared to $74.1 million in 2012The
increase during 2013 was primarily due to (i) al$8illion increase in general administrative expgenselated primarily to employee
compensation; (ii) a $1.7 million increase in sgland advertising expense to support further drpand (iii) $1.4 million of increased
investment in research and development initiatives.

Net Periodic Pension Benefit Income Relating to X&EBlet periodic pension benefit income relating to WEBAs totaled $23.7 million
$22.5 million and $11.9 million for 2014 , 2013 a2@12 , respectively. The increases in both 201420113 were primarily due to increases in
expected return on plan assets.

Other Operating Charges (Benefit§)ther operating charges in 2014 and 2012 congstathrily of $1.5 million and $4.5 million ,
respectively, of impairment charges related to prop plant and equipment. There were no Otheraipgy charges or benefits in 2013.

Interest Expensénterest expense represents cash and non-casésinésipense incurred on our 4.5% Cash ConvertdniéoBNotes due
2015 ("Convertible Notes"), our 8.250% Senior Natae 2020 ("Senior Notes") and our revolving créafiility, net of capitalized interest.
Interest expense was $37.5 million , $35.7 milémd $29.1 million for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , resipely, net of $2.5 million , $3.4 million
and $1.7 million of interest expense capitalizegas of Construction in progress, respectively tfie three periods. Non-cash amortization of
the discount on our Convertible Notes accounteé®t million , $8.2 million and $7.3 million of éhtotal interest expense in 2014 , 2013 anc
2012 , respectively. Interest expense in 2014 &I1@ 2vas primarily related to interest expense iretion our Convertible Notes and our
Senior Notes. The increase in interest expens81i8 2ompared to interest expense in 2012 was pijnthue to a full year of interest related
our Senior Notes.

Other Income, NeDther income, net was $6.7 million for 2014 , conegato $5.6 million for 2013 and $2.8 million fod22 . Other
income, net primarily consisted of unrealized gaissociated with our hedges relating to the CoibterNotes. See Note 15 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in I8efiFinancial Statements and Supplementary DatahisfReport for further information.

Income Tax ProvisiorThe income tax provision for 2014 was $35.3 milljaesulting in an effective tax rate of 33.0% eTdifference
between the effective tax rate and the projectedd®d statutory tax rate for 2014 was primarily tiu@) a decrease in unrecognized tax
benefits, including interest and penalties, of $Rilion, resulting in a 2.1% decrease in the effextax rate; (ii) a lower state tax rate in
various states resulting in a decrease of $1.6amjllvhich resulted in a 1.5% decrease in the #ffecax rate; and (iii) a decrease in the
valuation allowance for certain state net operalisges of $0.7 million, which resulted in a 0.68&rtase to the effective tax rate.

As a result of the audit settlement and advana@myiagreement with the CRA in 2013, a tax berg#f#10.5 million, which represented
amounts previously paid against Canadian accruexbtavas recorded to Other receivables in 201&hogh, $7.9 million of cash refunds had
been received by the Company as of December 34, 20tk additional tax refund of $2.6 million is eqgped to be refunded within the next 12
months.

The income tax provision for 2013 was $38.4 millicgsulting in an effective tax rate of 26.8%. Hifference between the effective tax
rate and the projected blended statutory tax mt@313 was primarily due to (i) a decrease in cogaized tax benefits, including interest and
penalties, of $4.4 million, resulting in a 3.1% dEase in the effective tax rate due to an audieseént with the Canada Revenue Agency
Competent Authority on February 28, 2013 for th8&2004 tax years; (ii) a decrease in unrecogniaedbenefits, including interest and
penalties, of $4.6 million, resulting in a 3.2% dEase in the effective rate; (iii) a decrease feohilateral advance pricing agreement between
Canada and the U.S. for $2.9 million, resultingi®.0% decrease in the effective tax rate; anda(gcrease from an audit settlement with the
CRA for $5.3 million, resulting in a 3.7% decrease¢he effective tax rate.

The income tax provision for 2012 was $53.8 millisgsulting in an effective tax rate of 38.5%. Higerence between the effective tax
rate and the projected blended statutory tax @t@d12 was primarily due to (i) an increase ineaagnized tax benefits, including interest anc
penalties, of $1.2 million, resulting in a 0.9%rnease to the blended statutory tax provision i@ehe impact of a non-deductible
compensation expense, which resulted in an increatbe income tax provision of $0.3 million aneé thlended statutory tax provision rate of
0.2%; offset by (iii) a foreign tax benefit of $M1dillion, which decreased the blended statutorypevision rate by 0.4%; and (iv) a decreas
the valuation allowance for certain federal andesteet operating losses, which resulted in a deer&mthe income tax provision of $0.1 mill
and the blended statutory tax provision rate o%0.1

28




Segment and Business Unit Informatic

Consistent with the manner in which our chief ofiagadecision maker reviews and evaluates our lessinrwe have one operating segmen
which we refer to as Fabricated Products, thatywred semi-fabricated specialty aluminum producish s aluminum sheet and plate and
extruded and drawn products, primarily used in sggaoe/high strength, automotive, general engingerinl other industrial end market
applications. We categorize our products by thesknearket applications as follows: Aero/HS produgistomotive Extrusions, GE products
and Other products.

We also have a business unit, All Other, which mtes general and administrative support for ourapens. For purposes of segment
reporting under United States generally acceptedwatting principles ("GAAP"), we treat the FabreatProducts segment as a reportable
segment. All Other is not considered a reportabigrent.

The following data should be read in conjunctiottvaur consolidated financial statements and thesithereto included in Part 11, Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” isfReport. See Note 13 of Notes to Consolidatedritial Statements included in Part I,
Item 8. “Financial Statements and SupplementanaDattthis Report for further information regardisggments.

Fabricated Product:

The table below provides selected operational arah€ial information (in millions of dollars excegtipments and average realized sales
price) for our Fabricated Products segment for gmetod presented. References to average realkitesl grice and value added revenue in the
table below reflect third party transactions:

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Shipments (mmlbs) 588.¢ 563.7 585.¢
Composition of average realized sales price (pangh
Average realized sales prite $ 23C $ 23C $ 2.32
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal price (1.0¢) (1.00) (1.0¢6)
Average realized value added revenue $ 124 ¢ 13C $ 1.2¢
Composition of net sales:
Net sales $ 1,356.. § 1,297% % 1,360.:
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal (623.¢) (563.9 (623.9)
Value added revenue $ 7325 % 733.€ 3 736.2
Segment operating income $ 1512 % 188.t $ 190.¢
Impact to segment operating income of non-run-tates:

Adjustments to plant-level LIF® (4.0 7.4 (2.3

Mark-to-market (losses) gains on derivative insteais (10.9 0.7 15.2

Workers’ compensation benefit (cost) due to distiogn — 1.1 (0.2)

Asset impairment charges (1.5 — (4.4

Environmental expensés (1.2 (4.0) (1.9
Total non-run-rate items (17.7) 5.2 7.2
Segment operating income excluding non-run-rateste $ 168.5 § 183..  $ 183.¢

Average realized sales prices for our Fabricatediffits segment are subject to fluctuations dudanges in product mix and
underlying primary aluminum prices and are not seadly indicative of changes in underlying prdsitay.

We manage our Fabricated Products segment businessnonthly last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) basis aa&h plant, but report inventory
externally on an annual LIFO basis in accordandk GAAP on a consolidated basis. This amount retssthe conversion from
GAAP LIFO applied on a consolidated basis for thbrcated Products segment to monthly LIFO apmiea@ plant-by-plant basis.
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3 See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Stargs in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supptearg Data” of this Report for

additional information relating to the environmdreapenses.

As noted above, operating income excluding nonraia-tems for 2014 was $14.9 million lower than2613 . Lower operating income
excluding non-run-rate items in 2014 reflecteda($32.6 million negative price impact due primatdylower pricing for heat treat plate
products; (ii) a positive volume impact of $16.8limn due primarily to increased shipments of Autiiime Extrusions and Aero/HS products;
(iii) $3.2 million of higher energy costs; (iv) #million of higher planned major maintenance exgeerfv) $3.0 million of higher depreciation
expense; and (vi) a net $9.5 million improvemenmmnufacturing conversion and other costs.

Operating income excluding non-run-rate items f@t2was $0.2 million lower than that for 2012. Loweerating income excluding non-
run-rate items in 2013 reflected higher manufantyand operating costs due primarily to the exmamprojects at our Trentwood facility and

higher depreciation expense, partially offset lyithpact of higher pricing on net sales, lower majaintenance expense and lower energy
costs.

The table below provides shipment and value adeleeinue information (in millions of dollars exceptmnents and value added revenue

per pound) for each of the product categories (whie based on end market applications) of ouriéatied Products segment for each period
presented:
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Aero/HS Products:
Shipments (mmlbs)

Net sales
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal
Value added revenue

Automotive Extrusions:
Shipments (mmlbs)

Net sales
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal
Value added revenue

GE Products:
Shipments (mmlbs)

Net sales
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal
Value added revenue

Other Products:
Shipments (mmlbs)

Net sales
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal
Value added revenue

Total:
Shipments (mmlbs)

Net sales
Less: hedged cost of alloyed metal
Value added revenue

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
236.9 224.3 223.9
$ $/1b $ $/1b $ $/1b
$ 686.: $ 29 $ 677.C $ 30z $ 6951 $  3.1C
(256.9) (1.09) (227.9) (1.02) (244.6) (1.0
$ 4302 $ 182 $ 44972 $ 20C $ 4505 $ 2.0
78.5 64.1 62.8
$ $/1b $ $/1b $ $/1b
$ 173F $ 221 $ 129F $§ 20z $ 1258 $  2.0C
(82.6) (1.05) (63.2) (0.99) (66.5) (1.06)
$ 90¢ $ 116 $ 662 $ 105 $ 59 $ 0.9
223.4 222.5 232.7
$ $/1b $ $/1b $ $/1b
$ 419F $ 18 $ 411C $ 1.8 $ 441c $  1.9C
(237.6) (1.0 (224.9) (1.01) (249.2) (1.0
$ 181¢ $ 081 $ 1861 $ 08/ $ 192( $  0.8¢
50.0 52.8 66.5
$ $/1b $ $/1b $ $/1b
$ 76& $ 15/ $ 80C $ 152 $ 981 $  1.4f
(47.9) (0.95) (48.0) (0.97) (63.4) (0.96)
$ 295 $ 05¢ $ 32 $ 061 $ 347 $ 05z
588.8 563.7 585.9
$ $/1b $ $/1b $ $/1b
$ 1,356.. $ 23C $ 1297F $ 23C $ 1360. $ 2.3z
(623.6) (1.06) (563.9) (1.00) (623.9) (1.06)
$ 732F $ 124 $ 7336 $ 13C $ 7362 $  1.2€

For 2014 , Net sales of Fabricated Products inecthg $58.6 million to $1,356.1 million , as comgxito 2013 , due primarily to an
increase in shipment volume and an increase iheédged cost of alloyed metal prices, partially efftsy a decrease in average value added

revenue per pound. Se€bnsolidated Selected Operational and Financiabinfation” above for further discussion.

The decrease in Net sales of Fabricated Producitsgd2013 compared to 2012 was the result of lcstsment volume and lower average
realized sales price per pound. Lower averagezeghkales price in 2013 reflected lower hedgedyatl metal prices, mostly offset by higher
value added revenue per pound as compared to 3@&2'Consolidated Selected Operational and Financiabinfation" above for further

discussion.
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All Other

All Other provides support for our operations amclirs general and administrative expenses thatairallocated to the Fabricated Prodt
segment. All Other is not considered a reportabtprent. The table below presents the impact ofrnorate items to operating loss within -
All Other business unit for each period presentedn(llions of dollars):

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Operating loss $ (135 $ (15.9) $ (24.9)
Impact to operating loss of non-run-rate items:
Net periodic benefit income relating to the VEBAs 23.7 22.F 11.¢
Environmental income (expense) 0.4 (0.5 (0.2
Workers' compensation benefit (expense) due tmagshin discount rafe — 0.2 —
Total non-run-rate items 24.1 22.2 115
Operating loss excluding non-run-rate items $ (37.6 $ (879 $ (36.6)

1 We have no claim over the VEBAS' plan assets ngrasponsibility for the VEBASs' accumulated postezhent obligations. Our only
financial obligations to the VEBAs are to pay annuaiable cash contributions and certain admiatste fees. Nevertheless, for
accounting purposes we treat the postretirementaaldoenefits to be paid by the VEBAs and our edadnnual variable cash contribution
obligations as defined benefit postretirement plaitls the current VEBA assets and future varialashccontributions and earnings
thereon, operating as a cap on the benefits talak Accordingly, we record net periodic postratimnt benefit income (costs), which we
consider to be non-run-rate, and record any diffegebetween the assets of each of the VEBAs arddsmulated postretirement benefit
obligation in our consolidated financial statemefse Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financiake®tants in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Repordditional information relating to the VEBAs.

2 Amount represents a portion of the workers' comaims benefit (expense) resulting from the chamgiaé discount rates applied in
estimating workers' compensation liabilities. Wasider such expense to be non-run-rate becauseasuaints are not related to the
incurrence and resolution of workers' compensatiaims. Non-run-rate workers' compensation beijefipense) for years presented was
not material because discount rates did not fluetsgnificantly.

All Other operating loss excluding non-run-rateritefor 2014 was $0.1 million higher than in 20T3e increase was primarily due to an
increase in corporate overhead, partially offsealnecrease in short-term employee incentive cosgiEem expense.

All Other operating loss excluding non-run-raterigefor 2013 was $0.9 million higher than in 201BeTTncrease primarily reflected a $0.7
million increase in non-discounted workers’ comims expense related to our non operating locatmimarily due to higher reported case
reserve estimates and incurred-but-not-reportegtvesestimates.

Certain Information Related to Our Significant Tax Attributes

We have significant federal income tax attributesluding sizable net operating loss carry-forwatdsder Section 382(1)(5) (“Section
382") of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 ("Cogdelir ability to use our federal income tax atttésufollowing a more than 50% change in
ownership during any period of 36 consecutive mgrdfi as determined under the Code (an “ownershémge”) would be limited annually t
an amount equal to the product of (i) the aggregaliee of our outstanding common shares immedigiedy to the ownership change and
(i) the applicable federal long-term tax exemperia effect on the date of the ownership change.

To reduce the risk that an ownership change unéetid® 382 would jeopardize our ability to fullyausur federal income tax attributes,
through July 2016 our certificate of incorporatfmohibits certain transfers of our equity secusitigthout the prior approval of our Board of
Directors if either (a) the transferor holds 5%mre of the total fair market value of all of oasiied and outstanding equity securities (such
person, a “5% shareholder”) or (b) as a resuluchgransfer, either (i) any person or group obpas would become a 5% shareholder or
(ii) the percentage stock ownership of any 5% di@lder would be increased (any such transfer, attfa¥tsaction”).
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Issuances of new common shares impact the formaudatermine whether an ownership change has octun@er Section 382. However,
we could issue all shares that are authorized ffahdutstanding) without triggering an ownershipme.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Summary

The following table summarizes our liquidity at th&tes presented (in millions of dollars):

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Available cash and cash equivalents $ 1775 % 169.t
Short-term investments 114.( 129t
Net borrowing availability under Revolving Credagtlity after borrowings and letters of credit 269.1 253.]
Total liquidity $ 560.t $ 552.1

Available cash and cash equivalents and short-tevestments were $291.7 million at December 31420dompared to $299.0 million at
December 31, 2013 . The decrease was primariledrby cash outflows for capital expenditures, pasels of available for sale securities,
repurchases of common stock, the payment of gliadaidends and payments to the VEBAS for our ainariable cash contributions with
respect to 2013. The decrease was primarily offgeiash inflow from operating activities and prateé&om the disposition of available for
sale securities. Cash equivalents consist primafilmoney market accounts and investments withrainal maturity of 90 days or less when
purchased. We place our cash in bank deposits améyrmarket funds with high credit quality finardiestitutions which invest primarily in
commercial paper and time deposits of prime quadityprt-term repurchase agreements and U.S. goeatragency notes. Short-term
investments represent holdings in investment-gcademercial paper and corporate bonds with a mgtafigreater than 90 days.

In addition to our unrestricted cash and cash edgints described above, we have restricted caslisthbedged or held as collateral in
connection with workers¢ompensation requirements and certain other agmgsmferom time to time, such restricted funds cdiddeturned t
us or we could be required to pledge additionahc8&ort-term restricted cash, which is include®iiapaid expenses and other current assets
was $0.3 million at both December 31, 2014 and Bésesr 31, 2013 . Long-term restricted cash, whidhdtided in Other assets, was $10.0
million and $9.3 million at December 31, 2014 aretBmber 31, 2013, respectively.

We and certain of our subsidiaries have a cred#egent with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as admatigé agent and the other financial
institutions party thereto ("Revolving Credit Fégil) (see Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated FinanStatements in Iltem 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Repbngre were no borrowings under our Revolving GrEdcility as of December 31, 204
December 31, 2013 .
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows froperating, investing and financing activities fack period presented (in millions of
dollars):

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Total cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Fabricated Products $ 199 $ 187t $ 201.¢
All Other (75.9) (75.) (48.9
Total cash provided by operating activities $ 1241 % 11157 8 152.¢
Investing activities:
Fabricated Products $ (58.5) % (69.9) $ (43.5)
All Other 13.¢ (43.¢ (78.9)
Total cash used in investing activities $ 44.7) % (113.9) $ (121.9
Financing activities:
Fabricated Products $ — 3 01 $ (4.9
All Other (71.2) (102.7) 197.¢
Total cash (used in) provided by financing act@sti $ (71129 $ (102.2) $ 193.]

Operating Activities

Fabricated Products— In 2014 , Fabricated Products segment operatingitaest provided $199.5 million of cash. Cash pdrdl in 2014
was primarily related to (i) $151.4 million of opging income; (ii) adjustments for non-cash itemd depreciation and amortization of $46.4
million; and (iii) an increase in accounts payatfi&20.7 million due to an increase in general hess activities and the timing of payments.
Cash provided in 2014 was partially offset by @)iacrease in accounts receivable of $7.7 milli@ha $5.0 million decrease in other accrued
liabilities due primarily to a decrease in accresathries and wages; and (iii) a $6.1 million desegia long-term liabilities due primarily to a
decrease in workers' compensation and environmaaotalials.

In 2013, Fabricated Products segment operatingitesi provided $187.5 million of cash. Cash pre@ddn 2013 was primarily related to
$188.6 million of operating income and $15.7 milliof Canadian tax benefits, partially offset by3®illion of non-cash adjustments. Cash
provided in 2013 also included an increase in actopayable and other accrued liabilities of $2illian due to general business activities anc
the timing of payments, partially offset by an iease in accounts receivable of $7.9 million duéighrto the recognition of a $4.4 million
receivable relating to tax refunds from the CRAwa4d as increases in product shipments near yed@aad an increase in inventory of $4.4
million in anticipation of higher sales.

In 2012, Fabricated Products segment operatingitiesi provided $201.3 million of cash. Cash pr@ddn 2012 was primarily related to
$202.2 million of net income including adjustmeafsioncash items, a decrease in inventory of $24.6 miléie a result of inventory reducti
efforts and an increase in accounts payable aret atittrued liabilities of $3.9 million due to ariease in general business activities, partiall
offset by an increase in accounts receivable of&g4dllion which resulted primarily from the elimation of customer cash discounts and a
decrease in net long-term assets and liabilitie&4ot million primarily due to recognition of defed revenue.

For additional information regarding Fabricatedd®rcts operating income excluding non-run-rate itesee “Results of Operations -
Segment and Business Unit Informatiabove.

All Other— Cash used in operating activities was $75.4 mil|i$@5.8 million and $48.9 million during 2014 ,13)and 2012 respectively
Cash outflow from All Other operating activities2014consisted primarily of payments relating to (i) geal and administrative costs of $2
million; (ii) an annual variable cash contributitmthe VEBAs of $16.0 million with respect to 201Bi) our short-term incentive program in
the amount of $4.3 million; and (iv) interest oe Bonvertible Notes,
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Senior Notes and Revolving Credit Facility of $2B#lion in the aggregate. Cash outflow from All Other opiegactivities in 2013 consiste
primarily of payments relating to (i) general amivanistrative costs of $26.9 million; (ii) an anhwariable cash contribution to the VEBAs of
$20.0 million with respect to 2012; and (iii) inést on the Convertible Notes, Senior Notes and RingpCredit Facility of $28.1 million in th
aggregate. Cash outflow from All Other operatintivdties in 2012 consisted primarily of paymentkating to (i) general and administrative
costs of $25.9 million; (ii) interest on the Senitotes, Convertible Notes and Revolving Credit Rgodbf $19.4 million in the aggregate; and
(iii) our incentive programs in the amount of $2ndllion.

Investing Activitie:

Fabricated Products— Cash used in investing activities for FabricateodBcts was $58.5 million in 2014 , compared to 868illion of
cash used in 2013 and $43.5 million of cash us@®i? . Cash used in 2014, 2013 and 2012 was suiadiarelated to capital expenditures.
See “Capital Expenditures and Investmehtselow for additional information.

All Other— Investing activities in All Other is generally rédd to purchases and settlements of short-ternsimeants, activities in
restricted cash and capital expenditures withinAth@ther business unit. We have restricted casldeposit as financial assurance for certain
environmental obligations and workers’ compensatiaims from the State of Washington. Cash provioethvesting activities during 2014
of $13.8 million consisted primarily of $14.7 milh net cash inflow in conducting investment adesitwith respect to our available for sale
securities, partially offset by $0.9 million of ¢ expenditures. Cash used in investing actisif@ All Other during 2013 of $43.6 million
consisted primarily of $44.7 million net cash oowflrelating to purchases and settlements of seont-investments and $0.6 million relating
capital expenditures, partially offset by $1.7 moill of cash returned to us from the State of Wagthimand Bermuda relating to workers'
compensation deposits. Cash used in investingitesifor All Other during 2012 of $78.4 million nsisted primarily of the purchase of $85.0
million of short-term investments offset by theuret of $6.9 million of restricted cash previoushidhin a trust account.

Financing Activities

Fabricated Products— No cash was used in financing activities for Fedted Products in 2014 . Cash used in financingities for
Fabricated Products in 2013 was $0.1 million ,the¢ato the repayment of a capital lease liabil@ash used in financing activities for
Fabricated Products in 2012 of $4.8 million wastied to the repayment of outstanding principalioegeof a promissory note issued in
connection with the acquisition of our Florencealddma facility.

All Other— Cash used in financing activities in 2014 was $Millon , representing (i) $44.1 million of caskad to repurchase our
common stock under our stock repurchase progran$2b.4 million of cash dividends paid to our $thalders, including holders of restricted
stock and dividend equivalents paid to holdersesfain restricted stock units and to holders ofqgrerance shares granted prior to 2014, with
respect to the target number of underlying sharesmmon stock (constituting approximately one-twlthe maximum payout); (iii) $2.4
million of cash used to repurchase our common stodatisfy withholding taxes resulting from thestieg of employee restricted stock,
restricted stock units and performance sharesigfigroffset by (iv) $0.8 million of additional talzenefit in connection with the vesting of
employee non-vested shares, restricted stock anitperformance shares.

Cash used in financing activities in 2013 was $10&illion, representing primarily (i) $78.3 millioof cash used to repurchase our comi
stock under our stock repurchase program; (ii) 42@llion of cash dividends paid to our stockhokléret of dividends returned), including
holders of restricted stock and dividend equivagaid to holders of certain restricted stock uaitd to holders of performance shares with
respect to the target number of underlying shafesmmon stock (constituting approximately one-fudithe maximum payout); (iii) $2.5
million of cash used to repurchase our common stodatisfy withholding taxes resulting from thestieg of employee restricted stock,
restricted stock units and performance sharesigflardffset by (iv) $1.1 million of additional talsenefit in connection with the vesting of
employee non-vested shares, restricted stock anétperformance shares.

Cash provided by financing activities in 2012 wa8%9 million, primarily representing (i) net precks of $218.4 million from the issuance
of the Senior Notes and (i) $1.3 million of addital tax benefit in connection with the vestingofployee restricted stock, restricted stock
units and performance shares, partially offsetiijy$®19.6 million of cash dividends paid to ouoskholders, including holders of restricted
stock and dividend equivalents paid to holdersesfain restricted stock units and to holders ofgrerance shares with respect to the target
number of underlying shares of common stock (ctrtsig approximately one-half of the maximum paypand (iv) $2.2 million of cash used
in connection with the withholding of shares of sommon stock to satisfy employees' minimum stayuigthholding taxes resulting from the
vesting of employee restricted stock, restricteglsunits and performance shares.
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Sources of Liquidity

We believe our available cash and cash equivalshtstterm investments, proceeds from the settlemerieption Assets that hedge
Convertible Notes, borrowing availability under fRevolving Credit Facility and funds generated froperations are our most significant
sources of liquidity. We believe these sources bélisufficient to finance our cash requirementsuising those associated with the payment ¢
amounts due upon the conversion or maturity of@amvertible Notes on April 1, 2015 and our planoagital expenditures and investments,
for at least the next 12 months. Neverthelessability to fund our working capital requirementgbd service obligations, the full amount of
any variable cash contribution to the VEBAs anchpkd capital expenditures and investments will ddpgon our future operating
performance (which will be affected by prevailingpaomic conditions) and financial, business anéotactors, some of which are beyond ou
control.

The Revolving Credit Facility matures in Septem®@16 and provides for borrowings up to $300.0 wmnill{subject to borrowing base
limitations), of which up to a maximum of $60.0 laih may be utilized for letters of credit. The Réxing Credit Facility may, subject to
certain conditions and the agreement of lenderetimeler, be increased up to $350.0 million .

The table below summarizes recent availability asage of our Revolving Credit Facility (in million$ dollars except for borrowing rate):

February 16, 2015 December 31, 2014

Revolving Credit Facility borrowing commitment $ 300.C % 300.(
Borrowing base availability $ 276.2 % 276.7
Less: Outstanding borrowings under Revolving CrEditility — —
Less: Outstanding letters of credit under Revolviigdit Facility (7.6 (7.€)
Net remaining borrowing availability $ 268.7 % 269.1
Borrowing rate (if applicablée) 4.C% 4.C%

! Such borrowing rate, if applicable, representstkerest rate for any overnight borrowings under Revolving Credit Facilit

We do not believe that covenants contained in #nolRing Credit Facility are reasonably likely tmit our ability to raise additional debt or
equity should we choose to do so during the nexht8ths, nor do we believe it is likely that durithg next 12 months we will trigger the
availability threshold that would require measurémgl maintaining a fixed charge coverage ratio.

See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgs in Iltem 8. “Financial Statements and Suppiearg Data” of this Report for a
description regarding our Revolving Credit Facility

Debt

See “Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitraeatd Off-Balance Sheet and Other Arrangeme@tawractual Obligations and
Commercial Commitmentselow for mandatory principal and cash interesgmpents on the outstanding borrowings under thes&tible
Notes and the Senior Notes. The Convertible Nateslae April 1, 2015 and we expect to exercisedpton Assets relating to shares of |
common stock that we acquired in connection withiisuance of the Convertible Notes to cover theusrinof cash that we will be required to
pay to the holders of any converted ConvertibleeNah excess of the principal amount thereof atetést payable thereon. In addition to fu
that we expect to receive for the settlement ofQp&on Assets, we expect to have sufficient lidfyitb repay the $175.0 million principal
amount of the Convertible Notes upon conversioe. [$Sete 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statémim Item 8. “Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data” of this Report for furttietails with respect to the Convertible Notes dredSenior Notes.

We do not believe that covenants in the indentgoe®rning the Convertible Notes and the Senior dlate reasonably likely to limit our
ability to obtain additional debt or equity finangishould we choose to do so during the next 12tison
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Capital Expenditures and Investments

A component of our long-term strategy is our cdggenditure program, including our organic growtitiatives and value-creating
acquisitions. Total capital expenditures were $38illon , $70.4 million and $44.1 million for 20142013 and 2012 , respectively.

Capital spending during 2014, 2013 and 2012 inadwf®nding on major projects at our Trentwood ifgcincluding a new casting
complex to expand our rolling ingot capacity andiuge costs and a project to further expand heait ptate capacity. Other projects included
capital upgrades at several of our extrusion féedlito support new automotive programs that wilinch over the next few years. The rest of
our capital spending in 2014, 2013 and 2012 wasashamong our manufacturing locations on projeqie&ted to reduce operating costs,
improve quality, increase capacity or enhance djpera security.

In 2015, we anticipate capital spending will behia $50.0 million to $60.0 million range as we doué our capacity expansions for our
Automotive Extrusions. Capital investment will hanfled using cash generated from operations, alaitalsh and cash equivalents, short-terr
investments, borrowings under the Revolving CrEditility and/or other third-party financing arrangents. The level of anticipated capital
expenditures may be adjusted from time to time dejpg on our business plans, our price outlooKdbricated aluminum products, our abi
to maintain adequate liquidity and other factors.d$surance can be provided as to the timing osanly expenditures or the operational
benefits expected therefrom.

Dividends

See Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants included in Item 8. "Financial Statements Smpplementary Data" of this
Report for information regarding dividends paididgr2014 , 2013 and 2012 . See Item 5 of this Rdpodisclosure regarding the future
declaration and payment of dividends.

Repurchases of Common Sto

See Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants included in Item 8. "Financial Statements Smpplementary Data" of this
Report for information regarding repurchases of emm stock made during 2014 .

See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 8tatgs included in Item 8. "Financial Statements @upplementary Data" of this Report
for information regarding minimum statutory tax liblding obligations arising during 2014 , 2013 &0d 2 in connection with the vesting of
non-vested shares, restricted stock units and peaface shares.

Restrictions Related to Equity Capit

As discussed in “Certain Information Related to Gignificant Tax Attributes” above and elsewher¢hiis Report, our certificate of
incorporation places restrictions on the transfesus common shares through July 2016. These céistns are intended to reduce the risk that
an ownership change within the criteria under $ec882 would jeopardize our ability to fully userdederal income tax attributes.

Environmental Commitments and Contingenci

See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 8tates included in Item 8. “Financial Statements Sagdplementary Data” for
information regarding our environmental commitmeantsl contingencies.

Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitments andOff-Balance Sheet and Other Arrangements
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

We are obligated to make future payments undeouar¢ontracts such as long-term purchase obligatiod lease agreements. We have
grouped these contractual obligations into opegadittivities, investing activities and financingieities in the same manner as they are
classified in our Statements of Consolidated Cdstvé-included in Item 8. “Financial Statements &uwupbplemental Data” in order to provide a
better understanding of the nature of the obligestiand to provide a basis for comparison to hisabinformation.
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The following table provides a summary of our siig@int contractual obligations at December 31, 2@ilars in millions):

Payments Due by Period

2020 and
Total 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter

Operating activities!
Purchase obligations $ 3095 $  294¢ ¢ 8¢ % 2¢ % 1.C $ 0 % 1.4
Operating leases 44.¢ 4.7 3.¢ 3.2 2.8 2.7 27.€
VEBA paymentg 14.¢ 14.C 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.1 —
Standby letters of credfit 8.C — 7.€ — — — —
Uncertain tax liabilities 2.4 — — — — — —
Deferred compensation plan liability 7.2 — — — — — —

Investing activities®
Capital equipment 1.¢ 1.8 — — — — —

Financing activities?
Principal on the Convertible Notes 175.C 175.C — — — — —
8Cash interest on the Convertible Notes 3¢ 3.6 o o o o o
Principal on the Senior Notes 225.( — — — — — 225.(
Interest on the Senior Notés 102.] 18.¢ 18.€ 18.¢ 18.€ 18.¢ 9.1

Commitment fees on the Revolving

Credit Facility® 2.€ 1t 1.1 — — — —
Total contractual ob|igatiorf33 $ 897.1 % 514.: $ 404 % 25C $% 22t $ 21¢ $ 263.]

1

6

7

See “Obligations for Operating Activitiesbelow.

Except for the variable cash contribution to theBAS to be made in the first quarter of 2015 withpect to the 201dalendar year and tl
annual administration fees to the VEBAS, total cactiial obligations exclude future annual variatash contributions to the VEBAs,
which cannot be determined at this time. S€df“Balance Sheet and Other Arrangemértslow for a description of our annual variable
cash obligations to the VEBAs.

Of the $8.0 million of standby letters of credif.4 million represents cash collateralized and $Tilbon represents letters of credit issued
under our Revolving Credit Facility. The letterscoédit provide financial assurance of our paynaértbligations, primarily related to
workers' compensation and environmental compliafbe.specific timing of payments with respect tolsmatters is uncertain. The lett
of credit generally automatically renew every 12nths and terminate when the underlying obligatiem$onger require assurance or upor
the maturity of our Revolving Credit Facility in @ember 2016 (for those letters of credit issuedienhat facility).

At December 31, 2014 , we had uncertain tax passtighich ultimately could result in tax payments.the amount of ultimate tax
payments beyond 2015 is contingent on the tax aititsd assessment, it is not practical to presemual payment information.

The amount represents liability relating to ourediefd compensation plan for certain key employ&sghe distribution amount is
contingent upon vesting and other eligibility reganents, it is not practical to present annual gEytnmformation.

See “Obligations for Investing Activitigsbelow.
See “Obligations for Financing Activitiesbelow.
Interest obligations on the Convertible Notes aadi& Notes are based on scheduled interest pagi

Future commitment fees are estimated based omtbar# of unused credit under our Revolving Creditifity at December 31, 2014 and
assuming no extension of terms beyond the curramanity date of our Revolving Credit Facility, whigs in September 2016.
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Obligations for Operating Activities

Cash outlays for operating activities primarily sist of purchase obligations with respect to prireluminum, other raw materials and
electricity and payment obligations under operalaasges.

We have various contracts with suppliers of alummirthat require us to purchase minimum quantitieslwhinum in future years at a price
to be determined at the time of purchase basedapifinon the underlying metal price at that timenéunts included in the table are based on
minimum quantities at the metal price at Decemter2B14 . We believe the minimum quantities arediothian our current requirements for
aluminum. Actual quantities and actual metal prigethe time of purchase could be different.

Operating leases represent multi-year obligationgértain manufacturing facilities, warehouseficefspace and equipment.

Our primary financial obligation to the VEBASs is ttake an annual variable cash contribution. Theuasrnim be contributed to the two
VEBAs pursuant to our obligation is 10% of thetf620.0 million of annual cash flow (as definedgeneral terms, the principal elements of
cash flow are earnings before interest expensejgion for income taxes and depreciation and amatitn less cash payments for, among
other things, interest, income taxes and capitpeeditures), plus 20% of annual cash flow, as @e€fiin excess of $20.0 million . Annual
contribution payments are allocated 85% to the WM&BA and 15% to the Salaried VEBAs. Such annaghpents to the two VEBAS are
limited (with no carryover to future years) to tiseent that the payments would cause our liquiditie less than $50.0 million and may not
exceed $20.0 million ($17.1 million annually foetlinion VEBA and $2.9 million annually for the S@¢al VEBA). Our obligation to make
annual contributions to the Union VEBA extends thgio September 30, 2017 and our obligation to thariéd VEBA has no express
termination date. As of December 31, 2014 , werdgteed that the variable cash contribution to the YEBAs for 2014 was $13.7 million .
See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgs included in Item 8. “Financial Statements Sogdplementary Datadf this Report fo
information regarding the VEBAs and the effect theg on our consolidated financial statements.

See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 8tates included in Iltem 8. “Financial Statements 8ogplementary Data” of this
Report for information regarding our employee bénséns, including defined contribution plans atefined benefit plans.

Obligations for Investing Activities

Capital project spending included in the precedaige represents non-cancelable capital commitneentd December 31, 2014 . We
expect capital projects to be funded through alikélaash generated from our operations, cash atderguivalents, short-term investments,
borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility amdéther third-party financing arrangements.

Obligations for Financing Activities

Cash outlays for financing activities consist of ptincipal obligations under long-term debt, salled interest payments on the
Convertible Notes and the Senior Notes and commitife®s under our Revolving Credit Facility. No tmavings were outstanding under our
Revolving Credit Facility either throughout the yea as of December 31, 2014 .

Off-Balance Sheet and Other Arrangements

» See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financialeédtents included in Item 8. “Financial Statemeamnis Supplementary Data” of this
Report for information regarding our participatiormulti-employer pension plans, which informatigrincorporated herein by
reference.

» See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financialeédtents included in Item 8. “Financial Statemeamnis Supplementary Data” of this
Report for information regarding our employee irteanplans. Additional equity awards are expectetdd made to employees and
non-employee directors in 2015 and future yearsghvimformation is incorporated herein by reference

» See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financialeédtents in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supehtary Data” of this Report for
information regarding our Convertible Notes hedg@sactions, which information is incorporated heby reference.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are prepiaradcordance with GAAP. In connection with thegamation of our financial statemer
we are required to make assumptions and estimateg future events and apply judgments that atfexztreported amounts of assets, liabili
revenue and expenses and the related disclosuseba®¥¢ our assumptions, estimates and judgmetiistonical experience, current trends
other factors that management believes to be melatahe time our consolidated financial statemané prepared. On a regular basis,
management reviews the accounting policies, assangptestimates and judgments to ensure that nandial statements are presented fairly
and in accordance with GAAP. However, because éutwents and their effects cannot be determinduaeittainty, actual results could differ
from our assumptions and estimates and such diftesecould be material.

Our significant accounting policies are discusseNdte 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgsacluded in Item 8. “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Reptahagement believes that the following accountistingates are the most critical to aid in
fully understanding and evaluating our reportedrficial results and require management’s most dlffisubjective or complex judgments,
resulting from the need to make estimates aboutffleets of matters that are inherently uncertilianagement has reviewed these critical
accounting estimates and related disclosures WwitAudit Committee of our Board of Directors.
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Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Our judgments and estimates with respect to the \ASB
and the Canadian defined benefit plan.

At December 31, 2014, our financial statementalideltwo
VEBASs, which we are required to reflect on our final
statements as defined benefit postretirement miggli@as,
despite our limited legal obligations to the VEBiAgegard
to those plans and a pension plan for our Candédility.
Liabilities and expenses for pension and otherrpistment
benefits are determined using actuarial methodesgnd
incorporate significant assumptions, including e used
to discount the future estimated liability, thedeterm rate o
return (“LTRR”) on plan assets and several asswnpti
relating to the employee workforce (i.e., salagréases,
medical costs, retirement age and mortality). Tlestm
significant assumptions used in determining tharesed
year-end obligations include the assumed discauat r
LTRR and medical trend rate.

In addition to the above assumptions used in theasial
valuation, changes in plan provisions could alseeta
material impact on the net funded status of the X&BOur
only obligations to the VEBAs are to pay up to $tillion
of administrative expenses per year and an anranahle
contribution amount based on the level of our dash. The
funding status of the VEBAs has no impact on ounuzh
variable contribution amount. We have no contraroany
aspect of the plans. We rely entirely on informatiwovided
to us by the VEBA administrators with respect teafic
plan provisions such as annual benefits expectée fmaid.
See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgs
included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Seppntary
Data” of this Report for additional information onr benefit
plans.

Since recorded obligations represent
the present value of expected
pension and postretirement benefit
payments over the life of the plans,
decreases in the discount rate (used
to compute the present value of the
payments) would cause the
estimated obligations to increase.
Conversely, an increase in the
discount rate would cause the
estimated present value of the
obligations to decline.

The LTRR on plan assets reflects an
assumption regarding what the
amount of earnings would be on
existing plan assets (before
considering any future contributions
to the plans). Increases in the
assumed LTRR would cause the
projected value of plan assets
available to satisfy pension and
postretirement obligations to
increase, yielding a reduced net
expense of these obligations. A
reduction in the LTRR would redu
the amount of projected net assets
available to satisfy pension and
postretirement obligations and, thus,
cause the net expense of these
obligations to increase.

As the assumed rate of increase in
medical costs goes up, so does the
net projected obligation. Converse
if the rate of increase was assumed
to be lower, the projected obligation
would decline.

A change in plan provisions could
cause the estimated obligations to
change. An increase in annual
benefits expected to be paid would
increase the estimated present value
of the obligations and conversely, a
decrease in annual benefits expected
to be paid would decrease the
estimated present value of the
obligations.
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The rate used to discount future
estimated liabilities is
determined taking into
consideration the rates available
at year end on debt instruments
that could be used to settle the
obligations of the plan. A
change in the discount rate of
1/4 of 1% would impact the
accumulated pension benefit
obligation by approximately
$13.9 million to $14.7 million il
relation to the VEBAS, impact
service and interest costs by
$0.3 million and impact 2015
expense by approximately $0.2
million to $0.3 million. The
LTRR on plan assets is
estimated by considering
historical returns and expected
returns on current and projected
asset allocations. A change in
the assumption for LTRR on
plan assets of 1/4 of 1% would
impact expense by
approximately $1.9 million in
2015 in relation to the VEBAs.

An increase/decrease in the
assumed medical trend rate of
1% would impact the
accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation by
approximately $29.9 million to
$37.7 million in relation to the
Union VEBA. An
increase/decrease in the
assumed medical trend rate of
1% would impact service and
interest costs by approximately
$2.0 million to $2.6 million in
relation to the Union VEBA.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Our judgments and estimates with respect to envirantal
commitments and contingencies

We are subject to a number of environmental lavas an
regulations, to potential fines or penalties assd$sr
alleged breaches of such laws and regulationsa@and t
potential claims and litigation based upon suchslawd
regulations. Based on our evaluation of environalent
matters, we have established environmental accgruals
primarily related to potential solid waste disposadl soil
and groundwater remediation matters. These envieoitah
accruals represent our estimate of costs reasoraphcted
to be incurred on a going concern basis in thenargt cours:
of business based on presently enacted laws anthtiegs,
currently available facts, existing technology aual
assessment of the likely remediation action tcalzen.

See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgs
included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Sep@ntary
Data” of this Report for additional information onr
environmental contingencies.

Our judgments and estimates with respect to legadl @ther
commitments and contingencies.

Valuation of legal and other contingent claimstibject to a
great deal of judgment and substantial uncertalgihder
GAAP, companies are required to accrue for loss
contingencies in their financial statements onlydth (i) the
potential loss is “probable” and (ii) the amount &érange)
of probable loss is “estimable.” In reaching a deiaation
of the probability of an adverse ruling in a mattee
typically consult outside experts. However, anyhsuc
judgments reached regarding probability are sultgect
significant uncertainty. We may, in fact, obtainaaverse
ruling in a matter that we did not consider a “@ble” loss
or “estimable” and which, therefore, was not acdrigr in
our financial statements. Additionally, facts and
circumstances can change causing key assumptiana/éne
used in previous assessments of a matter to change.

Making estimates of possible
incremental environmental
remediation costs is subject to

inherent uncertainties. In estimating

the amount of any loss, in many

instances a single estimation of the

loss may not be possible. Rather, we
may only be able to estimate a range
for possible losses. In such an event,

GAAP requires that a liability be

established for at least the minimum
end of the range assuming that there

is no other amount which is more
likely to occur. As additional facts
are developed and definitive
remediation plans and necessary
regulatory approvals for
implementation of remediation are
established or alternative

technologies are developed, changes
in these and other factors may result
in actual costs exceeding the current

environmental accruals.

In estimating the amount of any lo
in many instances a single
estimation of the loss may not be
possible. Rather, we may only be

able to estimate a range for possible

losses. In such an event, GAAP
requires that a liability be

established for at least the minimum
end of the range assuming that there

is no other amount which is more
likely to occur.
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Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be materially
different than those reflected in
our accruals. To the extent we
prevail in matters for which
reserves have been established
or are required to pay amounts
in excess of our reserves, our
future results from operations
could be materially affected.

Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be materially
different than those reflected in
our accruals. To the extent we
prevail in matters for which
reserves have been established
or are required to pay amounts
in excess of our reserves, our
future results from operations
could be materially affected.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Our judgments and estimates with respect to coruditl
asset retirement obligations.

We recognize conditional asset retirement obligetio
(“CAROSs") related to legal obligations associatethvihe
normal operations of certain of our facilities. $BeCAROs
consist primarily of incremental costs that wouéd b
associated with the removal and disposal of asbdatbof
which is believed to be fully contained and encigisd
within walls, floors, ceilings or piping) of certaof our older
facilities if such facilities were to undergo majenovation
or be demolished. There are currently plans fohsuc
renovation or demolition at certain facilities and
management’s current assessment is that certaiatenial
CAROs may be triggered during the next four yekos.
locations where there are no current plans forvations or
demolitions, the most probable scenario is such O&R
would not be triggered for 20 or more years, ilat

Under current accounting guidelines, liabilitieslaosts for
CAROs must be recognized in a company’s financial
statements even if it is unclear when or if the @ARIll be
triggered. If it is unclear when or if a CARO wlilé
triggered, companies are required to use probwbilit
weighting for possible timing scenarios to deterertine
probability-weighted amounts that should be recoeghin
the company’s financial statements.

The estimation of CAROs is subject
to a number of inherent uncertaint
including: (1) the timing of when
any such CARO may be incurred;
(2) the ability to accurately identify
all materials that may require spec
handling or treatment; (3) the ability
to reasonably estimate the total
incremental special handling and
other costs; (4) the ability to assess
the relative probability of different
scenarios which could give rise to a
CARO; and (5) other factors outside
a company’s control including
changes in regulations, costs and
interest rates. As such, actual costs
and the timing of such costs may
vary significantly from the
estimates, judgments and probable
scenarios we considered, which
could, in turn, have a material
impact on our future financial
statements.
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Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be materially
different than those reflected in
our accruals.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Our judgments and estimates with respect to seffurance
workers' compensation liabilities.

We are primarily self-insured for workers' compditsa
benefits provided to employees. Workers' compenisati
liabilities are estimated for incurred-but-not-reted claims
based on judgment, using our historical claims dath
information and analysis provided by actuarial ataim
advisors, our insurance carriers and other prajests. We
account for accrued liability relating to workers'
compensation claims on a discounted basis.

The accounting for our self-insured
workers' compensation plan involy
estimates and judgments to
determine our ultimate liability
related to reported claims and
incurred-but-not-reported claims.
We consider our historical
experience, severity factors,
actuarial analysis and existing stop
loss insurance in estimating our
ultimate insurance liability. In
addition, since recorded obligations
represent the present value of
expected payments over the life of
the claims, decreases in the discount
rate (used to compute the present
value of the payments) would cause
the estimated obligations to increz
Conversely, an increase in the
discount rate would cause the
estimated present value of expected
payments to decrease. If our
workers' compensation claim trends
were to differ significantly from our
historic claims experience and as the
discount rate changes, we would
make a corresponding adjustment to
our workers' compensation reserves.

44

The rate used to discount future
estimated workers'
compensation liabilities is
determined based on the U.S.
Treasury bond rate with a five-
year maturity date which
resembles the remaining
estimated life of the workers'
compensation claims. A change
in the discount rate of 1/4 of 1%
would impact the workers'
compensation liability and
operating income by
approximately $0.3 million.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Long-Lived Assets.

Long-lived assets other than goodwill and indedifived
intangible assets, which are separately testenrfoairment,
are evaluated for impairment whenever events ongbsin
circumstances indicate that the carrying value natybe
recoverable. When evaluating long-lived assetpé&dential
impairment, we first compare the carrying value¢haf asset
to the asset’s estimated future cash flows (undistea and
without interest charges). If the estimated fuash flows
are less than the carrying value of the asset,alilate an
impairment loss. The impairment loss calculatiompares
the fair value, which may be based on estimatagtéutash
flows (discounted and with interest charges) toasset's
carrying value. We recognize an impairment logbef
amount of the asset’s carrying value exceeds thet'as
estimated fair value. If we recognize an impairniess, the
adjusted carrying amount of the asset becomegvtscost
basis. For a depreciable long-lived asset, the gusivbasis
will be depreciated (amortized) over the remainisgful life
of that asset.

Our impairment loss calculations
contain uncertainties because they
require management to make
assumptions and apply judgment to
estimate future cash flows and asset
fair values, including forecasting
useful lives of the assets and
selecting the discount rate that
reflects the risk inherent in future
cash flows.
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We have not made any material
changes in our impairment loss
assessment methodology.

We do not believe there is a
reasonable likelihood that there
will be a material change in the
estimates or assumptions we
to calculate long-lived asset
impairment losses. However, if
actual results are not consistent
with our estimates and
assumptions used in estimating
future cash flows and asset fair
values, we may be exposed to
further losses from impairment
charges that could be material.

See Note 1 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8.
“Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this
Report for information
regarding impairment charges
taken on property, plant and
equipment.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Income Tax.

We have substantial tax attributes available teatfthe
impact of future income taxes. We have a processs fo
determining the need for a valuation allowance wéigpect
to these attributes. The process includes an extereview
of both positive and negative evidence includingearnings
history, future earnings, adverse recent occurignce
carryforward periods, an assessment of the indastdythe
impact of the timing differences.

We expect to record a full statutory tax provisiotiuture
periods and, therefore, the benefit of any taxliattes
realized will only affect future balance sheets atedlements
of cash flows.

In accordance with GAAP, financial statements faefim
periods include an income tax provision based en th
effective tax rate expected to be incurred in tineent year.

Inherent within the completion of
our assessment of the need for a
valuation allowance, we make
significant judgments and estimates
with respect to future operating
results, timing of the reversal of
deferred tax assets and current
market and industry factors. In order
to determine the effective tax rate to
apply to interim periods, estimates
and judgments are made (by taxable
jurisdiction) as to the amount of
taxable income that may be
generated, the availability of
deductions and credits expected and
the availability of net operating loss
carryforwards or other tax attributes
to offset taxable income.

Making such estimates and
judgments is subject to inherent
uncertainties given the difficulty of
predicting future market conditions,
customer requirements, the cost for
key inputs such as energy and
primary aluminum, overall operatil
efficiency and other factors.
However, if, among other things,
(1) actual results vary from our
forecasts due to one or more of the
factors cited above or elsewhere in
this Report, (2) income is distributed
differently than expected among tax
jurisdictions, (3) one or more

material events or transactions occur

which were not contemplated, or
(4) certain expected deductions,
credits or carryforwards are not
available, it is possible that the
effective tax rate for a year could
vary materially from the assessme
used to prepare the interim
consolidated financial statements.
See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in
Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Report
for additional discussion of these
matters.
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Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be material. A
change in our effective tax rate
by 1% would have had an
impact of approximately

$1.1 million to Net income for
the year ended December 31,
2014.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Tax Contingencies.

We use a “more likely than not” threshold for regibign of
tax attributes that are subject to uncertaintiesrapasure
reserves in respect of such expected benefits masttkir
probability. A number of years may elapse befopasicular
matter for which we have established a reservad#ed and
fully resolved or clarified. We adjust our tax reseand
income tax provision in the period in which actredults of
a settlement with tax authorities differs from established
reserve, the statute of limitations expires forrilevant tax
authority to examine the tax position or when more
information becomes available. See Note 5 of Nties
Consolidated Financial Statements included in 18m
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” isf th
Report for additional information on the recogmitiof tax
attributes.

Inventory Valuation.

We value our inventories at the lower of cost orkea
value. For the Fabricated Products segment, fidishe
products, work-in-process and raw material invaatoare
stated on a LIFO basis and other inventories, raily
operating supplies and repair and maintenance, [ags
stated at average cost.

Inventory costs consist of material, labor and nfiacturing
overhead, including depreciation. Abnormal cosishsas
idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs apdilage,
are accounted for as current period charges. \srdate
the market value of our inventories based on theeat
replacement cost, by purchase or by reproductixce that
it does not exceed the net realizable value aischivt less
than net realizable value reduced by an approximatenal
profit margin.

Our reserve for contingent tax
liabilities reflects uncertainties
because management is required to
make assumptions and to apply
judgment to estimate the exposures
associated with our various filing
positions.

Our effective income tax rate is also
affected by changes in tax law, the
tax jurisdiction of new plants or
business ventures, the level of
earnings and the results of tax
audits.

Our estimate of the market value of
our inventories contains
uncertainties because manageme
required to make assumptions and to
apply judgment to estimate the
selling price of our inventories, co:

to complete our inventories and
normal profit margin.

Making such estimates and
judgments is subject to inherent
uncertainties given the difficulty
predicting such factors as future
commaodity prices and market
conditions.
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Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be material.

To the extent we prevail in
matters for which reserves have
been established or are required
to pay amounts in excess of our
reserves, our effective income
tax rate in a given financial
statement period could be
materially affected. An
unfavorable tax settlement col
require use of our cash and
would result in an increase in
our effective income tax rate in
the period of resolution. A
favorable tax settlement would
be recognized as a reduction in
our effective income tax rate in
the period of resolution.

Our liability related to uncertain
tax positions at December 31,
2014 was $2.4 million.

Although we believe that the
judgments and estimates
discussed herein are reasonable
actual results could differ and
we may be exposed to losses or
gains that could be material.




Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Potential Effect if Actual Results
Differ From Assumptions

Convertible Notes and Option Assets.

The cash conversion feature of the Convertible 8latel the
Option Assets are accounted for as derivativeunsénts.
We measure the value of the cash conversion featutiee
difference between the estimated fair value of the
Convertible Notes and the estimated fair valuéhef t
Convertible Notes without the cash conversion featwe
value the Convertible Notes based on the tradifgg mf the
Convertible Notes and we value the Convertible Kote
without the cash conversion feature based on theeptt
value of the series of fixed income cash flows uride
Convertible Notes, with a maturity of April 1, 201Bue to
the short duration before maturity, management lcoiecl
that the fair value of the Option Assets shouldagdjue fair
value of the conversion feature as of DecembefG14.

Acquisitions, Goodwill and Intangible Assets.

We accounted for acquisitions using the acquisiti@tihod
of accounting, which requires the assets acquineld a
liabilities assumed to be recorded at the dategbigition at
their respective estimated fair values.

We recognize goodwill as of the acquisition daseaa
residual over the fair values of the identifiabtt assets
acquired. Goodwill is tested for impairment on anwal
basis as well as on an interim basis as eventslzambes in
circumstances occur.

Definite-lived intangible assets acquired are aimed over
the estimated useful lives of the respective asgeteflect
the pattern in which the economic benefits of titangible
assets are consumed. In the event the patternttheno
reliably determined, we use a straight-line amatitm
method. Whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the intangdmdsets may
not be recoverable, the intangible assets willdvéemwed for
impairment.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Significant inputs to the model
include the risk-free rate, credit
spread and the bid/ask prices of the
Convertible Notes, all of which are
observable inputs by market
participants. Our estimates of fair
value of the cash conversion feature
of the Convertible Notes and the
Option Assets contain uncertainties
given that a particular bid/ask price
of the Convertible Notes contains an
implied expected volatility of our
stock price and the probability of
certain corporate events. The
primary driver of fair values of both
the cash conversion feature of the
Convertible Notes and the Option
Assets is our stock price.

The judgments made in determining
the estimated fair value assigned to
each class of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, as well as asset
lives, can significantly impact our
results of operations. Fair values and
useful lives are determined based
among other factors, the expected
future period of benefit of the asset,
the various characteristics of the
asset and projected cash flows. As
the determination of an asset’s fair
value and useful life involves
management making certain
estimates and because these
estimates form the basis for the
determination of whether or not an
impairment charge should be
recorded, these estimates are
considered to be critical accounting
estimates.

As the fair value of the Option
Assets and the cash conversion
feature are the same, any
changes to our stock price
would have a zero impacton r
income and cash flow. We
therefore do not expect the net
change in the fair value of these
derivatives to have a material
impact to our financial
statements.

We do not believe there is a
reasonable likelihood that there
will be a material change in the
estimates or assumptions we

to calculate goodwill and
intangible assets. Additionally,
as of December 31, 2014, we do
not believe any of our reporting
units are at risk of failing step
one of the two-step goodwiill
impairment test. However, if
actual results are not consistent
with our estimates and
assumptions used in estimating
future cash flows and fair valu
assigned to each class of assets
acquired and liabilities assumt
we may be exposed to losses
from impairment charges that
could be material.

For a discussion of all recently adopted and régésgued but not yet adopted accounting pronouecesy see “New Accounting
Pronouncements” in Note 1 of Notes to Consolid&iedncial Statements included in Item 8. “Finan8tdtements and Supplementary Data”

of this Report.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarkRisk

Our operating results are sensitive to changesamptices of primary aluminum and fabricated alumirproducts and also depend to a
significant degree upon the volume and mix of edlducts sold. As discussed more fully in Note 1MNofes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statermemtd Supplementary Data” of this Report, we hastfically utilized hedging transactions
to lock in a specified price or range of pricesdertain products which we sell or consume in godpction process and to mitigate our
exposure to changes in energy prices and foreigemrecy exchange rates.

Aluminum

Our pricing of fabricated aluminum products is gailg intended to lock in a conversion margin (egenting the value added from the
fabrication process(es)) and to pass through rpeizé fluctuations to our customers. In certairntdnses, we enter into firprice arrangemen
with our customers for stipulated volumes to beveeéd in the future. Additionally, for some of duigher value added products sold on a spc
basis, the pass through of metal price movememtsametimes lag by as much as several months afdkiorable impact to us when metal
prices decline and an adverse impact to us wheal petes increase. Because we generally purchasany and secondary aluminum on a
floating price basis, volume that we have committedell to customers under a firm-price arrangdraed the lag in passing through metal
price movements to customers on some of our highlele added products sold on a spot basis creatts price risk for us. We use thipdity
hedging instruments to limit our exposure to mptate risks related to firm-price customer salestaxts and the metal pass through lag on
some of our products. (See Note 10 of Notes to @lafeted Financial Statements included in ItemRBnancial Statements and Supplementar
Data” of this Report.)

During 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , total Fabricated Bctslshipments that contained firm-price terms wierenillions of pounds) 138.31,19.8
and 178.8 , respectively. At December 31, 2014 Rabricated Products segment held contracts éodelivery of fabricated aluminum
products that had price risk on anticipated purebas aluminum for 2015 totaling approximately tiillions of pounds) 67.2 and for 20&6de
minimis amount.

Based on the aluminum derivative positions heldi®yo hedge firm-price customer sales agreemegtgsiimate that a $0.10 per pound
decrease in the LME market price of aluminum, wiifother variables held constant, would have teduih unrealized mark-to-market losses
of $6.7 million and $6.4 million on December 31120and December 31, 2013, respectively, with spoading changes to the net fair value
of our aluminum derivative positions. Additionallye estimate that a $0.01 per pound decrease Mitheest premium for aluminum, with all
other variables held constant, would have resuftethrealized mark-to-market losses of $0.7 millaord $0.6 million on December 31, 2014
and December 31, 2013, respectively. The balasfcgsch financial instruments may change in fupggods and therefore the amounts
discussed above may not be indicative of futuraltes

Foreign Currency

Our primary foreign exchange exposure is the opeyaiosts of our London, Ontario facility. A 10%atige in the Canadian dollar
exchange rate is estimated to have an annual aperatst impact of $2.0 million . Additionally, atcasion cash commitments for equipment
purchases denominated in foreign currencies cfeetégn currency exchange rate exposure and wergnbedge such exposure with foreign
exchange forward contracts. Our foreign currenajgirgg transactions have been immaterial.

Energy

We are exposed to energy price risk from fluctugaprices for natural gas and electricity. We estinthat, before consideration of any
hedging activities and the potential to pass thhduigher natural gas and electricity prices to @augrs, each $1.00 change in natural gas prict
(per mmBtu) and electricity prices (per mwh) woirtghact our 2015 annual operating costs by approein&4.0 million and $0.5 million ,
respectively. We, from time to time, in the ordyaourse of business, enter into hedging transaetidth third parties to mitigate our risk
from fluctuations in natural gas and electricitjcps.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had Henry Hub NYMEXdthhedge positions in place to cover our expdsuitactuations in natural gas
prices for approximately 81% , 73% and 12% of thgeeted natural gas purchases for 2015 , 2016 @hd 2respectively. We estimate that a
$1.00 per mmbtu decrease in natural gas pricesdataute resulted in unrealized mark-to-market losg&.7 million and $6.5 million on
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 , respBctivith corresponding changes to the net faiu@aif our natural gas derivative
positions.

Additionally, as of December 31, 2014 , we had Igidnternational Commodity Exchange-based hedgdiposj as well as physical
delivery commitments with energy companies in pliaceover our exposure to fluctuations in electyigrices for approximately 44% of the
expected electricity purchases for 2015 . We esérnimt a $5.00 per mwh decrease in electricity

49




prices would have resulted in unrealized mark-toksiglosses of $0.9 million and $1.9 million on Bewer 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013
respectively, with corresponding changes to thdaietzalue of our electricity derivative positians

The balances of such financial instruments for ieglgf natural gas and electricity may change i@ periods however, and therefore the
amounts discussed above may not be indicativetofduesults.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation
Foothill Ranch, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and SuésidCompanies (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related cdasedl statements of income, comprehensive incamss)(Istockholders' equity, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended Decedih014. We also have audited the Company'snalteontrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on criteria establishédemal Control - Integrated Framework (2013lés by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Camsananagement is responsible for these finastaéments, for maintaining effective intel
control over financial reporting, and for its assaent of the effectiveness of internal control dirgaincial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Ci@ancial Reporting. Our responsibility is to esgg an opinion on these financial statements
and an opinion on the Company's internal contrer dwancial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBiqUnited States). Those standards requir
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtnassurance about whether the financial statsraes free of material misstatement and whether
effective internal control over financial reportingis maintained in all material respects. Our augfithe financial statements included examinimga
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts actbdiges in the financial statements, assessingdbeunting principles used and significant estas
made by management, and evaluating the overalidinhstatement presentation. Our audit of intecaaltrol over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugsncial reporting, assessing the risk that aemi@tweakness exists, and testing and evaluatiag t
design and operating effectiveness of internalrobbiased on the assessed risk. Our audits alaaded performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. Wevbdliat our audits provide a reasonable basisubopinions.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed by, or under the supenvisi the company's principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performisignilar functions, and effected by the compangar of directors, management, and other personn
to provide reasonable assurance regarding thdildlieof financial reporting and the preparatiohfimancial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipleez A company's internal control over finaneggborting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records thatasonable detail, accurately and fairly ietftbe transactions and dispositions of the asdete
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance thatactions are recorded as necessary to permit pitegraof financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, andréipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (®jge reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company's assets thdtidmve a material effect on the financial statetsie

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolnover financial reporting, including the pogktp of collusion or improper management override
of controls, material misstatements due to errdraard may not be prevented or detected on a tifpadys. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over finahoégorting to future periods are subject to tts& that the controls may become inadequate becduse
changes in conditions, or that the degree of canpék with the policies or procedures may detegorat

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteerferred to above present fairly, in all mateeapects, the financial position of Kaiser Alunmin
Corporation and Subsidiary Companies as of Dece®hbe2014 and 2013, and the results of their ojmersitand their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2014, ifoomity with accounting principles generally acagbin the United States of America. Also, in
opinion, the Company maintained, in all materialects, effective internal control over financigborting as of December 31, 2014, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control - IntegdfFramework (2013) issued by the Committee of Spang Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Costa Mesa, California
February 19, 2015
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2014 December 31, 2013

(In millions of dollars, except share and per
share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1777 % 169.5
Short-term investments 114.( 129.5
Receivables:
Trade receivables — net 129.: 119.¢
Other 10.¢ 134
Inventories 214.7 214.¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 178.¢ 44.7
Total current assets 825.2 690.¢
Property, plant and equipment — net 454 ¢ 429.3
Net asset of VEBAs 340.1 406.(
Deferred tax assets — net (including deferred itbillty relating to the VEBAs of $120.6 at Decemi3d, 2014
and $152.4 at December 31, 2013 - see Note 5) 30.¢ 69.1
Intangible assets — net 32.1 33.7
Goodwill 37.2 37.2
Other assets 23.: 104.¢
Total $ 1,743, $ 1,770.¢

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 814 $ 62.¢
Accrued salaries, wages and related expenses 39.€ 427
Other accrued liabilities 132.¢ 44
Current portion of long-term debt 172.5 —
Short-term capital leases 0.1 0.2
Total current liabilities 426. 150.€
Net liability of VEBA 17.2 —
Deferred tax liabilities 0.¢ 1.2
Long-term liabilities 58.2 146.4
Long-term debt 225.( 388.t
Total liabilities 727.¢ 686.7

Commitments and contingencies — Note 9

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, 5,000,000 shares authorized htetember 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013; nosha®e
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 aneinilesr 31, 2013 — —

Common stock, par value $0.01, 90,000,000 shatker@zed at both December 31, 2014 and December 31,
2013; 21,197,164 shares issued and 17,607,251sshiatstanding at December 31, 2014; 21,103,70@shar

issued and 18,147,017 shares outstanding at Dec&hp2013 0.2 0.2
Additional paid in capital 1,028.: 1,023.:
Retained earnings 280.¢ 233.¢
Treasury stock, at cost, 3,589,913 shares at Deme®ih 2014 and 2,956,683 shares at December 23, 20 (297.7) (152.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (96.]) (20.7)
Total stockholders’ equity 1,015.¢ 1,084.;
Total $ 1,743 % 1,770.¢

The accompanying notes to consolidated financééstents are an integral part of these statements.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S

STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED INCOME

Net sales
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold:

Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation amdrization and other
items

Unrealized losses (gains) on derivative instruments
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, administrative, research and developmedtgeneral:
Selling, administrative, research and developmedtgeneral
Net periodic pension benefit income relating to \ASB
Total selling, administrative, research and develept and general
Other operating charges, net
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense
Other income, net (see Note 15)
Income before income taxes
Income tax provision
Net income

Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted-average number of common shares outstgufidithousands):
Basic
Diluted

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékgstents are an integral part of these statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

2014

2013

2012

(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts)

1,356. 1,297.F $ 1,360.
1,117.8 1,038.¢ 1,116.
10.2 (0.7) (15.9)
31.1 28.1 26.
81.2 80.4 74.1
(23.7) (22.5) (11.9
57.7 57.¢ 62.2
1.5 — 4E
1,218.: 1,124.: 1,194.:
137.¢ 173.: 165.¢
(37.5) (35.7) (29.1)
6.7 5.6 2.8
107.1 143.C 139.€
(35.9) (38.4) (53.9)
71.¢ 104.6  $ 85.¢
4.0z 55¢ $ 4.4¢
3.8€ 544 $ 4.4F
17,81¢ 18,82’ 19,11¢
18,59: 19,24¢ 19,27¢




KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(In millions of dollars)
Net income $ 71.¢ $ 104.¢ $ 85.¢
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Defined benefit pension plan and VEBASs:
Total actuarial (loss) gain and prior service costs (129.5) 2.2 87.¢
Reclassification adjustments:
Amortization of net actuarial (gain) loss (1.9 1.5 3.1
Amortization of prior service cost 10.€ 4.2 4.2
Other comprehensive (loss) income relating to @efibenefit pension plan ai
VEBASs (220.7) 7.8 95.1
Available for sale securities:
Unrealized (loss) gain on available for sale se¢iegri (0.2 0 0.€
Reclassification adjustments:
Reclassification of unrealized loss upon sale a@ilable for sale securities (0.2) (1.0 —
Other comprehensive (loss) income relating to abéél for sale securities 0.3 — 0.€
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.4 0.2 (0.2)
Other comprehensive (loss) income, before tax (120.¢) 8.1 95.k
Income tax benefit (expense) related to items leéiotomprehensive income
(loss) 45.2 (2.9) (36.5)
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax (75.9) 5.3 59.C
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (36 $ 1101 $ 144.¢

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékgstents are an integral part of these statements.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common
Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid In
Capital

Common
Stock
Owned by
Union
VEBA
Subject to

Retained Transfer Treasury
Earnings Restriction Stock

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total

BALANCE, January 1, 2012 19,253,18
Net income —

Other comprehensive income, net of ta —

Release of restriction on Union VEBA
shares, net of tax of $41.3 —

Issuance of non-vested shares to
employees and non-employee directors 92,94¢

Issuance of common shares to non-
employee directors 3,93(

Issuance of common shares to employ:
upon vesting of restricted stock units ar
performance shares 11,325

Cancellation of employee non-vested
shares (2,35%)

Cancellation of shares to cover
employees’ tax withholdings upon vesti
of non-vested shares (45,807)

Cash dividends on common stock ($1.00
per share) —

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-
vested shares and dividend payment ol
unvested shares expected to vest —

Amortization of unearned equity
compensation —

Dividends on unvested equity awards tl
were canceled =

0.2

$ 998.4

(In millions of dollars, except for shares)
$ 84.. % (529 $
85.¢ —

— 52.¢

(19.6) —

0.€ —

(72.9

$

(85.0

59.(

$

872.¢
85.¢
59.(

67.5

2.2)

(19.6)

5.€

0.€

BALANCE, December 31, 2012 19,313,23

$ 1,017.

$ 151 % — 3

$

(26.0

$

1,070.¢

Net income —

Other comprehensive income, net of tax —
Issuance of non-vested shares to
employees and non-employee directors 76,33¢

Issuance of common shares to non-
employee directors 2,91¢

Issuance of common shares to employ:
upon vesting of restricted stock units ar
performance shares 36,50:

Cancellation of employee non-vested

shares (820)
Cancellation of shares to cover

employees’ tax withholdings upon vesti

of non-vested shares (40,07%)

Repurchase of common stock (1,232,07)

Distribution from third-party trust (9,007)
Cash dividends on common stock ($1.20
per share) —

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non:
vested shares and dividend payment ol
unvested shares expected to vest —

Amortization of unearned equity
compensation —

Dividends on unvested equity awards t
were canceled =

(2.9

1.1

6.€

$ 104.¢ 3 =

(23.0) —

0.2 —

(79.9)
(0.6)

$

5.2

$

104.¢
5.2

(2.5
(79.9)

(23.0

1.1
6.€

0.z

BALANCE, December 31, 2013 18,147,01

$ 1,023

$ 2338 $ — $ (152

$

(20.%)

$

1,084.:

Net income —

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax —

Issuance of non-vested shares to
employees and non-employee directors 119,79¢

$ —

$ 7€ $ — 3

$

(75.9)

$

71.¢
(75.9)



Issuance of common shares to non-
employee directors

Issuance of common shares to employ:
upon vesting of restricted stock units ar
performance shares

Cancellation of employee non-vested
shares

Cancellation of shares to cover
employees’ tax withholdings upon vesti
of non-vested shares

Repurchase of common stock

Cash dividends on common stock ($1.¢
per share)

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-
vested shares and dividend payment on
unvested shares expected to vest
Amortization of unearned equity
compensation

Dividends on unvested equity awards that
were canceled

BALANCE, December 31, 2014

2,96¢ — 0.2 — — — 0.2
44,89t — — = — — -
(40,509 — — — — — —
(33,69 — (X)) — — — (2.9)
(633,23() — — — (44.9 — (44.9
— — = (25.4) — = (25.9

— — 0. — — — 0.6

_ _ 6.8 — — — 6.€

— — — 0.2 — — 0.2
17,607,25 0.2 10288 $ 280 $ $  (97.) $ (96.) $ 1,015.

The accompanying notes to consolidated financékstents are an integral part of these statements.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activities:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuancéscos
Deferred income taxes

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested stemd dividend payment on unvested

shares expected to vest
Non-cash equity compensation
Non-cash unrealized losses (gains) on derivatisguiments
Amortization of option premiums (received) paidt ne
Non-cash impairment charges
Losses (gains) on disposition of property, plarmt aguipment
Losses (gains) on disposition of available for saleurities
Non-cash defined benefit net periodic benefit ineom
Other non-cash changes in assets and liabilities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current adsets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities'
Annual variable cash contributions to VEBAs
Payable to affiliate
Long-term assets and liabilities, Aet
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activitiés
Capital expenditures
Purchase of available for sale securities
Proceeds from disposition of available for saleusées
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and egeig
Change in restricted cash
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activiti€s
Proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes
Payment of capital lease liability
Repayment of promissory notes
Cash paid for financing costs

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested shamd dividend payment on unveste
shares expected to vest

Cancellation of shares to cover employees' taxhwitltings upon vesting of non-vested
shares

Repurchase of common stock
Cash dividend paid to stockholders
Cash dividend returned to the Company
Net cash (used in) provided bv financina activi

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(In millions of dollars)

71 $ 104.¢ % 85.¢
29.t 26.4 247
16 1.7 1.8
11.€ 11.C 9.8
34.c 55.4 52.C
(0.9 (1.3 1.9
7.C 6.8 5.8
6.8 3.9 (16.0
— (0.2) 0.3
1.t — 4.4
0.2 0.1 (0.2)
0.1 (0.9 —
(23.5) (22.0) (115
0.€ 9.9 1.2
(7.0) 3.9 (27.)
(0.3 (28.9) 19.7
(0.6 1.1 14
20.3 (1.6) 2.9
(6.0 1.6 10.4
(26.0 (20.0 —
— (7.9 (6.5)
(7.2) 0.€ (2.2
124.1 1115 152.¢
(59.9 (70.9 (44.7)
(93.5) (227.9) (85.0
108.2 183.1 —
— — 0.3
— 1.7 6.C
(44.9) (113.9 (121.9
— — 225.C
(0.3 (0.3 (0.2
— — (4.7)
— — (6.€)
0.8 1.1 1.3
(2.9 (2.5) (2.2
(44.7) (78.9) —
(25.9) (23.0 (19.6)
— 0.€ —
(71.2) (102.2) 193.1



8.2 (103.9) 223.6
169.F 273.4 49.
$ 1777 $ 169.F $ 273.4

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalenng the period
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

! Excludes the reclassification of derivatives relgtio the Company's cash convertible senior notes fong-term to current as the amounts
have no impact on cash flow - see Note 3 and Nbte 1

2 See Note 14 for the supplemental disclosure oncash-transactior

The accompanying notes to consolidated financéésatents are an integral part of these statements.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In millions of dollars, except share and per sharamounts and as otherwise indicated)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Nature of Operatiori§aiser Aluminum Corporation (together with its sigligries, unless the context otherwise requires
the “Company”) specializes in the production of séabricated specialty aluminum products, suchlamaum sheet and plate and extruded
and drawn products, primarily used in aerospack/sigength, automotive, general engineering androtfdustrial end market applications.
The Company has one operating segment, Fabricatelli®s. See Note 13 for additional informationargling the Company's reportable
segment and business unit.

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of PresemtatiThe consolidated financial statements include tie@ants of the Company and its
wholly owned subsidiaries and are prepared in alzoare with United States generally accepted actwuptinciples (“GAAP”) and the rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Oesiom (the “SEC”). Intercompany balances and @atisns are eliminated.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financiat&mentsThe preparation of financial statements in accardamith GAAP requires the
use of estimates and assumptions that affect thwrted amounts of assets and liabilities, disclesdircontingent assets and liabilities known tc
exist as of the date the financial statements abdighed and the reported amounts of revenuesxgehees during the reporting period.
Uncertainties with respect to such estimates asdnagtions are inherent in the preparation of then@any’s consolidated financial statements
accordingly, it is possible that the actual rescadtsld differ from these estimates and assumptiwhgh could have a material effect on the
reported amounts of the Company’s consolidatedhiiz position and results of operations.

Recognition of SaleSales are generally recognized on a gross basis alhef the following criteria are met: (i) persise evidence of an
arrangement exists; (ii) title, ownership and aghoss has passed to the customer; (iii) the godée customer is fixed or determinable; and
(iv) collection of the resulting receivable is renably assured. A provision for estimated salagrmstfrom and allowances to, customers is
made in the same period as the related revenuesargnized, based on historical experience ospleeific identification of an event
necessitating a reserve.

From time to time, in the ordinary course of buss)ghe Company may enter into agreements witloress in which the Company, in
return for a fee, agrees to reserve certain amanfrits existing production capacity for the cuswndefer an existing customer purchase
commitment into future periods and reserve ceranounts of its expected production capacity inehperiods for the customer, or cancel or
reduce existing commitments under existing congtalhese agreements may have terms or impact pexianteding one year.

Certain of the capacity reservation and commitnadeférral agreements provide for periodic, suchuasterly or annual, billing for the
duration of the contract. For capacity reservatigreements, the Company recognizes revenue ratadhthe period of the capacity
reservation. Accordingly, the Company may recogn&enue prior to billing reservation fees. Unhllieceivables are included within Trade
receivables on the Company's Consolidated BalaheetS (see Note 2 ). For commitment deferral agea&snthe Company recognizes
revenue upon the earlier occurrence of the relsadzlof product or the end of the commitment perfiimdtonnection with other agreements, the
Company may collect funds from customers in advari¢be periods for which (i) the production cappés$ reserved; (i) commitments are
deferred; (iii) commitments are reduced; or (ivifpemance is completed, in which event the recagnibf revenue is deferred until the fee is
earned. Any unearned fees are included within Caberued liabilities or Long-term liabilities, agpmopriate, on the Company's Consolidated
Balance Sheets (see Note 2).

Stock-Based Compensati@tock-based compensation in the form of servicedbasvards is provided to executive officers, cartai
employees and non-employee directors and is aceddat at fair value. The Company measures theafastrvices received in exchange for
an award of equity instruments based on the grarg-fir value of the award and the number of asasghected to ultimately vest. The grant-
date fair value is determined based on the stack n the date of grant, adjusted for expecteitldihds to be paid during the vesting period.

The Company also grants performance-based awasdetutive officers and other key employees. Perémce awards granted prior to
2014 are subject to performance conditions pertgitd specified financial metrics and are valueskldeon the stock price at the date of grant,
adjusted for expected dividends to be paid dutirgviesting period. Performance awards granted1d 20e subject to performance conditions
pertaining to total shareholder return and areadlon the date of grant using a Monte Carlo vadmatiodel. The key assumptions in applying
this model are an expected volatility and a riglefinterest rate. For more information on the Camgjsastock-based compensation, see Note !
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The cost of service-based awards, including timstedrestricted stock and performance sharesagnized as an expense over the
requisite service period of the award on a straliglet basis. For performance shares, the relatpdrese is updated quarterly by adjusting the
estimated number of shares expected to vest bastiak anost probable outcome of the performanceitondsee Note 8 ).

Shipping and Handling CostShipping and handling costs are recorded as a coempof Cost of products sold, excluding depreciati
amortization and other items.

Advertising CostsAdvertising costs, which are included in Sellindpanistrative, research and development and gersmakxpensed as
incurred. Advertising costs for 2014 , 2013 and20kre $0.6 , $1.3 and $0.4 , respectively.

Research and Development Co&ssearch and development costs, which are inclun®dlling, research and development and geneg
expensed as incurred. Research and developmentfoo2014 , 2013 and 2012 were $8.9 , $7.8 andl $@&spectively.

Major Maintenance ActivitieAll major maintenance costs are accounted for utfieglirect expensing method.

Cash and Cash Equivalenihe Company considers only those short-term, hiilyd investments with original maturities of é@ys or
less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The@&uyis cash equivalents consist primarily of fuimdsommercial paper, savings accounts,
demand notes, money market funds and other higiuydl investments, which are classified within LeVeof the fair value hierarchy with the
exception of commercial paper, which is classifiethin Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Restricted CashiThe Company is required to keep certain amounteposit relating to workers’ compensation and o#tggeements. The
Company accounts for such deposits as restricted (s@e Note 2 ).

Trade Receivables and Allowance for Doubtful Actedrrade receivables primarily consist of amountselilo customers for products
sold. Accounts receivable are generally due wigfirio 60 days . For the majority of its receivaptee Company establishes an allowance for
doubtful accounts based upon collection experi@meckother factors. On certain other receivablesavtiee Company is aware of a specific
customer’s inability or reluctance to pay, an abmwe for doubtful accounts is established agamstuats due, to reduce the net receivable
balance to the amount the Company reasonably exfecbllect. However, if circumstances change Qbmpany’s estimate of the
recoverability of accounts receivable could beat#ht. Circumstances that could affect the Comgaestimates include, but are not limited to
customer credit issues and general economic conditiAccounts are written off once deemed to bellextible. Any subsequent cash
collections relating to accounts that have beewipusly written off are typically recorded as awetion to total bad debt expense in the perioc
of payment.

Inventorieslnventories are stated at the lower of cost or miavklue. Finished products, work-in-process amdmeaterial inventories are
stated on the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) basis. & bxcesses of current cost over the stated LIF@evaf inventory at December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013 were $37.6 and $0.4 , respegti@ther inventories, principally operating suppland repair and maintenance parts, are
stated at average cost. Inventory costs consistabérial, labor and manufacturing overhead, incigdiepreciation. Abnormal costs, such as
idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs apdilage, are accounted for as current periodgesarAll of the Company's inventories at
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 were iedlidthe Fabricated Products segment (see NaietBd components of inventories).

Property, Plant and Equipment - N&toperty, plant and equipment is recorded at gest Note 2 ). Construction in progress is included
within Property, plant and equipment - net on tlom&blidated Balance Sheets. Interest related todhstruction of qualifying assets is
capitalized as part of the construction costs. ddgregate amount of interest capitalized is limitethe interest expense incurred in the perioc
The amount of interest expense capitalized as rari&in in progress was $2.5, $3.4 and $1.7 du2biy , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-linehod at rates based on the estimated useful liv#®eosarious classes of assets. Capital
lease assets and leasehold improvements are depreon a straight-line basis over the shortehefestimated useful lives of the assets or the
lease term. The principal estimated useful livesee follows:
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Range (in years)

Land improvements 3-25
Buildings and leasehold improvements 15 - 45
Machinery and equipment 1-24
Capital lease assets 3-5

Depreciation expense is not included in Cost ofipots sold, excluding depreciation and amortizasiod other items , but is included in
Depreciation and amortization on the Statemen@arfsolidated Income. For 2014 , 2013 and 2012 Ctrapany recorded depreciation
expense of $29.0 , $25.8 and $24.2 , respectivelgting to the Company's operating facilitiests\frabricated Products segment. An
immaterial amount of depreciation expense wasrasorded within All Other for all periods presenteztein.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impent whenever events or changes in circumstaincésate that the carrying amount
of the asset or group of assets may not be recoleerBhe Company regularly assesses whether eaadtsircumstances with the potential to
trigger impairment have occurred and relies onraber of factors, including operating results, bassplans, economic projections and
anticipated future cash flow, to make such assestsm€he Company uses an estimate of the futurescmghted cash flows of the related asse
or asset group over the estimated remaining lifsuch asset(s) in measuring whether the assef(s¢eoverable. Measurement of the amount
of impairment, if any, is based on the differeneéaeen the carrying value of the asset(s) andgtimated fair value of such asset(s). Fair
value is determined through a series of standdrdatian techniques.

During 2014 and 2012, the Company determined ndepdoy some of its property, plant and equipmetd ffor future development and
recorded impairment charges of $1.5 and $4.4 easgly, to reflect the scrap value of such asSdtere were no impairment charges in
2013 . Asset impairment charges are included ireOdperating charges, net in the Statements of@idased Income and are included in the
Fabricated Products segment.

Available for Sale Securitie$he Company accounts for investments in certairketable debt securities as available for sale gesur
Such securities are recorded at fair value (sei \Rdues of Financial Assets and Liabilitiegwvailable for Sale Securitiesh Note 11 ), with
net unrealized gains and losses, net of incomestagélected in accumulated other comprehensiveniec(loss) as a component of
Stockholders' equity. Realized gains and lossen fre sale of marketable debt securities, if any determined on a specific identification
basis. Debt investment securities with an originaturity of 90 days or less are classified as Gashcash equivalents (see Note 2 ). Debt
investment securities with an original maturitygoéater than 90 days are presented as Short-teastiments on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. In addition to debt investment securitiess Company also holds assets in various investfoads managed by a third-party trust in
connection with the Company's deferred compensatiogram (see Note 6 ).

Deferred Financing Cost€osts incurred in connection with debt financing deferred and amortized over the estimated tereofelater
borrowing. Such amortization is included in Intérespense and may be capitalized as part of cari&truin progress (see Note 2 and Note 3)

Goodwill and Intangible Asset&oodwill is tested for impairment during the fougharter on an annual basis, as well as on arirmteasis
as warranted, at the time of relevant events aad@és in circumstances. Intangible assets witmitiefives are initially recognized at fair
value and subsequently amortized over the estimsagefill lives to reflect the pattern in which tlemeomic benefits of the intangible assets ar
consumed. In the event the pattern cannot be heldgdiermined, the Company uses a straight-lineramation method. Whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the cargingunt of the intangible assets may not be reedierthe intangible assets are reviewet
impairment. A significant amount of synergies résgl from the acquisition of the Company's Floremskabama facility was realized by its
Newark, Ohio and Jackson, Tennessee manufactuaailgi€s, which, when combined with the Florend&gbama facility, are managed intc
coordinated manner and comprise the Company'sdiladrod, bar and wire value chain. Managemengmeined that the hard alloy rod, bar
and wire value chain should be considered one tiegaunit for the purpose of performing the Compargoodwill impairment test related to
the Florence, Alabama facility acquisition. The Qrany concluded there was no impairment of the @agryalue of goodwill at December 31,
2014 or December 31, 2013 ( Note 4).

Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (“CAROs'he Company has CAROs at several of its Fabricateducts facilities. The vast
majority of such CAROs consist primarily of incremt& costs that would be associated with the retrava disposal of asbestos (all of which
is believed to be fully contained and encapsulatitain walls, floors, roofs, ceilings or
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piping) at certain of the Comparsydlder facilities if such facilities were to ungermajor renovation or be demolished. The Compatiynate:
incremental costs for special handling, removal disdosal costs of materials that may or will gie to CAROs and then discounts the
expected costs back to the current year usingdit@djusted, risk-free rate. When it is uncleaewtor if CAROs will be triggered, the
Company uses probability weighting for possibleitignscenarios to determine the probability-weigHtakiility amounts that should be
recognized in the Company’s consolidated finanstalements (see Note 11 ).

Self Insurance of Employee Health and Workers' Gorsgtion Liabilities The Company is primarily self-insured for grougatth
insurance and workers' compensation benefits peavid employees. Self insurance liabilities ar@vested for incurred-but-not-paid claims
based on judgment, using the Company's historlaahs data and information and analysis provideddtyarial and claims advisors, the
Company's insurance carriers and other professoake Company's undiscounted workers' compenskdioifities were estimated at $25.9
and $29.1 at December 31, 2014 and December 33, ,2@%pectively. However, the Company account#darorkers' compensation accrued
liability on a discounted basis, using a discoame of 1.75% at both December 31, 2014 and DeceB81h&013 . The accrued liabilities for
health insurance and workers' compensation is dledun Other accrued liabilities or Long-term lighgs, as appropriate (see Note 2 ).

Environmental Contingencie¥/ith respect to environmental loss contingencies,Gompany records a loss contingency whenever a
contingency is probable and reasonably estimable Kote 9 ). Accruals for estimated losses fromrenmental remediation obligations are
generally recognized no later than the completicth@® remedial feasibility study. Such accrualsadpisted as information develops or
circumstances change. Costs of future expendifarenvironmental remediation obligations are nistdunted to their present value. Accrt
for expected environmental costs are included me©accrued liabilities or Long-term liabilitiess appropriate (see Note 2 ). Environmental
expense relating to continuing operations is inetuoh Cost of products sold, excluding depreciatind amortization and other items in the
Statements of Consolidated Income. Environmenta¢ege relating to non-operating locations is inetlich Selling, administrative, research
and development and general in the Statements médlidated Income.

Derivative Financial Instrument$ledging transactions using derivative financiatimsients are primarily designed to mitigate the
Company's exposure to changes in prices for cepraiducts sold and consumed by the Company arallgsser extent, to mitigate the
Company's exposure to changes in foreign currerclyamge rates. From time to time, the Companyaiders into hedging arrangements in
connection with financing transactions to mitigéancial risks.

The Company does not utilize derivative finanamstiuments for trading or other speculative purpofbe Company's derivative activities
are initiated within guidelines established by nggeraent and approved by the Company's Board of DirecHedging transactions are
executed centrally on behalf of all of the Compamgerations to minimize transaction costs, momitmsolidated net exposures and allow for
increased responsiveness to changes in marketgacto

The Company recognizes all derivative instrumeatassets or liabilities in its Consolidated BalaSbeets and measures these instrumen
at fair value by “marking-to-market” all of its hgidhg positions at each period's end (see Note B&dause the Company does not meet the
documentation requirements for hedge (deferralp@acting, unrealized and realized gains and lossescéated with hedges of operational ri
are reflected as a reduction or increase, resgdygtiln Cost of products sold - Unrealized losggsr(s) on derivative instrumerdasd unrealize
and realized gains and losses relating to hedgisaosfcing transactions are reflected as a comparfe@ther income (expense) (see Note 15)
See Note 10 for additional information about resdizand unrealized gains and losses relating t€tmepany's derivative financial instruments.

Fair Value Measurement$he Company applies the provisions of Accountirgn8ards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 826air Value
Measurements and Disclosul, in measuring the fair value of its derivative tants and plan assets invested by certain of tregany’s
employee benefit plans (see Note 11).

Fair value is defined as the price that would leeireed to sell an asset or paid to transfer alitgih an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The faireviaierarchy consists of three broad levels andleseribed below:

» Level 1— Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets thahecessible at the measurement date for identinedstricted assets or
liabilities.
e Level 2— Inputs other than quoted prices included withindlelvthat are observable for the asset or liahiétther directly or

indirectly, including: quoted prices for similarsas$s or liabilities in active markets and quoteidgs for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active; inpatker than quoted prices that are
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observable for the asset or liability (e.g., ing¢mates); and inputs that are derived principfatiyn or corroborated by observable
market data by correlation or other means.

e Level 3— Inputs that are both significant to the fair valneasurement and unobserva

Income TaxedDeferred income taxes reflect the future tax efetédemporary differences between the carrying amofiassets and
liabilities for financial and income tax reportiagd are measured by applying statutory tax rate$féct for the year during which the
differences are expected to reverse. In accordaitbeASC Topic 740Jncome Taxesthe Company uses a “more likely than not” thrésiior
recognition of tax attributes that are subjectrioartainties and measures any reserves in respgatlo expected benefits based on their
probability. Deferred tax assets are reduced bglaation allowance to the extent it is more likiddgn not that the deferred tax assets will not
be realized (see Note 5).

Net Income per SharBasic net income per share is computed by dividisgributed and undistributed net income allocableommon
shares by the weighted-average number of commaesbatstanding during the applicable period. Témdweighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period exsludgested share-based payment awards. Dilutddamehe per share was calculated
under the treasury stock method for 2014, 2013284@, which in all years was more dilutive thantilve-class method (see Note 12 ).

Concentration of Credit Riskinancial arrangements which potentially subjeet@ompany to concentrations of credit risk corsishetal,
natural gas, electricity and foreign currency datiive contracts, certain cash-settled call optibias the Company purchased in March 2010
(the “Option Assets”) (see Note 3 ) and arrangemeziated to the Company's cash equivalents amtHsnm investments. If the market value
of the Company's net commodity and currency dexiggiositions with certain counterparties excedésapplicable threshold, if any, the
counterparty is required to post margin by trangfgrcash collateral in excess of the thresholthéoCompany. Conversely, if the market value
of these net derivative positions falls below ac#iped threshold, the Company is required to poatgim by transferring cash collateral below
the threshold to certain counterparties. At botieddeber 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 , the Contmthyo margin deposits with or from
its counterparties.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the esEnbnperformance by counterparties on derivativetracts used in hedging activities as
well as failure of counterparties to return cashateral previously transferred to the countergatiThe counterparties to the Company's
derivative contracts are major financial institascand the Company does not expect nonperformgnaaybof its counterparties.

The Company places its cash in commercial papeingsaccounts, demand notes and money market.f@uth money market funds are
with high credit quality financial institutions wdh invest primarily in commercial paper and timgakts of prime quality, short-term
repurchase agreements and U.S. government agetes: no

For information about concentration risks concegrinstomers and suppliers, see Note 13 .

Concentration of Labor Subject to Collective Bargag AgreementsAt December 31, 2014, approximately 63% of thenBany's
employees were covered by collective bargainingeaments and the Company had collective bargairgngeanents with expiration dates in
2015 covering approximately 47% of its employeasldnuary 2015, collective bargaining agreementsraag approximately 36% of the
Company's employees were extended through Septe3Ab2020 (see Note 19).

LeasesFor leases that contain predetermined fixed esoakbf the minimum rent, the Company recognizes#fated rent expense on a
straight-line basis from the date it takes possessi the property to the end of the initial leéeen. The Company records any difference
between the straight-line rent amounts and the atrayable under the lease as part of deferredmédther accrued liabilities or Long-term
liabilities, as appropriate. Deferred rent for@driods presented was not material.

Foreign CurrencyCertain of the Compang’foreign subsidiaries use the local currencysauiiictional currency; its assets and liabilities
translated at exchange rates in effect at the balaheet date; and its statement of operatiomarislated at weighted-average monthly rates o
exchange prevailing during the year. Resultingstaion adjustments are recorded directly to arsepaomponent of stockholders’ equity in
accordance with ASC Topic 83Bpreign Currency Matters At both December 31, 2014 and December 31, 288 amount of translation
adjustment relating to foreign subsidiaries usogal currency as their functional currency was irterial. Where the U.S. dollar is the
functional currency of a foreign facility or subisid/, re-measurement adjustments are recordedhar@icome (expense).
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New Accounting Pronouncemenecounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 20131htome Taxes (Topic 740Presentation of an
Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Cassyforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credar@/forward Exists(*“ASU 2013-
11"), was issued in July 2013. ASU 2013-11 requine®ntity to present in the financial statementaraecognized tax benefit, or a portion of
an unrecognized tax benefit, as a reduction tderidl tax asset resulting from a net operating @sryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax
credit carryforward. However, when the above situnais not available at the reporting date or thelaw of the applicable jurisdiction does
require the entity to use the deferred tax assedifoh purpose, the unrecognized tax benefit shHoelldresented in the financial statements as
liability and should not be combined with defertas assets. The Company’s adoption of ASU 2013Rlthe first quarter of 2014 did not have
a material impact on its consolidated financiatesteents.

ASU No. 2014-09Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 638U 2014-09"), was issued in May 2014. ASU 2013+@quires
an entity torecognize revenue to depict the transfer of prothigeds or services to customers in an amountéiflatts the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchafogehose goods or services. To achieve this pdreiple, the guidance provides that an
entity should apply the following steps: (1) idénthe contract(s) with a customer; (2) identife therformance obligations in the contract; (3)
determine the transaction price; (4) allocate thadaction price to the performance obligationth@contract; and (5) recognize revenue wher
or as, the entity satisfies a performance obligafilne Company expects to adopt ASU 2014-09 for theafiyear ending December 31, 2017
and the Company will continue to assess the impadts consolidated financial statements.

ASU No. 2014-12Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): éuting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms Afvard
Provide That a Performance Target Could Be Achieafeal the Requisite Service Peri- Consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task For
(“ASU 2014-12"), was issued in June 2014. ASU 2024requires an entity to treat a performance tatgstaffects vesting and that could be
achieved after the requisite service period agfmeance condition. The performance target shoolbe reflected in estimating the grant-
date fair value of the award. Additionally, compatisn cost should be recognized in the period ifrcivit becomes probable that the
performance target will be achieved and shouldesgmt the compensation cost attributable to thegis) for which the requisite service has
already been rendered; if the performance targairhes probable of being achieved before the etlteafequisite service period, then the
remaining unrecognized compensation cost shoulédmgnized prospectively over the remaining retpiisérvice period. Finally, the total
amount of compensation cost recognized during éed the requisite service period should refleet tumber of awards that are expected to
vest and should be adjusted to reflect those avihedsultimately vest. The Company expects to ad&it) 2014-12 for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2015 and does not expect the addptioave a material impact on its consolidated fomrstatements.

2. Supplemental Balance Sheet Information

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and money market funds $ 295 % 57.1
Commercial paper 148.2 111.¢
Total $ 1775 % 169.t

Trade Receivables - Net

Billed trade receivables $ 128.7 $ 120.2
Unbilled trade receivables — Note 1 14 0.4
Trade receivables, gross 130.1 120.¢
Allowance for doubtful receivables (0.9 (0.9
Trade receivables - net $ 129.:  § 119.¢
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Inventories

Finished products $ 73€ $ 72.5
Work-in-process 66.7 75.€
Raw materials 54.Z 47.2
Operating supplies and repair and maintenance parts 20.2 18.¢
Total $ 2147 $ 214.¢

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Current derivative assets — Notes 10 and 11 $ 85.7 $ 2.C
Current deferred tax assets 86.4 36.7
Short-term restricted cash 0.3 0.2
Other 6.2 5.2
Total $ 178.¢ $ 44.2

Property, Plant and Equipment - Net

Land and improvements $ 22¢ % 22.€
Buildings and leasehold improvements 63.¢ 53.C
Machinery and equipment 509.¢ 425.¢
Construction in progress 25.2 66.C
Property, plant and equipment - gross 621.7 567.2
Accumulated depreciation (166.9) (137.9)
Property, plant and equipment - net $ 454¢  § 429.:
Other Assets

Derivative assets — Notes 10 and 11 $ — 3 79.¢
Restricted cash 10.C .3
Deferred financing costs 5.9 8.¢
Deferred compensation plan assets 7.3 6.5
Other 0.1 &
Total $ 23 % 104.¢
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Other Accrued Liabilities

Current derivative liabilities — Notes 10 and 11 $ 94.¢ 1.6
Uncleared cash disbursements 9.1 9.€
Accrued income taxes and taxes payable 5.2 .3
Accrued annual VEBA contribution 13.7 16.C
Short-term environmental accrual — Note 9 2.3 2.8
Accrued interest 3.7 3.7
Short-term deferred revenue — Note 1 0.2 —
Other 3.7 6.€
Total $ 132.¢ 44.¢

Long-Term Liabilities

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2013

Derivative liabilities — Notes 10 and 11 $ 1.9 84.%
Income tax liabilities 24 5.C
Workers’ compensation accruals 21.t 23.c
Long-term environmental accrual — Note 9 17.C 20.C
Long-term asset retirement obligations 4.4 4.C
Long-term deferred revenue - Note 1 0.5 —
Deferred compensation liability 7.2 7.C
Long-term capital leases 0.1 0.1
Other long-term liabilities 3.3 2.7
Total $ 58.c 146.¢
Long-Term Debt — Note 3

Senior notes $ 225.( 225.(
Cash convertible senior notes — 163.
Total $ 225.( 388.t

3. Debt and Credit Facility

Senior Notes

In May 2012, the Company issued $225.0 principadamb of 8.250% unsecured senior notes due Jun@2D, @Senior Notes”) at 100% of
the principal amount. Interest expense, includimgization of deferred financing costs, relatioghe Senior Notes was $19.4 for both 2014
and 2013 and $11.8 for 2012. A portion of the ies¢relating to the Senior Notes was capitalize@asstruction in progress. The effective
interest rate of the Senior Notes is approximaeho per annum, taking into account the amortimatibdeferred financing costs.

The Senior Notes are unsecured obligations anduaenteed by existing and future direct and imtlisebsidiaries of the Company that
borrowers or guarantors under the Company's rewpleiedit facility. See Note 17 for condensed Goemaand Non-Guarantor financial
information.

The indenture governing the Senior Notes placesdtions on the ability of the Company and certaiits subsidiaries to, among other
things, incur liens, consolidate, merge or selbakbubstantially all of the Company's and certdiits subsidiaries' assets, incur or guarantee
additional indebtedness, enter into transactionis affiliates and to make "restricted payments"ightare defined in the indenture to include
certain loans, investments, dividend payments estepurchases and
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prepayments, redemptions or repurchases of cendéitedness). Certain types and amounts of restrigayments are allowed by various
provisions of the indenture. After March 31, 20ttt indenture provisions permit the Company to makéricted payments in any amount if,
after giving effect to such restricted payment;'ésnsolidated total indebtedness" as a ratio &I TDA" (each term as defined in the
indenture) is less than 2.00:1.00 .

The Senior Notes are redeemable at the optioneo€tmpany in whole or part at any time on or aftere 1, 2016 at an initial redemption
price of 104.125% of the principal amount plus angrued and unpaid interest, declining to a rediempirice of 100% of the principal
amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, @fter June 1, 2018. At any time prior to June@L%, the Company may redeem up to 35%
of the original principal amount of the Senior Noteith the proceeds of certain equity offeringa aédemption price of 108.250% of the
principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid ésterAt any time prior to June 1, 2016, the Compaay also redeem some or all of the
Senior Notes at a redemption price equal to 100%eprincipal amount, together with any accrued ampaid interest, plus a “make-whole
premium.”

Holders of the Senior Notes have the right to regtie Company to repurchase the Senior Noteprata equal to 101% of the principal
amount plus any accrued and unpaid interest foligwi change of control. A change of control inchi@certain ownership changes;
(ii) certain recapitalizations, mergers and disposs; (iii) certain changes in the compositiortlué Board of Directors of the Company; and
(iv) shareholders' approval of any plan or propésathe liquidation or dissolution of the Compafiynie Company may also be required to ¢
to repurchase the Senior Notes at 100% of the ipghamount, plus any accrued and unpaid intevatit,the proceeds of certain asset sales.

See “Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities l} @ther Financial Assets and Liabilitiesn Note 11 for information relating to the
estimated fair value of the Senior Notes.

Cash Convertible Senior Notes

Convertible NotesIn March 2010, the Company issued $175.0 prin@paount of 4.5% unsecured Cash Convertible Sévates due
April 1, 2015 ("Convertible Notes"). The Converglilotes are not convertible into the Company's comatock or any other securities, but
instead will be settled in cash. The Company actsofon the cash conversion feature of the Convertitbtes as a separate derivative
instrument (“Bifurcated Conversion Feature”) witte tfair value on the issuance date equaling tlggnadiissuance discount for purposes of
accounting for the debt component of the Convertiiibtes. The effective interest rate for the tefrihe Convertible Notes is approximately
11% , taking into account the amortization of thigioal issuance discount and deferred financingso

The following tables provide additional informatioggarding the Convertible Notes:

December 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Principal amount $ 175.C $ 175.(
Less: unamortized issuance discount (2.5) (11.5)
Carrying amount, net of discount $ 172§ 163.t

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Contractual coupon interest $ 7¢ % 7¢ % 7.S
Amortization of discount 9.1 8.2 7.3
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1.1 1.2 1.2
Total interest expenge $ 181 $ 172§ 16.4

1 A portion of the interest relating to the Convesiblotes was capitalized as Construction in prat

The Convertible Notes’ conversion rate is subjeadjustment based on the occurrence of certaimgviacluding, but not limited to, the
payment of quarterly cash dividends on the Compgacgnmon stock in excess of $0.24 per share. Azoémber 31, 2014 , the conversion
rate was 20.9186 shares per $1,000 principal anafithe Convertible Notes and the
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equivalent conversion price was approximately $8p&r share, reflecting cumulative adjustmentgjtarterly dividends paid in excess of
$0.24 per share.

For holders who convert their Convertible Notesmythe first quarter of 2015, the final settlempatiod began on January 15, 2015 and
will continue for 50 consecutive trading days, ergdon March 27, 2015. The Convertible Notes arevedible at any time prior to 5:00pm
New York City time on March 30, 2015. An immaterdahount of Convertible Notes was converted duridg?pursuant to a provision tt
permitted early conversion.

Convertible Note Hedge Transactions March 2010, the Company purchased Option Asbett have an exercise price equal to the
conversion price of the Convertible Notes, an etn date that is the same as the maturity datieeoearlier conversion date of the
Convertible Notes and a final settlement period ihthe same as for the Convertible Notes. Whemased, the aggregate amount of cash the
Company will receive from the counterparties far ption Assets will cover the aggregate amoumsh that the Company will be required
to pay to the holders of the converted Convertithi¢es, less the principal amount thereof and istgrayable thereon. Contemporaneous with
the purchase of the Option Assets, the Companysalsbnet-share-settled warrants (“Warrants”) thiditsettle over a 120-day settlement
period beginning on July 1, 2015 relating to apprately 3.7 million shares of the Company’s commstatk. The Option Assets and the
Warrants have anti-dilution provisions similar be tConvertible Notes. At December 31, 2014 , ther@se prices were $47.80 per share and
$60.70 per share for the Option Assets and the &tarrespectively, reflecting cumulative adjusttedar quarterly dividends paid in excess
of $0.24 per share.

See “Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities t @ther Financial Assets and Liabiliti€sn Note 11 for information relating to the
estimated fair value of the Bifurcated Conversieatare and the Option Assets.

Revolving Credit Facility

The Company’s credit agreement with JPMorgan CBasdx, N.A., as administrative agent and the othmarfcial institutions party thereto
(“Revolving Credit Facility”) provides the Compamyth a $300.0 funding commitment through Septen88r2016. The Revolving Credit
Facility is secured by a first priority lien on stantially all of the accounts receivable, inventand certain other related assets and procee
the Company and certain of its domestic operatifgisliaries as well as certain machinery and eqeignmnder the Revolving Credit Facili
the Company is able to borrow from time to timeaggregate commitment amount equal to the lessg8@J.0 and a borrowing base
comprised of (i) 85% of eligible accounts receiealli) the lesser of (a) 65% of eligible inventamd (b) 85% of the net orderly liquidation
value of eligible inventory as determined in thestrr@cent inventory appraisal ordered by the adstrative agent; and (iii) 85% of certain
eligible machinery and equipment, reduced by certserves, all as specified in the Revolving Gredcility. Up to a maximum of $60.0 of
availability under the Revolving Credit Facility gnhe utilized for letters of credit.

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility b@aerest at a rate equal to either a base priteeoraLIBOR, at the Company's option,
plus, in each case, a specified variable percertaggmined by reference to the then-remainingdvang availability under the Revolving
Credit Facility. The Revolving Credit Facility masybject to certain conditions and the agreemelgnafers thereunder, be increased up to
$350.0 .

The Company had $276.7 of borrowing availabilitylenthe Revolving Credit Facility at December 31142, based on the borrowing base
determination then in effect. At December 31, 2pthre were no borrowings under the Revolving Ereakility and $7.6 was being used to
support outstanding letters of credit, leaving $26% net borrowing availability. The interest ragplicable to any overnight borrowings under
the Revolving Credit Facility would have been 4.8#®ecember 31, 2014 .

Amounts owed under the Revolving Credit Facilityyni@ accelerated upon the occurrence of varioustewd default including, without
limitation, the failure to make principal or intstgpayments when due and breaches of covenantssegpations and warranties set forth
therein. The Revolving Credit Facility places liatibns on the ability of the Company and certaiit$ubsidiaries to, among other things,
grant liens, engage in mergers, sell assets, oheli, make investments, undertake transactionsaffitrates, prepay certain debt, pay
dividends and repurchase shares. The Companyisedito prepay debt, pay dividends and repurcHaames in any amount if, after giving
effect to such payment, $52.5 or more would belabts for the Company to borrow under the Revolv@rgdit Facility. In addition, the
Company is required to maintain a fixed charge caye ratio on a consolidated basis at or abové.0.1f:borrowing availability under the
Revolving Credit Facility is less than $30.0 .
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4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company’s accounting policy is to perform anwai goodwill impairment test during the fourth cea of each year or whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate ttadwgitl or the carrying value of intangible assetaynmot be recoverable. As of December 31,
2014 , the Company performed a quantitative impairittest and determined that no impairment ofadtsdgvill and intangible assets was
required.

Goodwill. The Company had goodwill of $37.2 at both Decen®ier2014 and December 31, 2013 . Such goodwidlated to the
Company's acquisitions of the Chandler, Arizonatiiision) facility and the Florence, Alabama fagiliind is included in the Fabricated
Products segment.

Intangible Assetdn 2014 and 2013, the Company's identifiable igiible assets were related to customer relationsfiips original cost of
these customer relationships was $38.5 millionas@imulated amortization and net book value weré $lion and $32.1 million ,
respectively, at December 31, 2014 , and $4.8anillind $33.7 million , respectively, at DecemberZ8 3 .

Amortization expense relating to definite-livedangible assets is recorded in the Fabricated Ptedagment. Such expense was $1.6 ,
$1.7 and $1.8 for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respdytiVhe expected amortization of intangible asget®ach of the next five calendar years is
$1.6 and $24.1 for years thereatfter.

5. Income Tax Matters

Tax Provision Income before income taxes by geographic areaawésllows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Domestic $ 102.1 % 138.¢ $ 134.t
Foreign 5.C 4.3 5.1
Income before income taxes $ 1071 $ 143 $ 139.¢

Income taxes are classified as either domestioreidgn, based on whether payment is made or dtleetdnited States or a foreign country.
Certain income classified as foreign is also suliipdomestic income taxes.

The provision for income taxes consisted of:
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Federal Foreign State Total

2014

Current $ (1.0 $ 1C % 0.6) % 0.6

Deferred 6.4 0.2 5.1 11.¢

Expense applied to decrease Additional paid intaligther

comprehensive income (41.¢) (0.5 (4.4 (46.5)

Total (expense) benefit $ (36.2) $ 0.8 % 01 $ (35.9
2013

Current $ 11 $ 16.2 % (0.2 % 17.1

Deferred (49.9) (0.5 (6.7) (56.9

Benefit (expense) applied to increase (decreasditiddal

paid in capital/Other comprehensive income 1.2 (0.2 0.2 1.4

Total (expense) benefit $ 473 $ 15¢€ $ 6.7 $ (38.9)
2012

Current $ — 23 $ 02 $ 2.1

Deferred (113.0 (0.2) (15.9) (128.5)

Benefit applied to increase Additional paid in ¢alpiOther

comprehensive income 67.4 0.2 9.2 76.¢

Total expense $ (45.6) $ (29 % 59 $ (53.9)

A reconciliation between the provision for incoragds and the amount computed by applying the federatory income tax rate to
income before income taxes is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Amount of federal income tax provision based ondfagutory rate $ (375 $ (50.1) $ (48.9)
Decrease in federal valuation allowances — 0.1 0.1
Non-deductible compensation expense 0.2 0.3 (0.9
Non-deductible expense 0.3 (0.9 0.3
State income taxes, net of federal bengfit — (4.9 (3.9
Foreign income tax (expense) benefit 0.2 — (0.5
Expiration of statute of limitations 2.3 4.€ —
Settlement with taxing authorities — 4.4 —
Advance pricing agreement — 2.6 —
Competent Authority settlement — 5.2 —
Income tax provision $ (359 % (389 % (53.9)

! State income taxes were $2.3 in 2014, but wereffg a $1.6 decrease due to lower tax rates inusstates and a $0.7 decrease in the
valuation allowance relating to certain state rparating losses. State income taxes of $4.4 in 26d3ded a $1.Mcrease in the valuatic
allowance relating to certain unused state netadjmey losses expected to expire.

The table above reflects a full statutory U.S.geovision despite the fact that the Company is galying U.S. federal alternative minimum
tax (“AMT") and some state income taxes. Sdax Attributes' below.

Deferred Income TaxeBeferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettemporary differences between the carrying an®ohassets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposedaamounts used for income tax purposes. The cormp®oéthe Company'’s net deferred
income tax assets were as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013

Deferred income tax assets:

Loss and credit carryforwards $ 275.¢ % 321.¢

VEBAs (see Note 6) 5.1 6.1

Other assets 35.C 34.2

Inventories and other 21.t 2.t

Valuation allowances (29.9) (19.9
Total deferred income tax assets 317.¢ 344.¢
Deferred income tax liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment (74.7) (73.0

VEBASs (see Note 6) (120.¢) (152.9

Inventories (6.7) (14.9)
Total deferred income tax liabilities (201.9) (240.9)
Net deferred income tax asséts $ 1164 $ 104.¢

! Of the total net deferred income tax assets of $11686.4 was included in Prepaid expenses aret othrent assets, $30.9 was presente
as Deferred tax assets, net and $0.9 was presasifedferred tax liabilities on the ConsolidatedaBak Sheet as of December 31, 2014 .
Of the total net deferred income tax assets of £L0$36.7 was included in Prepaid expenses aret othrent assets and $69.1 was
presented as Deferred tax assets, net and $1.gresented as Deferred tax liabilities on the Cadatéd Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2013 .

Tax AttributesAt December 31, 2014 , the Company had $606.1 odperating loss (“NOL"carryforwards available to reduce future c
payments for income taxes in the United Statesh®©%$606.1 of NOL carryforwards at December 3142081.7 represents excess tax benefit
related to the vesting of employee restricted stadlich will result in an increase in equity if amthen such excess tax benefits are ultimately
realized. The NOL carryforwards expire periodicallyough 2030. The Company also had $30.1 of AM&ditrcarryforwards with an
indefinite life, available to offset regular fedeircome tax requirements.

To preserve the NOL carryforwards available to@oenpany, the Company’s certificate of incorporafimeciudes certain restrictions on the
transfer of the Company’s common stock through 201/6.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax sseanagement considers whether it is “more liklein not” that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The @tenealization of deferred tax assets is depengmnt the generation of future taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary diffees become deductible. Management considers takataime in carryback years, the
scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, péanning strategies and projected future taxaiderme in making this assessment. Due to
uncertainties surrounding the realization of soit@ Company’s deferred tax assets, primarilyudioig state NOL carryforwards sustained
during the prior years and expiring tax beneftie, Company has a valuation allowance against fesmel tax assets. When recognized, the ta
benefits relating to any reversal of this valuatidiowance will be recorded as a reduction of inedax expense. The increase (decrease) in tl
valuation allowance was $(0.7) , $1.2 and $(0.Dd@4 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

The decrease in the valuation allowance for 201¢ pvemarily due to the projected utilization oftst&lOL carryforwards. The increase in
the valuation allowance in 2013 was primarily do@nutilized state NOL carryforwards that were expd to expire. The decrease in the
valuation allowance for 2012 was primarily duette projected utilization of state NOL carryforwards

Other. The Company and its subsidiaries file incomer&dnrns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and vas@tates and foreign jurisdictions.
In 2013, the Company and the Canada Revenue Agattigd audits of the Company's Canadian tax retimnfiscal years 1998 through 2004
resulting in a cash tax benefit to the Company9$ of which, $6.1 was received in 2013 and #maining $1.8 was received in 2014. In
addition, in 2013, the Company signed an advanicingragreement
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with the Canada Revenue Agency, which resultechiadditional cash tax benefit of $2.6 , which ipested to be refunded within the next 12
months.

The Company’s tax returns for certain past yearstll subject to examination by taxing authostand the use of NOL carryforwards in
future periods could trigger a review of attribusasl other tax matters in years that are not otiseraubject to examination.

The Company has gross unrecognized benefits rgladinncertain tax positions. A reconciliation bfages in the gross unrecognized tax
benefits is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Gross unrecognized tax benefits at beginning dabder $ 3.8 % 157 $ 13.7
Gross increases for tax positions of prior years — — 3
Gross decreases for tax positions of prior years — (7.€) (0.2)
Gross increases for tax positions of current years — — 0.4
Gross decrease for tax positions relating to lapsestatute of limitation (1.9 3.3

Foreign currency translation (0.2) (1.0) 0.4
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at end of period $ 22§ 3¢ $ 15.7

If and when the $2.2 and $3.8 of gross unrecograethenefits at December 31, 2014 and Decembe2@®1 , respectively, are
recognized, $1.1 and $2.7 will be reflected in@mmpany's income tax provision and thus affecefifiective tax rate in future periods. For the
year endedDecember 31, 2012 , if and when the gross unrezedriax benefits are ultimately recognized, theylve reflected in the
Company'’s income tax provision and affect the effectax rate in future periods.

The change during 2014 was due to the expiratigtatfites and foreign currency fluctuations. Thengfe during 2013 was primarily due
to the expiration of statutes, settlements witlinguauthorities, foreign currency fluctuations aiéinge in tax positions. The change during
2012 was primarily due to foreign currency fluctaas and change in tax positions.

In addition, the Company recognizes interest amalies related to unrecognized tax benefits inilaeme tax provision. The Company
had $1.4 and $2.3 accrued for interest and pesalti®ecember 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013ectsply. Of these amounts, none were
recorded as current liabilities and included inéthccrued liabilities on the Consolidated Balaibeets at December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013 . The Company recognized a (@seyéncrease in interest and penalty of $(0.93.25and $0.9 in its tax provision in
2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

In connection with the gross unrecognized tax bheng@hcluding interest and penalties) denominatefreign currency, the Company
incurred a foreign currency translation adjustmBntring 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , the foreign curreingyact on such liabilities resulted in
$0.3, $0.7 and $(0.5) currency translation adjesiis) respectively, which increased (decreasedj@traprehensive income (loss).

The Company does not expect its gross unrecogtdezeilenefits to significantly change within the h&2 months .
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6. Employee Benefits

Employee PlanEEmployee benefit plans include:

A defined contribution 401(k) savings plan faunly bargaining unit employees at seven of the @amy’s production facilities based
on the specific collective bargaining agreemeraat facility. For active bargaining unit employaeshree of these production
facilities, the Company is required to make fixatercontributions. For active bargaining unit emypks at one of these production
facilities, the Company is required to match certinployee contributions. For active bargaining eniployees at two of these
production facilities, the Company is required taka both fixed rate contributions and concurrenticines. For active bargaining unit
employees at the one remaining production facitiig, Company is not required to make any contrimgti Fixed rate contributions
either (i) range from (in whole dollars) $800 to420 per employee per year, depending on the eraplsywge, or (ii) vary between
2% to 10% of the employeesbmpensation depending on their age and yearsvitedor employees hired prior to January 1, 26€
is a fixed 2% annual contribution for employee®tion or after January 1, 2004. The Company cuyrestimates that contributions
to such plans will range from $1.0 to $3.0 per year

A defined contribution 401(k) savings plan fataied and certain hourly employees providingd@oncurrent match of up to 4% of
certain contributions made by employees plus an@mcontribution of between 2% and 1@¥their compensation depending on tt
age and years of service to employees hired midahuary 1, 2004. All new hires on or after Janda004 receive a fixed 2%
contribution annually. The Company currently estiesahat contributions to such plan will range fr$&0 to $7.0 per year.

A defined benefit plan for salaried employeethatCompany’s London, Ontario facility, with anhaantributions based on each
salaried employee’s age and years of service. Aeber 31, 2014 , approximately 66% of the plaetassere invested in equity
securities and 31% of plan assets were investéigdd income securities. The remaining plan asset® invested in short-term
securities. The Company’s investment committeeetgsiand evaluates the investment portfolio. Thetassx target allocation on the
long-term investments is approximately 66% in egeécurities, 30% in fixed income securities arelrdmaining assets in short-term
securities. See Note 11 for additional informatiegarding the fair values of the Canadian penslan pssets.

A non-qualified, unfunded, unsecured plan oedefd compensation for key employees who wouldratise suffer a loss of benefits
under the Company’s defined contribution plan essalt of the limitations imposed by the Internavi@nue Code of 1986 (the
“Code”). Despite the plan being an unfunded plaa,Gompany makes an annual contribution to a bt to fulfill future funding
obligations, as contemplated by the terms of the.prhe assets in the trust are at all times stitggbe claims of the Company’s
general creditors and no participant has a claiantoassets of the trust. Plan participants ageébddi to receive distributions from the
trust subject to vesting and other eligibility regments. Assets in the rabbi trust relating todbferred compensation plan are
accounted for as available for sale securitiesaaadncluded as Other assets on the Consolidatesh&aSheets (see Note 2 ).
Liabilities relating to the deferred compensatideinpare included on the Consolidated Balance Staset®ng-term liabilities (see
Note 2).

An employment agreement with the Company’s chiefcutive officer extending through December 1,6 The Company also
provides certain members of senior managementdiray each of the Company’s named executive officaith benefits related to
terminations of employment in specified circums&sdncluding in connection with a change in cdntrg the Company without
cause and by the executive officer with good reason

VEBA Postretirement Medical Obligatior@ertain eligible retirees receive certain healtbaatated benefits through participation in a
voluntary employees' beneficiary association ("VEB#at provides benefits for eligible retireesmegented by certain unions and their
surviving spouse and eligible dependents (the "WMEBA") or a VEBA that provides benefits for cartather retirees and their spouse and
eligible dependents (the "Salaried VEBA" and, tbgetwith the Union VEBA, the "VEBAS"). The Union \BA covers certain qualifying
bargaining unit retirees and future retirees. Thku$d VEBA covers certain retirees who retireidpto the 2004 termination of the prior plan
and employees who were hired prior to February 20@Psubsequently retired or will retire with tleguisite age and service. The Union
VEBA is managed by four trustees, two of which appointed by the Company and two of which are agpdiby the United Steel, Paper and
Forestry, Rubber, Manufacturing, Energy, Allied usttial and Service Workers International Union LAEIO, CLC ("USW"). Its assets are
managed by an independent fiduciary. The SalarieBA/is managed by trustees who are independeiieo€bmpany.

The Company’s primary financial obligation to thEB/As is to make an annual variable cash contribufidne formula determining the
annual variable contribution amount is 10% of tingt §£20.0 of annual cash flow (as defined; in gahe
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terms, the principal elements of cash flow are iegmbefore interest expense, provision for inceaxes and depreciation and amortization
cash payments for, among other things, interespne taxes and capital expenditures), plus 20%da cash flow (as defined) in excess of
$20.0 . Such payments may not exceed $20.0 anraradlypayments are allocated between the Union VEB#Rthe Salaried VEBA at 85.5%
and 14.5% respectively. The variable cash contribution gdiion to the Union VEBA extends through Septenadr7, while the obligation 1
the Salaried VEBA has no express termination date.

Amounts owed by the Company to the VEBAs are restiid the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets @ither accrued liabilities,
with a corresponding increase in Net assets of VEEAIch amounts are determined and paid on an ldoemia. As of December 31, 201the
Company determined that the variable contributm014 was $13.7 (comprised of $11.7 to the UMBBA and $2.0 to the Salaried
VEBA). These amounts will be paid during the fgstarter of 2015 . The variable contribution relgtto 2013 in the amount of $16.0 was paid
in 2014 .

The Company has no claim to the plan assets ofHi&As nor any obligation to fund their liabilitieshe VEBA plan designs and benefits
paid by the VEBAs are at the sole discretion ofréepective VEBA trustees and are outside the Cagipaontrol. Nevertheless, the Comp
accounts for the VEBAs as defined benefit postetint plans with the current VEBA assets and futar@able contributions from the
Company and earnings thereon, operating as a ctipedsenefits to be paid. Accordingly, the Compaaogounts for net periodic postretirem
benefit costs (income) in accordance with ASC Tafdib,Compensation — Retirement Benefitsgl records any difference between the asset
of each VEBA and its accumulated postretiremengtbtabligation in the Company’s consolidated finah statements. Information necessary
for the valuation of the net funded status of tlemg must be obtained from the VEBASs on an annasisb

Under this accounting treatment, the funding stafusach of the VEBAs could result in a liability @sset position on the Company's
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Such liability ortdsae no impact on the Company's cash flow or diiqyi Only the Company's obligation to
make an annual variable cash contribution can hawaterial impact to the Company's cash flow aridly.

Key Assumptiong.he following data presents the key assumptiond as€e the amounts reflected in the Company’s firsdistatements
with respect to the Company’s Canadian pension @tahthe VEBAs. The Company uses a December 31umeasent date for all of the plans.

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligatianefahe periods presented were as follows:

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
December 31, December 31,
2014 2013 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Union Salaried Union Salaried

VEBA VEBA VEBA VEBA
Discount rate 4.0(% 4.9(% 3.8(% 3.6(% 4.7(% 4.2(%
Rate of compensation increase 3.0(% 3.0(% — — — —
Initial medical trend raté — — 7.00% — 7.5(% —
Ultimate medical trend rafe — — 5.0(% — 5.0(% —

The medical trend rate assumptions used for thetUMEBA were provided by the Union VEBA and certaidustry data were provided
by the Company's actuaries. The trend rate is asgtwondecline to 5% by 2019 at each of Decembe2@14 and December 31, 2013 . A
one-percentage-point increase in the assumed nhédind rates would increase the accumulated postmeent benefit obligation of the
Union VEBA by $37.7 and $27.8 at December 31, 28d December 31, 2013, respectively. A one-peagenpoint decrease in the
assumed medical trend rates would decrease thenatatied postretirement benefit obligation of thedgnVEBA by $29.9 and $22.7 at
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, resphctiv
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Key assumptions made in computing the net assgailin of each VEBA and in total include:
With respect to VEBA assets:

» Based on the information received from the VEB#&tsDecember 31, 2014 and December 31, 20188 the Salaried VEBA and Unit
VEBA assets were invested in various managed prtapyi funds. VEBA plan assets are managed by vaiouestment advisors
selected by the VEBA trustees and are not undecahtol of the Company.

* The Company's variable payment, if any, is #dats a funding/contribution policy and not courdedh VEBA asset at December 31
for actuarial purposes.

With respect to VEBA obligations:

» The accumulated postretirement benefit obliga(iéPBQO”) for each VEBA was computed based onlthel of benefits being
provided by it at December 31, 2014 and DecembgP@13 .

* Since the Salaried VEBA was paying a fixed ahan@ount to its constituents at both December 8142and December 31, 2013, no
future cost trend rate increase has been assunoedniputing the APBO for the Salaried VEBA.

Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit (income) for the years ended December 31 were:

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012

Union Salaried Union Salaried Union Salaried

VEBA VEBA VEBA VEBA VEBA VEBA
Discount rate 4.9(% 4.4(% 5.6(% 4.7(% 4.2(% 4.0(% 3.4(% 4.2(% 3.75%
Expected longerm returr
on plan assefs 4. 7% 4.5(% 4.6(% 6.75% 7.7%% 6.25% 7.25% 7.25% 7.25%
Rate of compensation
increase 3.0(% 3.0(% 3.0(% — — — — — —
Initial medical trend raté — — —_ 7.5(% — 8.0(% — 8.5(% —_
Ultimate medical trend
rate? — — — 5.0(% — 5.0(% — 5.0(% —

1 The expected long-term rate of return assumptidim$ed on the targeted investment portfolios pexvit the Company by the VEBAS’
trustees.

2 The medical trend rate assumptions used for therJMEBA, which is currently paying certain prestidgn drug benefits, were provided
by the Union VEBA and certain industry data werevided by the Company's actuaries. The trend saassumed to decline to 5% by
2019 for each of 2014 , 2013 and 2012 . A one-peagepoint increase in the assumed medical trend rabegdincrease the aggregate
the service and interest cost components of nédierbenefit costs by $2.6 , $2.0 and $2.5 for202013 and 2012 , respectively. A one:
percentage-point decrease in the assumed medical tates would decrease the aggregate of theesewmi interest cost components of
net periodic benefit costs by $2.0, $1.5 and $&.@014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.
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Benefit Obligations and Funded StatusT+e following table presents the benefit obligasiamd funded status of the Company’s Canadia
pension and the VEBAs as of December 31, 2014 awmDber 31, 2013 and the corresponding amountsauthatcluded in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013 2013
(as reclassifiedyf (as reported)
Change in benefit obligation:
Obligation at beginning of year $ 6.€ 9 7C % 374 % 384.1 % 384.1
Foreign currency translation adjustment (0.5 (0.5 — —
Service cost 0.2 & 2.2 25 25
Interest cost .2 .2 16.7 14.€ 14.€
Prior service cost — — 90.4 84.€ —
Actuarial loss (gainj 0.7 (0.2 10.z (91.9 (7.3
Plan participant contributions — — — — —
Benefits paid by Company 0.3 0.3 — — —
Benefits paid by VEBAs — — (24.9) (21.5 (21.5
Reimbursement from retiree drug subsidy — — 1.4 2.3 2.3
Obligation at end of year 7.C 6.€ 470.¢ 374.% 374.%
Change in plan assets:
Fair market value of plan assets at beginning of
year 6.2 5.7 780.7 744, 744,
Foreign currency translation adjustment (0.5 (0.9 — — —
Actual return on assets 0.€ 0.7 22.1 39.2 39.2
Plan participant contributions — — — — —
Sale of Company's common stock by Union
VEBA — — — — —
Employer/Company contributioris .3 0.t 13.7 16.C 16.C
Benefits paid by Company 0.3 0.3 — — —
Benefits paid by VEBAs — — (24.7) (21.5) (21.5)
Reimbursement from retiree drug subsidy — — 1.4 2.3 2.3
Fair market value of plan assets at end of yea 6.2 6.2 793.¢ 780.7 780.7
Net funded status $ 0.7 $ 0.9 $ 322¢ % 406.C $ 406.(

The prior service cost relating to the VEBAS in 20tas primarily comprised of (i) a loss of $60.%®da an increase in the healthcare
premium reimbursement benefit in the Union VEBA); & loss of $15.9 resulting from the addition ofew death benefit starting in 2015
for plan participants in the Union VEBA; and (i@)loss of $14.0 due to an increase in the ann@ihuare reimbursement benefit starting
in 2015 for plan participants in the Salaried VEBA.

The prior service cost relating to the VEBAs in 20tas primarily comprised of a loss of $63.8 duthtaddition of a new healthcare
premium reimbursement benefit starting in 2014&mWnion VEBA and a loss of $20.8 resulting fromirerease in the existing benefits
reimbursement rates starting in 2014 for plan pigdints in both VEBAs.

The actuarial gain relating to the VEBASs in 2014svpaimarily comprised of (i) a gain of $53.6 dueptojected lower benefit utilization;
(i) a gain of $18.0 due to projected lower drugii cost in the future because of lower than exgubct
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drug claim costs in 2014 in the Union VEBA,; (iii)gain of $0.4 due primarily to a reduction in adistirative cost in the Union VEBA,;
partially offset by (iv) a loss of $45.0 due printyato reductions in the discount rates; and (W)ss of $37.2 due primarily to updated
actuarial mortality rates in both VEBAs.

The actuarial gain relating to the VEBAs in 2013vgaimarily comprised of (i) a gain of $54.9 dueptojected lower drug claim cost
in the future because of lower than expected diaignccosts in 2013 in the Union VEBA,; (ii) a gain%80.5 due to a decrease in discount
rates used to determine benefit obligations foh BdEBAS; (iii) a gain of $8.0 due primarily to agfier than expected mortality rate in the
Union VEBA; partially offset by (iv) a loss of $2due primarily to an increase in administrativeténghe Union VEBA.

3 The Union VEBA is eligible for the retiree drug sidly of the Medicare Modernization Act that wertbieffect January 1, 2006. As a
result, the Company has measured the Union VEBBIigations and costs to take into account this islybs

4 Prepaid benefits of $322.9 at December 31, 2014ceamprised of $340.1 presented as Net asset of \éEB¥the Consolidated Balance
Sheet related to the Union VEBA, offset by $17.@ggnted as Net liability in respect of VEBA relatedhe Salaried VEBA. Prepaid
benefits of $406.0 relating to both VEBAs at DecemBl, 2013vere presented as Net asset of VEBAs on the Caladeti Balance She:

5 The Company accrued a liability for a variable cashtribution of $13.7 to the VEBAs with respectclendar year 2014, which will be
paid in the first quarter of 2015. The Company aedra liability for a variable cash contribution$if6.0 to the VEBAs with respect to
calendar year 2013, which was paid in the firstriguaf 2014.

5 The presentation of Change in benefit obligatiothintable above has been revised from the priar peesentation to reflect separate
amounts for actuarial gains and losses and priwicgecosts related to plan amendments. This inddion was presented in a footnote to
the table in the prior year. The 2013 balances shalove were adjusted to reflect this reclassificatThe impacts to the prospective
amortization of Prior service cost and Actuariaddgain) were not material.

The following table presents the net assets of ¥&BA as of the periods presented (such informaiiaaiso included in the tables requi
under GAAP above which roll forward the assets @llihations):

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Union VEBA Salaried VEBA Total Union VEBA Salaried VEBA Total
Accumulated plan benefit obligation $ (3915 $ (79.9) $ (470.9 $ (312.7) $ (62.0) $ (374.7)
Plan assets 731.¢ 62.2 793.¢ 717.5 63.2 780.7
Net funded status $ 340.1 $ (17.2) $ 322¢ $ 404.¢ 9 12 $ 406.(

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Canadiefined benefit pension plan was $6.2 and $5Beaember 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, respectively. The Company éspecontribute $0.3 to the Canadian pension pl&015 .

As of December 31, 2014 , the net benefits expectéd paid in each of the next five fiscal yeard s aggregate for the five fiscal years
thereafter are as follows:

Benefit Payments Due by Period

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020-2023
Canadian pension plan benefit payments $ SRS 023 $ 03 $ 02 $ 023 % 1.€
VEBA benefit payment$ 30.2 30.1 29.€ 29.5 29.2 137.¢
Total net benefits $ 306 $ 304 $ 30z $ 29¢ $ 29§ 139.f

1 Such amounts were obtained from the VEBAs. The Gmys only financial obligations to the VEBAs aoephty the variable
contributions, which may not exceed $20.0 annualty] certain administrative fees.
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The amount of loss which is recognized in the Cbdated Balance Sheets (in Accumulated other cohgsive income (loss)) associated
with the Company’s Canadian defined benefit penpilan and the VEBAs (before tax) that have nothgain reflected in net periodic benefit
cost (income) were as follows for the years endeddinber 31:

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013 2013
(as reclassified) (as reported)

Accumulated net actuarial (losses) gains $ 19 $ 1.9 $ 436 % 84.: $ (0.5)
Transition assets 0.2 0.2 — — —
Prior service cost — — (297.9) (117.5 (32.9)
Loss recognized in Accumulated other
comprehensive income (I0ss) $ (17 $ (16 $ (153.9 $ (339 % (33.9

The amounts in Accumulated other comprehensivenirecloss) that have not yet been recognized as aoemps of net periodic pension
benefit income (costs) at December 31, 2014 treegpected to be recognized in 2015 are $0.1 éoCHnadian pension plan relating to prior
service cost and $18.3 for the VEBAs. Of the $18lating to the VEBAs, $17.3 is related to amottima of prior service cost and $1.0 is
related to amortization of net actuarial gain (JoSee the Statement of Comprehensive Income (lfossgclassification adjustments of other
comprehensive income that were recognized as coemp®of net periodic benefit costs (income) for202013 and 2012 .

Fair Value of Plan Asset&ee Note 11 for the fair values of the assetsefhnadian pension plan and the VEBAs.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost (Incomd)he-Company’s results of operations included thleiong impacts associated with
the Canadian defined benefit plan and the VEBAsclfarges for service rendered by employees; @haege for accretion of interest; (c) a
benefit for the return on plan assets; and (d) &imadion of net gains or losses on assets, pristicgecosts associated with plan amendments
and actuarial differences. The following table pras the components of net periodic benefit cosbfne) for the years ended December 31:

Canadian Pension Benefits VEBA Benefits
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Service cost $ 02 % 02 % 02 $ 22 % 25 % 3.4
Interest cost 0.2 0.2 0.2 16.7 14.¢ 17.¢€
Expected return on plan assets (0.3 (0.3 (0.2) (51.9 (45.]) (40.9)
Amortization of prior service cost — — — 10.€ 4.2 4.2
Amortization of net actuarial loss (gain) 0.1 0.2 0.1 (2.8 1.3 3.C
Net periodic benefit cost (income) $ 02 § 05 § 04 $ (2379 $ (22.5) § (11.9

! The Company amortizes prior service cost on agittdine basis over the average remaining years ofcto full eligibility for benefits o

the active plan participants.
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The following tables present the total (income)rgea related to all benefit plans for the periodsented:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Included within Fabricated Products:

Canadian pension plan $ 02 % 0t % 0.4

Deferred compensation plan 0.2 0.2 0.2

Defined contribution plans 3 . 6.6
Total Fabricated Products $ 7.8 $ 8C $ 7.4
Included within All Other:

VEBAs? $ (23.9) % (225 $ (11.9

Deferred compensation plan 0.7 0.¢ 0.8

Defined contribution plans 0.8 0.7 0.7
Total All Other $ (22.2) $ (20.9 $ (10.9)

Total $ 14.9 % (12.9 $ (3.0)

! Substantially all of the Fabricated Products seglmeamployee benefits related charges are in Cqmioofucts sold, excluding depreciat
and amortization and other items with the remairiai@nce in Selling, administrative, research aaetbpment and general.

2 Included within the Statements of Consolidated ineas Net periodic pension benefit income relatngEBAS.

7. Multiemployer Pension Plans

Overview.The Company contributes to multiemployer defineddfi pension plans under the terms of collectraegaining agreements tl
cover its union-represented employees at certaifitias. At December 31, 2014 , approximately 56fthe Company's total employees were
union-represented employees at facilities parttaigan these multiemployer pension plans. The Camypcurrently estimates that
contributions will range from $3.0 to $5.0 per y&aough 2015.

The risks of participating in these multiemploy&ans are different from single-employer plans ia thllowing aspects:

» Assets contributed to the multiemployer plarobg employer may be used to provide benefits td@mps of other participating
employers.

» If a participating employer stops contributirgthe plan, the unfunded obligations of the plary tmaborne by the remaining
participating employers.

» If the Company chooses to stop participatingdme of its multiemployer plans, the Company mayelogiired to pay those plans an
amount based on the underfunded status of the r@ferred to as a withdrawal liability.
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The Company's participation in multiemployer pengitans for the year ended December 31, 2014 Igedtin the table below:

Contributions of the

Employer FIP/RP Status Company Surcharge Expiration Date of
Identification Pension Protection Act Pending/Implemented Imposed in  Collective-Bargaining
Pension Fund Number Zone Status' in 20142 2014 2013 2012 2014 Agreement
2014 2013
Steelworkers Pensio Sep Nov
Trust (USW)? 236648508 Green  Green No $31 $ 28 $3C No 2015 - 2017
Other Fund$ 0.¢ 0.¢ 0.¢

$4C $ 3.8 $3¢

! The most recent Pension Protection Act zone stataiable in 2014 and 2013 for the SteelworkerssRenTrust is for the plan's year-end
at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 , riéaglgc The zone status is based on information tie Company received from the
plan and is certified by the plan's actuary. Amotiter factors, plans in the green zone are at 8&apercent funded.

2 The “FIP/RP Status Pending/Implemented” columndatis if a Financial Improvement Plan (FIP) or hAdtdlitation Plan (RP) is either
pending or has been implemented for the plan uthdePension Protection Act.

3 The Company is party to three USW collective-bargaj agreements that require contributions to tieel®orkers Pension Trust. As of
December 31, 2014 , USW collective bargaining apergs covering employees at the Newark, Ohio ("NkWyand Spokane,
Washington ("Trentwood") facilities covers 86% bétCompany's USW-represented employees and expiBsptember 2015. In January
2015, the Company and the USW entered into a neawfar labor agreement relating to these faalitégfective October 1, 2015 through
September 30, 2020. The Company's monthly contabsitper hour worked by each bargaining unit emgéogt the Newark and
Trentwood facilities are (in whole dollars) $1.2%awill increase to (in whole dollars) $1.50 iny@015 and $1.75 in 2019. The union
contracts covering employees at the Richmond (B, Virginia facility and Florence, Alabama fatgilcover 9% and 5% of the
Company's USW-represented employees, respectaeatlyexpire in November 2017 and March 2017, respdygt

4 Other Funds consists of plans that are not indaligitsignificant

The Company was not listed in any of the planshtso6500 or the Canada-Wide Industrial Pension ftlamcial statements as providing
more than 5% of the total contributions for anytaf plan years disclosed. At December 31, 2014mE&500 were not available for the plan
years ending 2014 . Further, there were no significant changebe number of employees covered by the Compamylsemployer plans
that would affect the period-to-period comparapitit the contributions for the years presented.

8. Employee Incentive Plans
Short-Term Incentive Plans ("STI Plans")

The Company has annual short-term incentive congtiemsplans for senior management and certain ahgrloyees payable at the
Company’s election in cash, shares of common starcé,combination of cash and shares of commork sfgoounts earned under the 2012
and 2013 STI Plans were based primarily on the @oénvalue added ("EVA") of the Company’s FabrichRroducts business, adjusted for
certain safety and individual performance fact&¢A, as defined by the Company's 2012 and 2013Fdis, is the excess of the Company’s
adjusted pre-tax operating income for a particyésar over a pre-determined percentage of the adjustt assets of the immediately precedinc
year, measured ovelone -year period. Amounts, if any, that will berestt under the 2014 STI plan are based on the Coyigpadjusted
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation amattézation ("Adjusted EBITDA"), modified for ceitasafety, quality, delivery, cost and
individual performance factors. The Adjusted EBITEs%gets under the 2014 STI plan were determinsddan the EVA of the Company’s
Fabricated Products business. Most of the Compamrgduction facilities have similar programs fottbbourly and salaried employees.
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Total costs relating to STI Plans were recordefbiews for each period presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation amorization and other items ~ $ 47 % 4€ $ 4.3
Selling, administrative, research and developmedtgeneral 8.C 11.1 10.1
Total costs recorded in connection with STI Plans $ 127§ 157  § 14.4

The following table presents the allocation of tharges detailed above, by segment:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Fabricated Products $ 9€ $ 112 % 9.8
All Other 3.1 4.5 4.5
Total costs recorded in connection with STI Plans $ 127 $ 157 § 14.4

Long-Term Incentive Programs ("LTI Programs")

General. Officers and other key employees of the Compamyne or more of its subsidiaries, as well as nmpleyee directors of the
Company, are eligible to participate in the Kaigkminum Corporation Amended and Restated 2006 tigquid Performance Incentive Plan
(as amended, "Equity Incentive Plan"). The Equityeintive Plan permits the granting of awards inftine of options to purchase common
shares, stock appreciation rights, shares of netedeand vested stock, restricted stock unitsppednce shares, performance units and othel
awards. The Equity Incentive Plan will expire ofyJy 2016 and no grants will be made thereunder &fiat date. The Company's Board of
Directors may, in its discretion, terminate the Bgincentive Plan at any time. The terminatiortled Equity Incentive Plan will not affect the
rights of participants or their successors undgramards outstanding and not exercised in fulllendate of termination and all grants made o
or prior to the date of termination will remaineffect thereafter subject to the terms of the @aplie grant agreement and the Equity Incentive
Plan. Subject to certain adjustments that may feired from time to time to prevent dilution or argement of the rights of participants under
the Equity Incentive Plan, a total of 2,722,222 ooon shares have been authorized for issuance thel&quity Incentive Plan. At
December 31, 2014 , 776,549 common shares werkahblafor additional awards under the Equity InaenPlan.

Non-vested Common Shares and Restricted Stock Uh&xCompany grants non-vested common sharesnoritemployee directors,
executive officers and other key employees. The @ also grants restricted stock units to cegaiployees. The restricted stock units hav
rights similar to the rights of non-vested commbarss and each restricted stock unit that becomsed entitles the recipient to receive one
common share. For both non-vested common shareseatritted stock units, the service period is galheone year for non-employee
directors and three years for executive officeis atiher key employees.

In addition to non-vested common shares and réstistock units, the Company also grants performahares to executive officers and
other key employees. Each performance share tieahies vested entitles the recipient to receivecom@mon share. Performance shares
granted prior to 2014 ("EVA-Based Performance S$iam@re subject to performance conditions pertgimninthe Companyg EVA performanct
measured over specified three-year performancegeriThe number of EVA-Based Performance Sharesvilalltimately vest and result in
the issuance of common shares ranges between Q00% of the target number of underlying common ehéconstituting approximately one-
half of the maximum payout) and depends on theae=annual EVA achieved for the specified threa-pesformance period. Performance
shares granted in 2014 ("TSR-Based PerformanceShare subject to performance conditions perigitd the Company’s total shareholder
return ("TSR") over a three-year performance peciothpared to the TSR of a specified group of peerganies. The number of TSR-Based
Performance Shares that will ultimately vest urttler2014-2016 LTI Program and result in the issaafccommon shares ranges between 09
to 200% of the target number of underlying commisares (constituting approximately one-half of theximum payout) and depends on the
percentile ranking of the Company’s TSR comparetthéogroup of peer companies. During 2014, a poitthe EVA-Based Performance
Shares granted under the 2011-2013 LTI Prograneddsee "Summary of Activity" below). The vestirfgperformance shares resulting in the
issuance and delivery of
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common shares, if any, under the 2012-2014, 201%-20d 2014-2016 LTI Programs will occur in 20181& and 2017, respectively.

Non-Cash Compensation ExpenSempensation expense relating to all awards uitdeEguity Incentive Plan is included in Selling,
administrative, research and development and gemNwa-cash compensation expense by type of awadénl Tl Programs were as follows
for each period presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Non-vested common shares and restricted stock units $ 3¢ $ 423 % 3.8
EVA-Based Performance Shares 1.C 2.3 1.8
TSR-Based Performance Shares 1.¢ — —

Total non-cash compensation expense $ 6.6 $ 6.6 $ 5.€

The following table presents the allocation of tharges detailed above, by segment:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Fabricated Products $ 32 $ 22 1.7
All Other 3.€ 4.4 3.¢
Total non-cash compensation expense $ 6€ $ 66 $ 5.€

Recognized tax benefits relating to non-cash cosgéon expense were $2.5 , $2.4 and $2.1 for 2Q043 and 2012 , respectively.

Unrecognized Gross Compensation Cost Datee following table presents unrecognized grosspeoreation cost data by type of award:

December 31, 2014

Expected period (in
years) over which the
remaining gross
Unrecognized gross  compensation costs will

compensation costs be recognized
Non-vested common shares and restricted stock units $ 5.€ 2.2
EVA-Based Performance Shares $ 1.€ 1.0
TSR-Based Performance Shares $ 4.4 2.1
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Summary of Activityd summary of the activity with respect to non-velstemmon shares, restricted stock units, EVA-Bd&sdformance
Shares and TSR-Based Performance Shares for theryged December 31, 2014 is as follows:

Non-Vested Restricted EVA-Based Performance TSR-Based Performance
Common Shares Stock Units Shares Shares
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average Average
Grant-Date Grant-Date Grant-Date Grant-Date
Fair Fair Fair Fair
Value per Value per Value per Value per
Shares Share Units Unit Shares Share Shares Share
Outstanding at December &
2013 143,96° $ 51.0¢ 547 $ 51.0:¢ 562,55 $ 49.2¢ — 3 =
Granted 119,79¢ 66.42 2,23t 67.42 — — 160,86 83.1¢
Vested (64,49 52.2( (2,350) 46.8: (42,54Y) 47.21 — —
Forfeited! (40,509 60.21 — — (28,619 51.4¢ (10,64 83.1¢
Canceled — % — — % — (137,82() 46.6¢ — —
Outstanding at December 31,
2014 158,77( $  59.8¢ 5351 $ 59.71 353,57 $  50.3t 150,22: $  83.1¢

! For EVA-Based Performance Shares and TSR-BasedrRenfice Shares, the number of shares granted eeiefd are presented at their
maximum payout.

For EVA-Based Performance Shares and TSR-BasedrRenfice Shares, canceled represents the numbearesshat did not vest
due to EVA or TSR performance results falling beltwse required for maximum payout.

The total grant-date fair value for shares gramtad $14.8 during both 2014 and 2013 and $13.9 12 20 he total grant-date fair value for
shares that vested during 2014 , 2013 and 2013%4&s, $5.1 and $3.5 , respectively.

Stock OptionsThe Company has fully-vested stock options graimeD07. There were 16,645 and 20,791 fully-vesigiibns outstanding
as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 201Becteely, in each case exercisable to purchasermmnshares at $80.01 per share and
having a remaining contractual life of 2.25 andb3yRars, respectively. The average fair value efaptions granted was $39.90 . During 2014
no options were granted, exercised or forfeited4td6 options expired.

Vested Stockerom time to time, the Company issues common stiamregn-employee directors electing to receive comishares in lieu of
all or a portion of their annual retainer fees. Téie value of these common shares is based ofathealue of the shares at the date of issuanc
and is immediately recognized in earnings as aga¥kpense. During each of the periods ending Dbeegil, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , the
Company recorded $0.2 relating to common sharegegtdo non-employee directors in lieu of all graation of their annual retainer fees.

Under the Equity Incentive Plan, participants mkagEto have the Company withhold common sharesstisfy minimum statutory tax
withholding obligations arising in connection witie exercise of stock options and vesting of nastedshares, restricted stock units and
performance shares. Any such shares withheld ameeted by the Company on the applicable vestingsdat earlier dates when service
requirements are satisfied, which correspond tdithes at which income to the employee is recoghi¥¢hen the Company withholds these
common shares, the Company is required to rentitd@ppropriate taxing authorities the fair valfithe shares withheld as of the vesting ¢
During 2014 , 2013 and 2012, 33,696 , 40,075 &804 commons shares, respectively, were withhadidcanceled for this purpose. The
withholding of common shares by us could be deeapdrchase of the common shares.

9. Commitments and Contingencies

CommitmentsThe Company has a variety of financial commitmeintduding purchase agreements, forward foreigrharge and forward
sales contracts, indebtedness (and related Optssaté and Warrants) and letters of credit (see Blated Note 10 ).
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Rental expenses were $7.4 , $7.5 and $10.0 for 22043 and 2012 , respectively. There are reneptidns in various operating leases
subject to certain terms and conditions. Minimumaécommitments under operating leases at DeceBhet014 were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2020 and
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter

Minimum rental commitments $ 47 $ 3¢ § 32 $ 2¢ % 27 % 27.€

The Company's purchase obligations at Decembe2@®H consisted of (i) various contracts with sugmsliof aluminum that require the
Company to purchase minimum quantities of alumimu015 at a price to be determined at the timguo€hase based primarily on the
underlying metal price at that time and (ii) enecgytracts requiring the Company to purchase mimnguantities of electricity in future years
at a fixed price. Amounts to be purchased in 2Qideun the variable priced metal contracts totalé@B%2and are included in the table below
based on minimum quantities at the metal pricef @ecember 31, 2014 . The Company believes themmini quantities are lower than its
current requirements for aluminum. Actual quangiged actual metal prices at the time of purchastide different. All remaining amounts
in the table below relate to the fixed price eliedly contracts discussed above. The total amodnésunder purchase obligations as of
December 31, 2014 were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2020 and
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter
Purchase obligations $ 294.¢ % 88 % 29 % 1.C $ 05 % 1.4

Environmental ContingencieShe Company is subject to a number of environmdated and regulations, to potential fines or paeslt
assessed for alleged breaches of such laws anldtiega and to potential claims based upon sucks wd regulations.

The Company has established procedures for reguwadluating environmental loss contingencies. Tbepany’s environmental accruals
represent the Company’s undiscounted estimatesi$ ceasonably expected to be incurred based semnthg enacted laws and regulations,
existing requirements, currently available fackésting technology and the Company’s assessmethiedikely remediation actions to be taken.

The following table presents the changes in suchuats, which are primarily included in Long-teriatilities:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Beginning balance $ 22¢ % 217 % 22.C
Additional accruals 0.8 4.5 1.2
Less expenditures (4.9 (3.9 (1.5
Ending balance $ 19.5 % 22 % 217

In 2012, the Company submitted a final feasibsitydy to the Washington State Department of Eco(tgfashington State Ecology”) that
included recommendations for remediation altermatiprimarily to address the historical use of cdlataining polychlorinated biphenyls,
("PCBs") at the Trentwood facility. The Companyoasigned an amended work order in 2012 with Wasbmtate Ecology allowing certain
remediation activities to begin the initiation ofraatability study in regards to proposed PCB miateon methods. The Company began
implementation of certain approved sections ofviloek plan in 2013 and continues to work with Wasjtim State Ecology in developing the
implementation work plans, which are subject to kMagton State Ecology approval.

During 2013, at the request of the Ohio EnvironrakRtotection Agency ("OEPA"), the Company initéen investigational study of the
Newark facility related to historical -site waste disposal. As this work continues amdjEsses to a risk assessment and feasibility stody
Company will establish and update estimates fobalote and estimable remediations, if any. The &etua final cost for remediation will not
be fully determinable until a final feasibility styis submitted and accepted by the OEPA and wiankspare prepared, which is expected to
occur in the next 18 to 24 months .
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At December 31, 2014 , the Company’s environmeatatual of $19.3 represented the Company’s estinfdtee incremental remediation
cost based on (i) proposed alternatives in thd femsibility study related to the Trentwood fatsiji(ii) currently available facts with respect to
the Newark, Ohio facility; and (iii) facts relatéal certain other locations owned or formally owtgdhe Company. In accordance with
approved and proposed remediation action plansCtimpany expects that the implementation and omggmionitoring could occur over a
period of 30 or more years.

As additional facts are developed, feasibility #sdire completed, draft remediation plans are fieaklinecessary regulatory approvals for
the implementation of remediation are obtaine@rabtive technologies are developed and/or otlwoifa change, there may be revisions to
managemens estimates and actual costs may exceed the cemembnmental accruals. The Company believesigtithe that it is reasonab
possible that undiscounted costs associated wefetenvironmental matters may exceed current dedsyamounts that could be, in the
aggregate, up to an estimated $25.1 over the reti@diperiod. It is reasonably possible that thenBany’s recorded estimate may change in
the next 12 months .

Other Contingencies'The Company is party to various lawsuits, claimsestigations and administrative proceedings thatan
connection with past and current operations. The@my evaluates such matters on a case-by-casedvakits policy is to vigorously contest
any such claims it believes are without merit. Qmmpany accrues for a legal liability when it igtbbprobable that a liability has been incur
and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimghlarterly, in addition to when changes in factd eincumstances require it, the Company
reviews and adjusts these accruals to reflectntipacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, adeidegal counsel and other information and
events pertaining to a particular case. While uiadties are inherent in the final outcome of sowtters and it is presently impossible to
determine the actual cost that may ultimately lw&iired, management believes that it has suffigieederved for such matters and that the
ultimate resolution of pending matters will not bavmaterial impact on the Company’s consolidatehtial position, operating results, or
liquidity.

10. Derivative Financial Instruments and Related Hdging Programs

Overview. In conducting its business, the Company enteéosdarivative transactions, including forward caets and options, to limit its
economic (i.e. cash) exposure resulting from (ijahprice risk related to its sale of fabricatednainum products and the purchase of metal
used as raw material for its fabrication operatigiisenergy price risk relating to fluctuatingipes of natural gas and electricity used in its
production processes; and (iii) foreign currenauieements with respect to its foreign subsidiagied cash commitments for equipment
purchases denominated in foreign currency. Addiignin connection with the issuance of the Cotilség Notes, the Company purchased
Option Assets relating to the Company’s commonkstodimit its exposure to the cash conversiondeabf the Convertible Notes (see Note
3).

The Company’s derivative activities are overseen Iwdging committee ("Hedging Committee"), whisltdmposed of the Company's
chief executive officer, chief financial officetief accounting officer, vice president of metakrand other officers and employees selected k
the chief executive officer. The Hedging Committeeets regularly to review derivative positions atrdtegy and reports to the Company’s
Board of Directors on the scope of its activities.

Hedges of Operational Risk3he Company’s pricing of fabricated aluminum proid is generally intended to lock in a conversitargin
(representing the value added from the fabricgtimtess(es)) and to pass through metal price #ichos to its customers. In certain instances
the Company enters into firm-price arrangementh Wét customers for stipulated volumes to be dedigen the future. Additionally, for some
of its higher value added products sold on a spseishthe pass through of metal price movementsaaretimes lag by as much as several
months, with a favorable impact to the Company wimetal prices decline and an adverse impact t€tmpany when metal prices increases
Because the Company generally purchases primargesahdary aluminum on a floating price basisyvtilame that it has committed to sell
its customers under a firm-price arrangement aadat) in passing through metal price movementsistoeners on some of its higher value
added products sold on a spot basis create métal sk for the Company. The Company uses thindygaedging instruments to limit
exposure to metal price risk related to firm-pricstomer sales contracts and the metal pass thtaggin some of its products. See Note 11
for additional information regarding the Companwyiaterial derivative positions relating to hedgesérational risk and their respective fair
values.

A majority of the Company's derivative contractatiag to hedges of operational risks contain kiifyi based thresholds that could require
the Company to provide additional collateral in #vent the Company's liquidity were to fall belopesified levels. To minimize the exposure
to additional collateral requirements related $diébility hedge positions, the Company allocdtedging transactions among its counterpar
uses options as part of its hedging activitiehath. The aggregate fair value of the Company'walive instruments that were in a net liabil
position at December 31, 2014 was $11.4 .
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The Company regularly reviews the creditworthingfsiss derivative counterparties and does not efmemcur significant loss from the
failure of any counterparties to perform under agyeements.

Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notés described in Note 3 , the Company issued ®lg8ncipal amount of Convertible Notes due
on April 1, 2015, which can only be settled in cashe conversion feature of the Convertible Notes wequired to be bifurcated from the
Convertible Notes and treated as a separate desvastrument. In order to offset the cash floskrassociated with the Bifurcated Conversior
Feature, the Company purchased Option Assets, velneehccounted for as derivative instruments. Tomgany expects that the cash receive
from the settlement of the Option Assets will eqaradl offset the cash that it will be required tg pathe holders of any converted Convertible
Notes in excess of the principal amount thereofiatetest payable thereon. SNote 11 for additional information regarding thé faalues of
the Bifurcated Conversion Feature and the Optiosefss

Realized and Unrealized Gains and Los$tsalized and unrealized (losses) gains associathdilvderivative contracts consisted of the
following for each period presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Realized gains (losses):
Aluminum $ 6. $ 55 $ (9.0
Natural Gas 1.C (1.8) (6.7)
Electricity (0.2 0.8 (3.9)
Total realized gains (losses): $ 7.8 % (65 $ (19.9)
Unrealized (losses) gains:
Hedges of operational risk:
Aluminum $ (2€) % (32 % 10.1
Natural Gas (6.0 2.€ .3
Electricity (1.8 1.1 0.8
Foreign Currency — 0.1 —
Total hedges of operational risk (10.9 0.7 15.2
Option Assets relating to the Convertible Notes 5.2 24.2 9.C
Bifurcated Conversion Feature of the Convertiblédso (1.6 (21.0 (8.2
Total unrealized (losses) gains $ (6.6 $ 3¢ § 16.C

The following table summarizes the Company's malteleérivative positions at December 31, 2014 :

Maturity Period Notional Amount of
Aluminum (month/year) Contracts (mmilbs)
Fixed price purchase contracts 1/15 through 1/16 67.%
Midwest premium swap contracts 1/15 through 12/15 67.1
Maturity Period Notional Amount of
Natural Gas*® (month/year) Contracts (mmbtu)
Fixed price purchase contracts 1/15 through 12/17 6,720,00!
Maturity Period Notional Amount of
Electricity ° (month/year) Contracts (Mwh)
Fixed price purchase contracts 1/15 through 12/15 175,201
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Notional Amount of

Contract Period Contracts (Common
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Notes (month/year) Shares)
Bifurcated Conversion Featute 3/10 through 4/15 3,660,73
Option Assetd 3/10 through 4/15 3,660,73

! Regional premiums represent the premium over threlbn Metal Exchange price for primary aluminum whig incurred on the Compan
purchases of primary aluminum.

2 As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had Henry IMNBIEX-based hedge positions in place to cover sxpe to fluctuations in prices
for approximately 81% , 73% and 12% of the expeatgdral gas purchases for 2015 , 2016 and 204spectively.

®  As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had Mid-€rhrtional Commodity Exchange-based hedge positiopkace to cover exposure to
fluctuations in prices for approximately 44% of #aected electricity purchases for 2015 .

* The Bifurcated Conversion Feature represents thle canversion feature of the Convertible Notes. Op&on Assets expire on the matu
or earlier conversion of the Convertible Notes hade an exercise price equal to the conversiom pfithe Convertible Notes, subject to
anti-dilution adjustments substantially similarthe anti-dilution adjustments for the Convertibletés. Although the fair value of the
Option Assets is derived from a notional numbestadres of the Company's common stock, the Opticetasnay only be settled in cash.

The Company enters into derivative contracts withnterparties, some of which are subject to enfdlgemaster netting arrangements anc
some of which are not. The Company reflects theviaiue of its derivative contracts on a gross$asithe Consolidated Balance Sheets (see€

Note 2).
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The following tables present offsetting informati@mgarding the Company's derivatives by type ohterparty as of December 31, 2014 :

Derivative Assets and Collateral Held by Counterpar

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Net Amounts of
Gross Amounts  Assets Presented

Gross Amounts Offset in the in the
of Recognized Consolidated Consolidated Financial Cash Collateral
Assets Balance Sheets  Balance Sheets Instruments Received Net Amount
Counterparty (with netting agreement:$ 0c $ — 3 0c % 0.8 $ — 0.1
Counterparty (without netting
agreements) 84.¢ — 84.¢ — — 84.¢
Total $ 85.7 $ — 3 85.7 $ 0.8 $ — 84.¢

Derivative Liabilities and Collateral Held by Couetparty

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Net Amounts of

Gross Amounts Liabilities
Gross Amounts Offset in the Presented in the
of Recognized Consolidated Consolidated Financial Cash Collateral
Liabilities Balance Sheets  Balance Sheets Instruments Pledged Net Amount
Counterparty (with netting agreement:$ 8.0 $ — 3 8.0 % 0.8 $ — (7.2
Counterparty (without netting
agreements) (85.0 — (85.0) — — (85.0
Counterparty (with partial netting
agreements) (3.9 — (3.9 — — (3.9
Total $ (96.¢) $ — 3 (96.€) $ 0.9 % — (96.0

! Such amounts include the fair value of the Bifueda€onversion Feature and Option Assets at Dece&ihe014 (see Note )1
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The following tables present offsetting informati@mgarding the Company’s derivatives by type ofrterparty as of December 31, 2013 :

Derivative Assets and Collateral Held by Counterpar

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Net Amounts of
Gross Amounts  Assets Presented

Gross Amounts Offset in the in the
of Recognized Consolidated Consolidated Financial Cash Collateral
Assets Balance Sheets  Balance Sheets Instruments Received Net Amount
Counterparty (with netting agreement:$ 1C $ — 3 1C % 0.8 $ — 0.2
Counterparty (without netting
agreements) 80.4 — 80.4 — — 80.4
Counterparty (with partial netting
agreements) 0.4 — 0.4 0.4 — —
Total $ 81t $ — 3 81t $ 1.2 $ — 3 80.¢€

Derivative Liabilities and Collateral Held by Couetparty

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Net Amounts of

Gross Amounts Liabilities
Gross Amounts Offset in the Presented in the
of Recognized Consolidated Consolidated Financial Cash Collateral
Liabilities Balance Sheets  Balance Sheets Instruments Pledged Net Amount
Counterparty (with netting agreements$ (1.€) 9 — $ (1.6) $ 0.9 $ — 3 (0.9
Counterparty (without netting
agreements) (83.2) — (83.2) — — (83.2)
Counterparty (with partial netting
agreements) 1.3 — (1.3 (0.4 — (0.9
Total $ (86.7) $ —  $ (86.7) $ 12 $ — 8 (84.9)

! Such amounts include the fair value of the Bifueda€onversion Feature and Option Assets at Dece®ihe@013 (see Note )1

11. Fair Value Measurements
Overview

The Company applies the fair value hierarchy ethdtl by GAAP for the recognition and measureméassets and liabilities. An asset or
liability's fair value classification within the driarchy is determined based on the lowest leveititimat is significant to the fair value
measurement. In determining fair value, the Compaitizes valuation techniques that maximize the akobservable inputs and minimize the
use of unobservable inputs to the extent possitdecansiders counterparty risk in its assessmefatiovalue.

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities evaluated and measured on a recurring basisa of that evaluation process, the
Company reviews the underlying inputs that areifiggmt to the fair value measurement of finandaiestruments to determine if a transfer
among hierarchy levels is appropriate. The Compasiprically has not had significant transfers intamut of each hierarchy level.
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Financial assets and liabilities that the Compaegasures at fair value as required by GAAP incl@diéts derivative instruments; (ii) the
plan assets of the VEBAs and the Company's Canalditimed benefit pension plan measured annualBeaember 31; and (iii) available for
sale securities, consisting of debt investmentriiesiand investments related to the Company'srded compensation plan (see Note 6 ). The
Company records certain other financial assetdiahiiities at carrying value (see the tables befowthe fair value disclosure of those assets
and liabilities).

The majority of the Company's non-financial asseid liabilities, which include goodwill, intangibsssets, inventories and property, plant
and equipment, are not required to be measuredratdlue on a recurring basis. However, if certaijgering events occur (or at least annu
for goodwill), an evaluation of a non-financial eser liability is required, potentially resulting an adjustment to the carrying amount of such
asset or liability.

Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Derivative Assets and Liabilitie$he Company's derivative contracts are valuediavédue using significant observable and unobdaleva
inputs.

Commaodity, Energy and Foreign Currency Derivativ@se fair values of a majority of these derivatogntracts are based
upon trades in liquid markets. Valuation model itsptan generally be verified and valuation techesdo not involve
significant judgment. The fair values of such finhinstruments are generally classified withirvek2 of the fair value hierarchy. The
Company, however, has some derivative contractgithaot have observable market quotes. For theaadial instruments, management uses
significant unobservable inputs (e.g., informatimmcerning regional premiums for swaps). Where giste, valuations are adjusted for
various factors, such as bid/offer spreads. Theviue of these financial instruments is clasdifis Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

Bifurcated Conversion Feature and Option Assetse-fair value of the Bifurcated Conversion Feaiammeasured as the difference in the
estimated fair value of the Convertible Notes dreddstimated fair value of the Convertible Notetheut the cash conversion feature. The
Convertible Notes are valued based on the tradiicg pf the Convertible Notes each period end {s&k Other Financial Assets and
Liabilities” below). The fair value of the Convertible Notesheitit the cash conversion feature is the presenewaithe series of the
remaining fixed income cash flows under the ConbkriNotes, with a maturity of April 1, 2015. Théfldcated Conversion Feature and the
Option Assets were designed to offset each othen tipeir maturity. Due to the short duration befior@turity, management concluded that the
fair value of the Option Assets should equal thevalue of the Bifurcated Conversion Feature aBetember 31, 2014 .

As of December 31, 2014 , the Bifurcated Conversieature and Option Assets were recorded as cuiabilities and assets, respectively,
and were included in the Consolidated Balance Skeatportion of Other accrued liabilities and Rrégxpenses and other current assets,
respectively.

The aggregate fair value of the Company's derieativecorded on the Consolidated Balance SheBscaimber 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, was a net liability of $11.d $4.3 , respectively. The increase in the netlitgposition during 2014 was primarily due
to changes in the underlying commodity and energep, as well as settlement of asset positionsmdwwuch period. Changes in the fair value
of the Company's derivative contracts relatinggerational hedging activities are reflected in @giag income (see Note 10 ).

VEBA and Canadian Pension Plan Ass&tee VEBA assets are managed by various investniBtig@s selected by the trustees of each of
the VEBAs. The VEBA assets are outside of the Camijgecontrol and the Company does not have ingightthe investment strategies. The
fair value of the plan assets of the VEBA asselmi&ed on information made available to the Combgrthe VEBA administrators.

The assets of the Company's Canadian pension pananaged by advisors selected by the Companily thétinvestment portfolio subject
to periodic review and evaluation by the Compaimwestment committee. The investment of assetsdrCtanadian pension plan is based upo
the objective of maintaining a diversified portfobf investments in order to minimize concentratibieredit and market risks (such as interes
rate, currency, equity price and liquidity risk&he degree of risk and risk tolerance take int@antthe obligation structure of the plan, the
anticipated demand for funds and the maturity pFsfiequired from the investment portfolio in ligiithese demands.

The fair value of the plan assets of the VEBAs tiedCompany's Canadian pension plan is measurathiyyion December 31 and is
reflected in the Company's Consolidated BalancetSha fair value. In determining the fair valudtod plan assets at each annual period end
the Company utilizes primarily the results of vaioas supplied by the investment
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advisors responsible for managing the assets &f glaa, which the Company independently reviewgéasonableness. With respect to the
VEBASs, the investment advisors providing the valus are engaged by the VEBA trustees.

Certain assets are valued based upon unadjustéedguarket prices in active markets that are adudesst the measurement date for
identical, unrestricted assets (e.g., liquid seimsiisted on an exchange). Such assets arefwdssithin Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Valuation of other invested assets is based onfgignt observable inputs (e.g., net asset valtiesgistered investment companies not
listed on an exchange, valuations derived fromalaharket transactions, broker-dealer suppliedataas, or correlations between a given
U.S. market and a non-U.S. security). Valuation eld@abuts can generally be verified and valuatechhiques do not involve significant
judgment. The fair values of such financial instants are classified within Level 2 of the fair vahierarchy

Available for Sale Securitie$he Company holds debt investment securities. &lesélue of the debt investment securities, whtichsist
of commercial paper and corporate bonds, is deterthbased on valuation models that use observadleetrdata. At December 31, 2014 , the
remaining maturity period with respect to shortriénvestments ranged from nine days to approximdt&limonths . In addition to debt
investment securities, the Company also holds s@setarious investment funds at certain registémedstment companies in connection with
its deferred compensation program (see Note 1 and 6l). Such assets are accounted for as avaftaidale securities and are measured anc
recorded at fair value based on the net asset wélie investment funds on a recurring basis. félrevalue input of the available for sale
securities is considered either a Level 1 or L&vielput depending on whether the debt securityeestment fund is traded on a public
exchange. The amortized cost for available for saetirities approximates their fair value.

All Other Financial Assets and LiabilitieShe Company believes that the fair value of ithaasd cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities approxanttair respective carrying values due to theirtsimaturities and nominal credit risk.

The fair value of the Convertible Notes and Sehlotes is based on their trading prices and is densil a Level 1 input in the fair value
hierarchy (see Note 3 for the carrying values ef@onvertible Notes and the Senior Notes).
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The following table presents the Company's findringtruments, classified under the appropriatell®f the fair value hierarchy, as of the
period presented:

December 31, 2014

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Derivative Instruments
Aluminum -
Midwest premium swap contracts — — 1.C 1.C
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Not&ption Assets — 84.17 — 84.7
VEBASs and Canadian Pension Plan
Fixed income investment funds in registered investim
companies 54.C 340.: — 394.:
Mortgage-backed securities — 30.1 — 30.1
Corporate debt securitiés — 75.4 — 75.4
Equity investment funds in registered investmembganies’ — 191.: — 191.:
United States Treasuries — 39.t — 39.t
Municipal debt securities — 1.8 — 1.8
Cash and money market investmehts 19.: — — 19.:
Asset-backed securities — 8.1 — 8.1
Diversified investment funds in registered investine
companies$ 20.¢ 6.2 — 26.€
All Other Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalefts 29.k 148.2 — 177.5
Short-term investments — 114.C — 114.(
Deferred compensation plan assets — & — &
Total assets $ 1232 % 1,046.¢ $ 1.C $ 1,171.:
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Derivative Instruments
Aluminum Fixed price purchase contracts $ — 3 42 % — 3 4.2
Natural Gas +Fixed price purchase contracts — (6.2 — (6.2
Electricity - Fixed price purchase contracts — 1.7 — 1.7
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Not&furcated Conversior
Feature — (84.7) — (84.7)
All Other Financial Liabilities
Senior Notes (244.%) — — (244.5
Convertible Notes, including Bifurcated Converskesature (263.9) — — (263.9)
Total liabilities $ (507.5) $ (96.5) $ — $ (604.6)

The following table presents the Company's findringtruments, classified under the appropriatell®d the fair value hierarchy, as of the
period presented:
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December 31, 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS:
Derivative Instruments
Aluminum -
Fixed price purchase contracts $ — 3 01 $ — 0.1
Midwest premium swap contracts — — 11 11
Natural Gas Fixed price purchase contracts — 0.t — 0.t
Electricity - Fixed price purchase contracts — 0.t — 0.t
Foreign Currency £uro — 0.1 — 0.1
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Noté&ption Assets — 79.5 — 79.5
VEBAs and Canadian Pension Plan
Fixed income investment funds in registered investim
companies 57.C 318.( — 375.(
Mortgage-backed securities — 25.¢ — 25.¢
Corporate debt securitiés — 78.2 — 78.2
Equity investment funds in registered investmembganies — 175.: — 175.:
United States Treasuries — 43.c — 43.c
Municipal debt securities — 1.€ — 1.€
Cash and money market investmehts 36.¢ — — 36.¢
Asset-backed securities — 8.t — 8.t
Diversified investment funds in registered investine
companies 20.1 6.2 — 26.2
All Other Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalefts 57.1 111.¢ — 169.t
Short-term investments — 129.5 — 129.t
Deferred compensation plan assets — 6.5 — 6.5
Total assets $ 171.€¢ $ 985. % 1.1 $ 1,158.:
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:
Derivative Instruments
Aluminum Fixed price purchase contracts $ — 3 1.8 $ — (1.8
Natural Gas Fixed price purchase contracts — (0.9 — (0.9
Electricity - Fixed price purchase contracts — (0.9 — (0.9
Hedges Relating to the Convertible Not&furcated Conversion
Feature — (83.]) — (83.7)
All Other Financial Liabilities
Senior Notes (255.9) — — (255.9)
Convertible Notes, including Bifurcated Converskegature (260.0 — — (260.0)
Total liabilities $ (515.9 $ (86.) $ — (601.5)
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L This category represents investments in variowsdfincome funds with multiple registered investnmmorhpanies. Such funds invest in
diversified portfolios, including (i) marketablexéd income securities such as (a) U.S. Treasuryo#re government and agency
securities, (b) municipal bonds, (c) mortgage-bddecurities, (d) asset-backed securities, (e)acatp bonds, notes and debentures in
various sectors, (f) preferred and common stockinfgestments in affiliated and other investmennpanies, (h) short-term investments
and other net assets and (i) repurchase agreeamhtgverse repurchase agreements; (ii) other coghed investments; (iii) investment
grade debt; (iv) fixed income instruments which rbayrepresented by options, future contracts opsgaeements; and (v) cash and cast
equivalents. The fair value of assets in this aategs estimated using the net asset value peegifahe investments.

This category represents investments in fixed iregorporate securities in various sectors. Investsia the industrial, financial and
utilities sectors in 2014 represented approximaiéBs , 37% and 12% of the total portfolio in th&egory, respectively. Investments in
the industrial, financial and utilities sector2id13 represented approximately 56% , 35% and 9#teototal portfolio in this category,
respectively. The fair value of assets in this gatg is estimated using the net asset value pee sifahe investments.

This category represents investments in equitysuhdt invest in portfolios comprised of (i) equitiyd equityrelated securities of U.S. €
non-U.S. issuers across all market capitalizatijncommon stock in investment trust funds; anij ¢ther short-term investments. The
fair value of assets in this category is determimgdsing quoted prices in active markets for itwesnts considered Level 1 inputs and
estimated using the net asset value per share dfitestments for investments considered Levepts

4 This category represents cash and investmentgiousamoney market func

> The plan assets are invested in investment furadshttld a diversified portfolio of (i) U.S and intational debt and equity securities; (ii)
fixed income securities such as corporate bondgjamdrnment bonds; (iii) mortgage-related secusjtand (iv) cash and cash equivalents
The fair value of assets in this category is edtihaising the net asset value per share of thetimests.

&  See Note Zor components of cash and cash equival

Financial instruments classified as Level 3 inféievalue hierarchy represent Midwest premium swaiptracts for which at least one
significant unobservable input in the valuation mlad a management estimate. This is necessartodhe lack of an exchange traded produc
with observable market pricing data. Fair value determined using a forward curve based on theageepricing quotes from the Company's
trading counterparties and applying a discounifalchsed on the risk free interest rate.

The following table presents quantitative inforratfor Level 3 Midwest premium derivative contracts

Fair Value at
December 31, 2014 Valuation technique Unobservable input Range ($ in unit price)
Assets:
Midwest premium contracts 1.0 Discounted fair value Pricing forward curve $0.236 per metric ton in

Jan 2015 to $0.205 per
metric ton in Dec 2016
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The following table presents a reconciliation dfivaty for the Level 3 Midwest premium derivativermtracts on a net basis:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Fair value measurement at beginning of period $ 1.1 $ 0.4
Total realized/unrealized gains included in:
Cost of goods sold, excluding depreciation and &rairon and other items and Unrealized
(gains) losses on derivative instruments 4.4 (0.2
Transactions involving Level 3 derivative contracts
Purchases 2.8 1.C
Sales — —
Issuances — —
Settlements (7.9 (0.2
Transactions involving Level 3 derivatives - net (4.5 0.€
Transfers in and (or) out of Level 3 valuation hiehy — —
Fair value measurement at end of period $ 1€ $ 1.1
Total gains included in Unrealized (gains) losseslerivative instruments, attributable to the cheaimgy
unrealized gains/losses relating to derivative @mt$ held at December 31: 1€ $ 11

Fair Values of Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities

CAROs.The inputs in estimating the fair value of CAROslurde: (i) the timing of when any such CARO casiwé may be incurred;
(ii) incremental costs associated with special liagdr treatment of CARO materials; and (iii) tbedit-adjusted risk-free rate applicable at
the time additional CARO cash flows are estimagdidyf which are considered Level 3 inputs as timplve significant judgment of the
Company.

During 2014 , the Company re-assessed and reusedtimates relating to the timing and future €o$tvarious asbestos removal projects
at one facility. The following table summarizes #dwativity relating to the Company's CARO liabilgie

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Beginning balance $ 44 $ 41 $ 4.C
Liabilities settled during the period — (0.2 (0.5
Accretion expense 0.4 0.4 .3
Adjustment to accretion expense due to revisiorestonated cash flow and
timing of expendituré — 0.1 0.2
Ending balance $ 4¢€ $ 44 $ 4.1

! The adjustments in 2013 did not have a materiahirthpn the basic and diluted net income per star2f13. The adjustment in 2012
decreased both basic and diluted net income pee $ba2012 by approximately $0.02 per share.

The estimated fair value of CARO liabilities at Retber 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 were both hgem the application of a
weighted-average credit-adjusted risk-free rat®.6% . CAROs are included in Other accrued lidbgibr Long-term liabilities, as appropriate
(see Note 2).

During 2014 , the Company performed a review opitsperty, plant and equipment held for future depment that it determined not to
deploy for future use, resulting in impairment des to reflect the scrap value of such assetdNeee1l ). With the exception of the
impairment of these assets, the Company concluggdbne of its non-financial assets, including
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goodwill and intangible assets and liabilities sabjto fair value assessments on a non-recurriag bequired a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of such assets and liabilities etdnber 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 .

12. Net Income Per Share

Basic and diluted net income per share for 20101 32and 2012 were calculated as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Numerator:
Net income $ 716 $ 104.¢ % 85.¢
Denominator - Weighted-average common shares owlisig: (in thousands):
Basic! 17,81¢ 18,827 19,11¢
Add: dilutive effect of non-vested common sharestrnicted stock units and
performance shares 17¢ 17¢ 162
Add: dilutive effect of warrants 59¢ 241 —
Diluted? 18,59: 19,24¢ 19,27¢
Net income per common share, Basic: $ 40z $ 556 $ 4.4¢
Net income per common share, Diluted: $ 38t $ 544 % 4.4t

! The basic weighted-average number of common slatstanding during the period excludes non-vestedneon shares, restricted stock
units and performance shares.

2 The diluted weightedwerage number of common shares outstanding dtivingeriods were calculated using the treasury odeth

There were 16,645 and 20,791 fully-vested optianstanding as of December 31, 2014 and Decemb&03B , respectively, in each case
exercisable to purchase common shares at $80.0shpez. The number of potentially dilutive stockiops were excluded from the
computation of diluted net income per share ag #féect would have been anti-dilutive for eacttted periods presented.

Warrants relating to approximately 3.7 million a&hé million common shares were outstanding at Déegri1, 2014 (at an average
exercise price of approximately $60.70 per shamd)@ecember 31, 2013 (at an average exercise g@irigproximately $61.08 per share),
respectively.

During 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , the Company paidead td approximately $25.4 ( $1.40 per common sh&23.0 ( $1.20 per common
share) and $19.6 ( $1.00 per common share), régplgctin cash dividends to stockholders, includthg holders of restricted stock and
dividend equivalents to the holders of certainrietstd stock units and to the holders of perforneasitares granted prior to 2014 with respe
the target number of underlying common shares (itatiag approximately one-half of the maximum pat)o Additionally, during the third
quarter of 2013, $0.6 of cash dividends paid ipeesof common shares of the Company held in tyst third-party, as well as 9,001 such
common shares were returned to the Company. Thenfaket value of the shares was included in Gth@me, net (see Note 15).

From time to time, the Company repurchases shanesignt to a stock repurchase program authorizedebZompany’s Board of
Directors. Repurchase transactions will occur ahdimes and prices as management deems apprognidteill be funded with the Compasy’
excess liquidity after giving consideration to imi&l and external growth opportunities and futuastcflows. Repurchases may be in open-
market transactions or in privately negotiatedseations and the program may be modified or tertathby the Company’s Board of Directors
at any time.

In 2014 and 2013, the Company repurchased 63&280,232,077 shares of common stock at a weightetage price of $70.87 and
$64.35 per share, respectively, pursuant to theks&purchase program. The total cost of $44.9%%d3 was
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recorded as Treasury stock as of December 31, 20dDecember 31, 2013 , respectively. The Compamnghased no shares under this
program during 2012 . At December 31, 2014 and Béez 31, 2013 , $72.8 and $117.6 , respectivelyeaeailable to repurchase the
Company’s common shares pursuant to the stockcbpse program.

13. Segment and Geographical Area Information

The Company's primary line of business is the pctidao of semi-fabricated specialty aluminum produsuch as aluminum sheet and plat
and extruded and drawn products, primarily usegkimspace/high strength, automotive, general eadimeand other industrial end market
applications. The Company operates 11 focused ptimfufacilities in the United States and one im&@a. Consistent with the manner in
which the Company's chief operating decision ma&eiews and evaluates the Company's business athricBted Products business is treated
as a single operating segment.

In addition to the Fabricated Products segmentCiiapany has a business unit, All Other, which gles general and administrative
support for the Company's operations. For purposesgment reporting under GAAP, the Company tréets-abricated Products segment
reportable segment. All Other is not considereeprtable segment.

The accounting policies of the Fabricated Prodsetsnent are the same as those described in N@Bedment results are evaluated
internally by management before any allocationarporate overhead and without any charge for inctaxes, interest expense, or other net
operating charges.

The following tables provide financial informatidy reporting segment and business unit for eadlogher as of each period end, as
applicable:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Net sales:

Fabricated Products $ 1,356.. $ 1,297t $ 1,360.:
Segment operating income (loss):

Fabricated Productg $ 1512 % 188.€ $ 190.¢

All Other?® (23.5) (15.9) (24.9)
Total operating income $ 137.¢  $ 1732 $ 165.¢
Interest expense (37.5) (35.7) (29.7)
Other income, net 6.7 5.€ 2.8
Income before income taxes $ 107.1 % 1432 $ 139.¢
Depreciation and amortization:

Fabricated Products $ 306 $ 27€¢ % 26.C

All Other 0.5 0.5 0.t
Total depreciation and amortization $ 311 $ 281 $ 26.5
Capital expenditures:

Fabricated Products $ 58t % 69.6 $ 43.¢

All Other 0.¢ 0.€ 0.3
Total capital expenditures $ 594 $ 704§ 44.1

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Assets:

Fabricated Products $ 878.¢ $ 852.t

All Other* 864.¢ 918.4
Total assets $ 1,743. $ 1,770.¢
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1 Operating results in the Fabricated Products segfoe@014 , 2013 and 2012 included $1.2 , $4.0%hd, respectively, of environmen
expense. Fabricated Products segment operatinigsrému2014 and 2012 included $1.5 and $4.4 oétisspairment charge relating to
certain property, plant and equipment.

Fabricated Products segment results for 2014 , 2083012 include non-cash marka@rket (losses) gains on primary aluminum, na
gas, electricity and foreign currency hedging atiéig totaling $(10.4) , $0.7 and $15.2 , respedyiviFor further discussion regarding
mark-to-market matters, see Note 10 .

3 Operating results of All Other include VEBA net joelic pension benefit income of $23.7 , $22.5 ah#l.$ for 2014 , 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Assets in All Other represent primarily all of tBempany’s cash and cash equivalents, short-terestments, financial derivative assets,
net assets of VEBAs and net deferred income teatgiss

Net sales by product categories based on end mapkéitations for the Fabricated Products segmeméas follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net sales:
Aero/HS products $ 686.2 $ 677.C % 695.]
Automotive Extrusions 173. 129. 125.k
GE products 419.t 411.( 441 ¢
Other products 76.¢ 80.C 98.1
Total net sales $ 1,356.. $ 1,297f $ 1,360.:

Geographic information for net sales based on egwitorigin, income taxes paid and long-lived asseere as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net sales to unaffiliated customers:
Fabricated Products —
United States $ 1,254.( $ 1,204. $ 1,256.!
Canada 102.1 92.¢ 103.¢
Total net sales $ 1,356.. $ 1,297 $ 1,360.:
Income taxes paid:
Fabricated Products —
United States $ 21 % 12 $ 0.t
Canada 1.4 0. 1.3
Total income taxes paid $ 35 § 21§ 18
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Long-lived assets:
Fabricated Products —
United States $ 4326 $ 409.t
Canada 17.4 15.c
Total Fabricated Products long-lived assets 450.( 424.¢
All Other —
United States 4.¢ 4.t
Total All Other long-lived assets 4.¢ 4.t
Total long-lived assets $ 454¢  § 429.:

! Long-lived assets represent Property, plant anépaetgnt, net.
The aggregate foreign currency transaction gaossés) included in determining net income were itenied for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .

The Company depends on a core group of significasttomers and suppliers of primary aluminum. Tiss laf the Company’s largest
customers or suppliers would have a material adveifect on the Company taken as a whole. Howévéine Company’s opinion, the
relationships between the Company and its custoaretsuppliers are good and the risk of loss daitgest customers or suppliers is remote.

For the years ended December 31, 2014 , Decemb@033 and December 31, 2012 one individual custoepresented 22% , 23% and
22% , respectively, of Fabricated Products Netss&ter the years ended December 31, 2014 and Dec&dhp2013 , a second individual
customer represented 10% and 12% , respectivelyaloficated Products Net sales.

At December 31, 2014 , two individual customersoamted for 10% and 12% of the trade receivabddsnce and two individual
customers accounted 12% and 14% of the tradévisdales balance at December 31, 2013.

Information for export sales and primary aluminwmpy from the Company's major suppliers were #ewis:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Percentage of Net sales:
Export sales 1¢% 17% 1&%
Percentage of Total Annual Primary Aluminum Sup(iihg):
Supply from the Company's top five major suppliers 71% 8€% 78%
Supply from the Company's largest supplier 3C% 25% 29%
Supply from the Company's second and third largegpliers 25% 35% 31%
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14. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Interest paid
Income taxes paid
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Stock repurchases not yet settled (accrued in atsqayable)
Unpaid purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of property and equipment through cdpdalng arrangements

15. Other Income, Net

Other income, net consisted of the following focle@eriod presented:

Interest income

Unrealized gains on financial derivatives
Realized gains on investments
Distribution from third-party trust
Insurance settlement

All other, net

Other income, net

1

2 See Note 1%or discussion of the distributic

99

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
25€ $ 28.1 19.4
3t ¢ 2.1 1.6
0.8 % 1.C —
1.8 % 4.4 3.4
— 3 0.2 0.1

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
1.C $ 0.4 0.4
3.€ 3.2 0.6
1.C 14 0.t
— 0.€ —
— 0.4
11 —_ 0.7
6.7 $ 5.€ 2.8

See “Derivative Financial Instrumentsin Note 1for a discussion of accounting policy for such instents
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16. Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income

The following table presents the tax effect alledato each component of other comprehensive (inssjne for each period presented:

Before-Tax Before-Tax Income Tax
Amount Amount (Expense) Net-of-Tax
(as reported) (as reclassified) Benefit® Amount
2014
Defined benefit pension plan and VEBASs:
Net actuarial loss arising during the period $ (39.0 $ 145 $ (24.5)
Prior service cost arising during the period (90.5) 33.¢ (56.7)
Total actuarial (loss) gain and prior service costs (129.5 48.2 (81.2)
Reclassification adjustments:
Amortization of net actuarial (gaith) (1.9 0.7 (2.2
Amortization of prior service cost 10.€ 3.9 6.7
Other comprehensive income relating to defined figpension plan and
VEBAs (120.9) 45.1 (75.€)
Available for sale securities:
Unrealized loss on available for sale securities (0.2) 0.1 (0.2)
Reclassification adjustments:
Reclassification of unrealized loss upon sale ailable for sale securitiés (0.2) — 0.9
Other comprehensive loss relating to availableséde securities 0.3 0.1 (0.2
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.4 — 04
Other comprehensive loss $ (120.9) $ 452z % (75.9)
2013
Defined benefit pension plan and VEBAS:
Net actuarial gain arising during the period $ 22 % 87.C % (325 % 54.t
Prior service cost arising during the period — (84.9 31.€ (53.0
Total actuarial gain (loss) and prior service costs 2.2 2.2 (0.7) 1.kt
Reclassification adjustments:
Amortization of net actuarial loss 1kt 1.t (0.5) 1.C
Amortization of prior service cost 4.2 4.2 (1.€) 2.€
Other comprehensive income relating to defined filgpension plan and
VEBAs 7.9 7.6 (2.8 5.1
Available for sale securities:
Unrealized gain on available for sale securities 1.C 1.C (0.9 0.7
Reclassification adjustments:
Reclassification of unrealized gain upon sale afilable for sale securitiés (2.0 (2.0 0.3 (0.7)
Other comprehensive income relating to availabtesébe securities — — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.2 0.2 — 0.2
Other comprehensive income $ 81 $ 81 $ 298 $ 5.3
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Before-Tax Before-Tax Income Tax
Amount Amount (Expense) Net-of-Tax
(as reported) (as reclassified) Benefit® Amount
2012
Defined benefit pension plan and VEBAs:
Net actuarial gain arising during the period $ 87.¢ $ (335 $ 54.2
Reclassification adjustments:
Amortization of net actuarial lo$s 3.1 (2.2 2.C
Amortization of prior service cost 4.2 a.7) 2.5
Other comprehensive income relating to defined figpension plan and
VEBAs 95.1 (36.9 58.¢
Available for sale securities:
Unrealized gain on available for sale securities 0.€ (0.2 04
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.2 — 0.2
Other comprehensive income $ 95.¢ $ (36.5) $ 59.C

1 Amounts reclassified out of Accumulated other coghnsive income relating to VEBA adjustments wedduided as a component of Net
periodic pension benefit income relating to VEBAs.

2 Amounts reclassified out of Accumulated other coelensive income relating to sales of availableséde securities were included as a
component of Other income (expense), net. The Camnpsaes the specific identification method to deiae the amount reclassified ou
Accumulated other comprehensive income.

®  Income tax amounts reclassified out of Accumulatéetr comprehensive income relating to VEBA adjestta and sales of available for
sale securities were included as a component oiiectax provision.

4 The presentation of other comprehensive incomkdrtable above has been revised from the prior yeentation to reflect separate
amounts for actuarial gains and losses and priwicgecosts related to plan amendments. The 20Ehbes were adjusted to reflect this
reclassification. The impacts to the prospectiverization of Prior service cost and Accumulatetiastuarial (losses) gains were not
material.

17. Condensed Guarantor and Non-Guarantor Financialnformation

The Company issued $225.0 aggregate principal atduts Senior Notes pursuant to an indenturedisay 23, 2012 (“Indenture”),
among Kaiser Aluminum Corporation ("Parent"), thbsidiary guarantors party thereto (“Guarantor &libses”) and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as truste“Trustee”). The Guarantor Subsidiaries currentigludle Kaiser Aluminum Investments Company, Kaiser
Aluminum Fabricated Products, LLC, Kaiser Aluminiutil Products, Inc., Kaiser Aluminum Washington, Cland Kaiser Aluminum Alexc
LLC, all of which are 100% owned by the Parent. §harantees are full and unconditional and joirt several but have customary releases i
the following situations: (i) the sale of the Guata Subsidiary or all of its assets; (ii) the deation of a Guarantor Subsidiary as an
unrestricted subsidiary under the Indenture; i@ termination or release of the Guarantor Suasitii guarantee of certain other indebtednes
or (iv) the exercise of legal defeasance or covedafeasance by the Company or the discharge @ohnepany’s obligations under the
Indenture.

The following condensed consolidating financiabimhation as of December 31, 2014 and December®13 2and for the years ended
December 31, 2014 , December 31, 2013 and Dece®ib@012 present (i) the financial position, resolt operation and cash flows for each
of (a) Parent, (b) the Guarantor Subsidiaries carabined basis and (c) the Non-Guarantor Subsédides defined below) on a combined
basis; (ii) the adjustments necessary to elimimatestments in subsidiaries and intercompany bakand transactions among Parent, the
Guarantor Subsidiaries and the Non-Guarantor Siagd; and (iii) the resulting totals, reflectimmjormation for the Company on a
consolidated basis, as reported. In the followatges, "Non- Guarantor Subsidiaries” refers to &afduminum Canada Limited, Trochus
Insurance Company, DCO Management, LLC, Kaiser Abum France, S.A.S. and Kaiser Aluminum Beijingdirg Company; and
"Consolidating Adjustments" represent the adjustmercessary to eliminate the investments in thegamy's subsidiaries and other
intercompany sales and cost of
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sales transactions. The condensed consolidatiagdial information should be read in conjunctiothvthe consolidated financial statements
herein.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET
December 31, 2014

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ — 3 1751 $ 24 % — 177.7
Short-term investments — 114.( — — 114.(
Receivables:

Trade receivables — net — 126.] 3.2 — 129.:

Intercompany receivables 204.2 4.C 0.¢ (209.)) —

Other — 5.€ 5.3 — 10.¢
Inventories — 208.( 7.€ (0.9 214.5
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 85.1 93.1 0.4 — 178.€

Total current assets 289.< 726.1 19.¢ (210.0 825.2
Investments in and advances to subsidiaries 1,209.: 32.t — (1,241.) —
Property, plant and equipment — net — 437.¢ 17.t — 454.¢
Long-term intercompany receivables — — 15.¢ (15.9 —
Net assets of VEBAs — 340.1 — — 340.1
Deferred tax assets — net — 23.¢ — 7.1 30.€
Intangible assets — net — 32.1 — — 32.1
Goodwill — 37.2 — — 37.2
Other assets 4.4 18.¢ 0.1 — 23.5

Total $ 1,502.¢ $ 1,648.C $ 53.: § (1,460.5) $ 1,743."
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 12 3 736 $ 6.2 % — 81.

Intercompany payable — 221.: 3.3 (224.¢) —

Accrued salaries, wages and related expenses — 36.t 3.1 — 39.€

Other accrued liabilities 88.2 43.¢ 0.8 — 132.¢

Current portion of long-term debt 172.5 — — — 172.t

Short-term capital lease — 0.1 — — 0.1

Total current liabilities 262.( 375.t 13.t (224.¢ 426.¢
Net liability in respect of VEBA — 17.2 — — 17.2
Deferred tax liabilities — — 0.¢ — 0.¢
Long-term intercompany payable — 15.¢ — (15.9 —
Long-term liabilities — 50.3 8.C — 58.:
Long-term debt 225.( — — — 225.(
Total liabilities 487.( 458.¢ 22.4 (240.5) 727.¢
Total stockholders’ equity 1,015.¢ 1,189.: 30.¢ (1,220.0) 1,015.¢

Total $ 1502¢ $  1,648( $ 532 $ (1,460 $ 1,743
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Receivables:
Trade receivables — net
Intercompany receivables
Other
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Investments in and advances to subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment — net
Long-term intercompany receivables
Net assets of VEBAs
Deferred tax assets — net
Intangible assets — net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Intercompany payable
Accrued salaries, wages and related expenses
Other accrued liabilities
Short-term capital lease
Total current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Long-term intercompany payable
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt
Total liabilities

Total stockholders’ equity
Total

December 31, 2013

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
5 $ 1577 % 6.6 % — 169.t
— 129.t — — 129.t
— 117.5 2.1 — 119.¢
— 0.1 0.2 (0.3 —
— 5.3 8.1 — 13.4
— 208.¢ 6.4 (0.6) 214.¢
0.1 43.7 04 — 44.2
5.1 662.¢ 24.C (0.9 690.¢
1,437.¢ 26.5 — (1,464.9) —
— 414.( 15.2 — 429.%
31.2 1.€ o5 (42.9) —
— 406.( — — 406.(
— 60.2 — 8.9 69.1
— 33.7 — — 33.7
— 37.2 — — 37.2
86.2 18.t 0.1 — 104.¢
1,560.f $ 1,660.0 $ 48¢< $ (1,498.9) $ 1,770.¢
11 % 56.2 $ 5 § — 62.€
— 13.€ 0.1 (14.0 —
— 39.c 34 — 427
315 39.¢ 14 — 44.¢
— 0.2 — — 0.2
4.€ 149.¢ 10.4 (14.0 150.¢€
— — 1.2 — 1.2
— 40.7 1.7 (42.9) —
83.2 52.C 11.2 — 146.2
388.t — — — 388.t
476.% 242. 24.t (56.9 686.7
1,084.: 1,418.( 24.4 (1,442.) 1,084.:
1,560.f $ 1,660.0 $ 48.¢ $ (1,498.9) $ 1,770.¢
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — 1,323.. $ 133¢ % (101.0) $ 1,356.:
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold:
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation and
amortization and other items — 1,098.: 117.¢ (98.6€) 1,117t
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments — 10.4 — — 10.4
Depreciation and amortization — 30.C 1.1 — 31.1
Selling, administrative, research and developme
and general:
Selling, administrative, research and development
and general 4.1 69.7 9.¢ 2.9 81.4
Net periodic pension benefit income relating to
VEBAs — (23.79) — — (23.7)
Total selling, administrative, research and
development and general 4.1 46.C 9.6 2.3 57.7
Other operating charges, net — 1t — — 175
Total costs and expenses 4.1 1,186.: 128.¢ (100.9) 1,218.:
Operating (loss) income 4.7 137.2 5.1 0.3 137.¢
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (37.5) (0.6) — 0.€ (37.5)
Other income (expense), net 3.7 3.2 0.4 (0.€) 6.7
(Loss) income before income taxes (37.9 139.¢ h.5 0.3 107.1
Income tax (provision) benefit — (50.2) 0.8 14.1 (35.9)
Earnings in equity of subsidiaries 109.7 6.C — (115.% —
Net income $ 716 $ 95.¢ % 6.2 $ (101.9 $ 71.¢
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (3.6 $ 19 6.6 $ (26.5) $ (3.6
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year Ended December 31, 2013

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — 1,275 $ 118.( (95.7) $ 1,297.t
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold:
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation and
amortization and other items — 1,026.( 105.% (92.9) 1,038.¢
Unrealized gains on derivative instruments — (0.7) — — (0.7)
Depreciation and amortization — 27.C 1.1 — 28.1
Selling, administrative, research and developmen
and general:
Selling, administrative, research and development
and general 3.8 70.1 8.¢ (2.9 80.4
Net periodic pension benefit income relating to
VEBAs — (22.5) — — (22.5)
Total selling, administrative, research and
development and general 3.8 47.€ 8.6 (2.9 57.¢
Total costs and expenses 3.8 1,099.¢ 115.7 (95.9) 1,124.;
Operating (loss) income (3.9 175.% 2.3 (0.5 173.2
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (36.6) 0.t — 0.4 (35.9)
Other income (expense), net &Y 2.C — (0.9 5.€
(Loss) income before income taxes (36.5) 177.¢ 2.3 (0.9 143.2
Income tax (provision) benefit — (68.7) 15.7 14.C (38.9)
Earnings in equity of subsidiaries 1412 17.€ — (158.9 —
Net income $ 104.¢ $ 127.:  $ 18.C (145.9) $ 104.¢
Comprehensive income $ 1101 $ 131¢ $ 19.C (150.¢) $ 110.1
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31, 2012

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Net sales $ — 1,326.( $ 124.C % (899 $ 1,360.:
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold:
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation and
amortization and other items — 1,090.( 110.z (84.0 1,116.:
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments — (15.2) — — (15.2)
Depreciation and amortization — 25.t 1.C — 26.5
Selling, administrative, research and developmen
and general:
Selling, administrative, research and development
and general 2.C 69.¢€ 8.2 (5.7 74.1
Net periodic pension benefit income relating to
VEBAs — (11.9 — — (11.9
Total selling, administrative, research and
development and general 2.C 57.7 8.2 (5.7 62.2
Other operating charges, net — 4.5 — — 4.5
Total costs and expenses 2.C 1,162.t 119.4 (89.7) 1,194.:
Operating (loss) income (2.0 163.t 4.€ (0.2 165.¢
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (28.2) (1.0 — 0.1 (29.])
Other income, net 0.8 1kt 0.€ (0.2 2.8
(Loss) income before income taxes (29.9) 164.( 5.2 (0.2 139.¢
Income tax provision — (62.€) (2.3 11.1 (53.9
Earnings in equity of subsidiaries 115.2 2.6 — (117.9) —
Net income $ 85.6 $ 104.C $ 2¢ % (106.9 $ 85.¢
Comprehensive income $ 144¢ % 164.C $ 1€ 3 (165.9 $ 144.¢
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31, 2014

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 356 $ 81L& $ 6.7 $ — % 124.1
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures — (56.9) (3.0 — (59.9
Purchase of available for sale securities — (93.5) — — (93.5)
Proceeds from disposition of available for sale
securities — 108.2 — — 108.2
Net cash used in investing activities — (41.9) (3.0 — (44.7)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of capital lease liability — (0.2) — — (0.7
Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested share
and dividend payment on unvested shares expected to
vest — 0.8 — — 0.8
Cancellation of shares to cover employees' tax
withholdings upon vesting of non-vested shares (2.4 — — — (2.4
Repurchase of common stock (44.7 — — — (44.7
Cash dividend paid to stockholders (25.9) — — — (25.9)
Intercompany loan 31.c (23.9) (8.2) — —
Net cash used in financing activities (40.€) (22.5) (8.2 — (71.2)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent
during the period (5.0 17.€ (4.9 — 8.2
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5.C 157.5 6.8 — 169.t
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ — $ 1752 $ 24 % — $ 177.3
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31, 2013

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activitiesh

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Purchase of available for sale securities

Proceeds from disposition of available for sale
securities

Change in restricted cash

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of capital lease liability

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested sha
and dividend payment on unvested shares expecte
vest

Cancellation of shares to cover employees' tax
withholdings upon vesting of non-vested shares

Repurchase of common stock

Cash dividend paid to stockholders
Cash dividend returned to the Company
Intercompany loan

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activiti

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent
during the period

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated

(29.2) $ 1317 $ 92 $ — 3 111.7
— (66.5) (3.9 — (70.%)
— (227.9) — — (227.9)
— 183.1 — — 183.1
— 0.7 1.C — 1.7
— (110.5 (2.9) — (113.9)
— (0.1) — — (0.2)
— 1.1 — — 1.1
(2.5) — — — (2.5)
(78.9) — — — (78.9)
(23.0) — — — (23.0)
0.€ — — 0.€
132.¢ (130.5) (1.9 — —
29.2 (129.5) (1.9 — (102.9)
— (108.9) 4.4 — (103.9)
5.C 266.( 24 — 273.2
5 $ 1577 % 6.6 $ — 3 169.t
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31, 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activitiesh

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Purchase of available for sale securities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Change in restricted cash

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes
Payment of capital lease liability
Repayment of promissory notes
Cash paid for financing costs

Excess tax benefit upon vesting of non-vested share
and dividend payment on unvested shares expected to
vest

Cancellation of shares to cover employees' tax
withholdings upon vesting of non-vested shares

Cash dividend paid to stockholders
Intercompany loan

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during th
period

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $

Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consolidated
(17.9 $ 1642 $ 5¢ $ — 3 152.¢
— (42.6) (1.5) — (44.)
— (85.0) — — (85.0)
0.2 — — 0.3

6. 0.4 (0.4 — 6.
6.¢ (126.9 (1.9) — (121.9
225.( — — — 225.(
— (0.2) — — (0.2)
— (4.7) — — (4.7)
(6.6) — — — (6.6)
— 1.2 — — 1.3
(2.2) — — — (2.2)
(19.6) — — — (19.6)
(185.%) 189.1 (3.9 — —
10.¢ 185.¢ (3.4) — 193.1
— 223.( 0.€ — 223.¢
5.C 43.C 1.8 — 49.¢
5 $ 266.C % 24 3 — 3 273.¢
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18. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables present the unaudited finalnd#a for each of the interim periods in 2014 26d3 .

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Ended Ended Ended Ended
31-Mar 30-Jun 30-Sep 31-Dec
2014
Net sales $ 335.1 % 344.1 % 338.¢ % 338.(
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation, dination and other
items 282.¢ 275.t 280.4 278.7
Unrealized (gains) losses on derivative instruments (2.0 (1.6 3.€ 10.4
Gross profit 54.2 70.2 54.¢ 48.¢
Operating income 32.1 46.4 32.¢ 26.¢
Net income $ 15.¢ $ 245 % 15¢ $ 15.€
Net income per common share, Basic $ 08¢t $ 138 % 09C % 0.8¢
Net income per common share, Diluted $ 0.8t % 1.3 $ 0.8t % 0.8t
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Ended Ended Ended Ended
31-Mar 30-Jun 30-Sep 31-Dec
2013
Net sales $ 3372 % 328.¢ % 319.¢ % 311.:
Cost of products sold, excluding depreciation, dimation and other
items 263.€ 261.t 259.t 254.;
Unrealized losses (gains) on derivative instruments 0.7 4.2 (1.5 (4.2
Gross profit 73.1 63.2 61.¢ 61.1
Operating income 50.C 40.1 41.¢€ 41.¢€
Net income $ 33t % 18.¢ $ 254 % 27.2
Net income per common share, Basic $ 178 $ 09¢ % 137 % 1.4¢
Net income per common share, Diluted $ 1.7 $ 0.9¢ % 1.3¢2 $ 1.44

19. Subsequent Events

Dividend Declaration On January 13, 2015 , the Company announcedstadard of Directors declared a quarterly castidéind of$0.4C
per common share, or approximately $7.1 (includiividend equivalents), which was paid on Februay2D15 to stockholders of record at
the close of business on January 23, 2015 .

Anti-dilution Adjustments to Convertible Notes &@whvertible Note Hedge Transactiof®llowing the open of business on January 21,
2015, the ex-dividend date for the Company's Felgria, 2015 dividend, (a) the Convertible Notesiwarsion rate increased slightly to
20.9664 shares per $1,000 principal amount of tevertible Notes and the equivalent conversioneptiecreased slightly to $47.70 per share
(b) the Option Assets' exercise price decreasgtithlito $47.70 per share and (c) the Warrantg'oise price decreased slightly to $60.57 per
share.

Ratification of New Five-Year Labor Agreement itk USWOn January 28, 2015, union members at the Comphleyisrk, Ohio and
Trentwood facilities ratified a new five-year labamgreement. The agreement affects approximatelyu@h members and is effective on
October 1, 2015 and extends through September020,. Zhe new labor agreement also extends thedéthe Director Designation
Agreement that allows the USW to nominate cand&ltdehe Company's board of directors through Déezril, 2020. In addition, the
Company's obligation for annual contribution paytsenapped at $17.1 per year, to the Union VEBA &xpire in September 2017. The
Company is currently assessing the impact the atipir of the Union VEBA funding requirement will\mon its consolidated financial
statements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedud& maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatretiesigned to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in our reponder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is meed, recorded, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the Securité@sl Exchange Commission's rules and forms andstitdt information is accumulated and
communicated to management, including the prinapaktutive officer and principal financial officéo, allow for timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. In designing and evaluatimgdisclosure controls and procedures, managemesgmees that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and opraten provide only reasonable assurance of acigaie desired control objectives and
management is required to apply its judgment iduatang the cost-benefit relationship of possitbatrols and procedures. An evaluation of
the effectiveness of the design and operation oflmclosure controls and procedures was perforaseaf the end of the period covered by thi
Report under the supervision of and with the pgiton of our management, including the principegcutive officer and principal financial
officer. Based on that evaluation, our principatextive officer and principal financial officer adnded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 20fl#eaeasonable assurance level.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Ovieancial ReportingOur management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under $seurities Exchange Act of 1934. Our
internal control over financial reporting is desiginunder the supervision of our principal executiffcer and principal financial officer and
effected by our Board of Directors, managementathdr personnel, to provide reasonable assurageediag the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:éor external purposes in accordance with acéogmtrinciples generally accepted in the
United States and include those policies and praesdthat:

(1) Pertain to the maintenance of records tha¢@sonable detail accurately and fairly reflecttoamsactions and the dispositions of our
assets;

(2) Provide reasonable assurance that our transactire recorded as necessary to permit prepaxtiforancial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted i thited States and that our receipts and expendifire being made only in accordance
with authorizations of our management and Boamioéctors; and

(3) Provide reasonable assurance regarding prewveotitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitioge or disposition of our assets that
could have a material effect on our financial stedats.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohaver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide mdgonable assurance with respect to financisdratnt preparation and presentation.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executffecer and principal financial officer,
we assessed the effectiveness of our internal@amter financial reporting as of December 31, 2014ing the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission in Internal Control - Integrated Feavork as established in 2013. Basec
on that evaluation, our principal executive offiead principal financial officer concluded that auternal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2014 .

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registeredlic accounting firm that audited our consolidafiedncial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2014 included in Item 8. “Fir@r8tatements and Supplementary Data” of this Repas issued an audit report on the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahcegporting.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Repogti We had no changes in our internal control ovearicial reporting during our most
recently completed fiscal quarter that have mdtgrédfected, or are reasonably likely to mategiaffect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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Part Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govence

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference to the information included untlerdaptions “Executive Officers,”
“Proposals Requiring Your Vote — Proposal for Blectof Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownbiig Reporting Compliance” and
“Corporate Governance” in our proxy statement fer 2015 annual meeting of stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information included untierdaptions “Executive Compensation,
“Director Compensation” and “Corporate Governanc&eard Committees — Compensation Committee — Comsgtean Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation” in our prastatement for the 2015 annual meeting of stockhslde

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aiinagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorp@by reference to the information included unfierdaptions “Equity Compensation
Plan Information” and “Principal Stockholders andmdgement Ownership” in our proxy statement for2B#5 annual meeting of
stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions abitector Independence
The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information included untierdaptions “Certain Relationships and

Related Transactions” and “Corporate Governanceirecidr Independence” in our proxy statement fer2015 annual meeting of
stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorp@by reference to the information included untlerdaption “Independent Public
Accountants” in our proxy statement for the 2016wl meeting of stockholders.
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PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

1. Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accagniirm
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Statements of Consolidated Income

Statements of Consolidated Comprehensive Indboss)
Statements of Consolidated Stockholders’ Equity
Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are eittagplicable or the required information is includiedhe Consolidated Financial
Statements or the notes thereto included in ItefRiBancial Statements and Supplementary Data”iaoorporated herein by reference.

3. Exhibits

Reference is made to the Index of Exhibits immediygpreceding the exhibits hereto (beginning oneddd ), which index is
incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION

/s/ Jack A. Hockema
Jack A. Hockema
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 19, 2015

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

/s/ Jack A. Hockema President, Chief Executive Officer, Date: February 19, 2015
Chairman of the Board and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Jack A. Hockema

/s/ Daniel J. Rinkenberger Executive Vice President and Chief Date: February 19, 2015
, — Financial Officer
Daniel J. Rinkenberger (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Neal West Vice President and Chief Date: February 19, 2015
Accounting Officer
Neal West (Principal Accounting Officer)
/sl Carolyn Bartholomew Director Date: February 19, 2015

Carolyn Bartholomew

Director
David Foster
Director
L. Patrick Hassey
/sl Teresa A. Hopp Director Date: February 19, 2015
Teresa A. Hopp
/sl Lauralee Martin Director Date: February 19, 2015
Lauralee Martin
Director
William F. Murdy
/sl Alfred E. Osborne, Jr., Ph.D. Director Date: February 19, 2015
Alfred E. Osborne, Jr., Ph.D.
Director
Jack Quinn
/sl Thomas M. Van Leeuwen Director Date: February 19, 2015

Thomas M. Van Leeuwen



/sl Brett E. Wilcox Director Date: February 19, 2015

Brett E. Wilcox
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INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit

Number Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothh@ Company (incorporated by reference to ExI8hitto the
Registration Statement on Form 8-A, filed by therPany on July 6, 2006, File No. 000-52105).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatatificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorptad by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Quarterly ReporfFonm 10-Q, filed by the Company on August 7, 2@@& No. 000-
52105).

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incatpd by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrattatement on
Form 8-A, filed by the Company on July 6, 2006eMilo. 000-52105).

4.1 Indenture, dated as of March 29, 2010 (incorporbieceference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current ReporForm 8K, filed by
the Company on March 29, 2010, File No. 000-52105).

4.2 Indenture, dated May 23, 2012, by and among Kaigeninum Corporation, each of the guarantors nathedein and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trugieeorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to ther€ot Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on May 24, 2012¢Hilo. 000-52105).

4.3 Form of 8.250% Senior Note due 2020 (included ihikik 4.2).

4.4 Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 23, 20¥2nd among Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, eacthefguarantors
signatory thereto and J.P. Morgan Securities LISOepresentative of the several initial purcha§acorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report om#8-K, filed by the Company on May 24, 2012, File. 000-52105).

10.1 Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 20tdng the Company, Kaiser Aluminum Investments CamgpKaiser
Aluminum Fabricated Products, LLC, Kaiser Aluminidnternational, Inc., Kaiser Aluminum Washingtor,& and
Kaiser Aluminum Alexco, LLC, certain financial iiitsttions from time to time party thereto, as lergjéiPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, J.P. Morgacu8ges Inc. and Wells Fargo Capital Finance, L& joint
bookrunners and joint lead arrangers, Wells Fargpit@l Finance, LLC, as documentation agent, antkEd America,
N.A., as syndication agent (incorporated by refeesto Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Fori{,8iled by the
Company on October 3, 2011, File No. 000-52105

10.2 Form of Confirmation of Base Call Option Transaedincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 ®@urrent Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 29, 201ile No. 000-52105).

10.3 Form of Confirmation of Additional Call Option Traactions (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.the Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on Maréh 2010, File No. 000-52105).

10.4 Form of Confirmation of Base Warrant Transactidnsdrporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to ther€ut Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 29, 201ile No. 000-52105).

10.5 Form of Confirmation of Additional Warrant Transacis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4h Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 29, 20/ie No. 000-52105).

10.6 Description of Compensation of Directors (incorgedaby reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Quart&gport on Form 10-
Q, filed by the Company on April 25, 2014 File N\®@0-52105)

**10.7 Employment Agreement, dated as of March 5, 201#ydsen the Company and Jack A. Hockema (incorpotaged

reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Current ReporForm 8-K, filed by the Company on March 7, 2014e Ro. 00052105).
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**10.8

**10.9

**10.10

**10.11

**10.12

**10.13

**10.14

**10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

**10.19

**10.20

10.21

**10.22

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Marct2814, between the Company and Jack A. Hockemarfincated
by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Quarterly Répa Form 10-Q, filed by the Company on April 2814, File No. 000-
52105).

Amendment to Restricted Stock Award Agreement,didarch 31, 2014, between the Company and Jackagkéma
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to thea@erly Report on Form 10-Q, filed by the CompanyApril 25, 2014,
File No. 000-52105).

Amendment to Performance Shares Award Agreemetedddarch 31, 2014, between the Company and JatloAkeme
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to thea@erly Report on Form 10-Q, filed by the CompanyApril 25, 2014,
File No. 000-52105).

Form of Director Indemnification Agreement (incorpted by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Curregp®t on Form 8-
K, filed by the Company on July 6, 2006, File N60&62105).

Form of Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorpted by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Curreridteon Form 8-K,
filed by the Company on July 6, 2006, File No. BX305).

Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1¢h® Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on July 6, 20Biie No. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Products Restoratiom Rilacorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 t® @urrent Report
on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on July 6, 20Bite No. 000-52105).

Amendment to the Kaiser Aluminum Fabricated Prosligstoration Plan (incorporated by reference tul#ix10.4 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Companybmtember 31, 2008, File No. 000-52105).

Director Designation Agreement, dated as of JulgO®6, between the Company and the USW (incorpotateeference
to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement omir8FA, filed by the Company on July 6, 2006, File.l900-52105).

Letter Agreement dated January 19, 2010 extenti@getrm of the Director Designation Agreement betwie Company
and the USW (incorporated by reference to ExhiBifLlXo the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by @empany on
January 21, 2010, File No. 000-52105).

Letter agreement effective September 10, 2014 ktwlee Company and the USW (incorporated by reberém Exhibit
10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed bg tbompany on September 11, 2014, File No. 000-52105

Form of Change in Control Severance AgreementdbnM. Donnan, Keith A. Harvey, and Daniel J. Rinkerger
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 toAmzmual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended é&weber 31, 2002,
filed by the Company on March 31, 2003, File N®447).

Form of Amendment to the Change in Control Severgkgreement with John M. Donnan, Keith A. Harvayd ®aniel J.
Rinkenberger (incorporated by reference to ExHiBiR to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed bg tbompany on
December 31, 2008, File No. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Corporation Amended and RestatdebZbquity and Performance Incentive Plan (incorfaatdy
reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Quarterly Reporform 10-Q, filed by the Company on April 24, 20EBe No. 000-
52105).

2007 Form of Executive Officer Option Rights Awakdreement (incorporated by reference to ExhibiB%6.the Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed by the Company on Apri2B07, File No. 000-52105).
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**10.23

**10.24

**10.25

**10.26

**10.27

**10.28

**10.29

**10.30

**10.31

**10.32

**10.33

**10.34

**10.35

**10.36

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock AtvAgreement (incorporated by reference to ExhiBiR1o the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed by the CompanyAugust 7, 2008, File No. 000-52105).

2012 Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock AsvAgreement (incorporated by reference to ExHiBiR to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 9, 2012, File No. 000-52105).

2012 Form of Executive Officer Performance Shares Agreement (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi3 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 9, 2012, File No. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Corporation 2012 - 2014 Long-Temgsédntive Program Summary of Management Objectinds a
Formula for Determining Performance Shares Earmaiporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to ther€ut Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 9, 2012e Mo. 000-52105).

Description of 2012 Long-Term Incentive Umbrella®under the Kaiser Aluminum Corporation Amended Restated
2006 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan (incaateal herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to theu@arly Report on
Form 10-Q, filed by the Company on April 26, 20E#e No. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Corporation 2013 Short-Term InceatPlan for Key Managers Summary (incorporatedebgrence to
Exhibit 10.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-Kedilby the Company on March 8, 2013, File No. 0006532.

2013 Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock AdvAgreement (incorporated by reference to ExHibi@ to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 8, 2013, File No. 000-52105).

2013 Form of Executive Officer Performance Shares Agreement (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi3 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 8, 2013, File No. 000-52105).

Kaiser Aluminum Corporation 2013 - 2015 Long-Temedntive Program Summary of Management Objectiads a
Formula for Determining Performance Shares Earimztiporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to ther€ut Report on
Form 8-K, filed by the Company on March 8, 2013e M0.000-52105).

Description of 2013 Short-Term Incentive UmbrellarPunder the Kaiser Aluminum Corporation Amended Restated
2006 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan (incateml herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to theu@arly Report on
Form 10-Q, filed by the Company on April 24, 20E8¢ No. 000-52105).

Description of 2013 Long-Term Incentive Umbrella®under the Kaiser Aluminum Corporation Amended Restated
2006 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan (incateml herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to theu@arly Report on
Form 10-Q, filed by the Company on April 24, 20E8e No. 000-52105).

2014 Short-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated bemefice to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report om¥8¢K, filed by the
Company on March 7, 2014, File No. 000-52105).

2014 Form of Executive Officer Restricted Stock AdvAgreement (incorporated by reference to ExHibi@ to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 7, 2014, File No. 000-52105).

2014 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (ipooated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the CurfReport on Form
8-K, filed by the Company on June 6, 2014, File 8@0-52105).

117




**10.37 2014 Form of Executive Officer Performance Sharesmwl Agreement (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi3 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed by the CompanyMerch 7, 2014, File No. 000-52105).

**10.38 2014-2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit 10.4 to the Current ReporForm 8-K, filed
by the Company on March 7, 2014, File No. 000-52105

**10.39 Description of 2014 Short-Term Incentive UmbrellarPunder the Kaiser Aluminum Corporation Amended Restated
2006 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan (incateal by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Quart®dport on Form
10-Q, filed by the Company on April 25, 2014, Rile. 000-52105).

**10.40 Description of 2014 Long-Term Incentive Umbrell@a®under the Kaiser Aluminum Corporation Amended Restated
2006 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan (incateml by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Quart®dport on Form
10-Q, filed by the Company on April 25, 2014, Ale. 000-52105).

*12.1 Statement Regarding Computation of Ratios.

21.1 Significant Subsidiaries of Kaiser Aluminum Corpiima (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1He Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed by the Company on February2®l5, File No. 000-52105.

*23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.

*31.1 Certification of Jack A. Hockema pursuant to Setfi02 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
*31.2 Certification of Daniel J. Rinkenberger pursuangtxtion 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
*32.1 Certification of Jack A. Hockema pursuant to Set806 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
*32.2 Certification of Daniel J. Rinkenberger pursuanggxtion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
*101.INS XBRL Instance

*101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

*101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation

*101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition

*101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label

*101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

* Filed herewith.

** Management contract or compensatory plaaroangement required to be filed as an exhibihi® Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIE S
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(In millions of dollars, except for ratio of earnings to fixed charges)

Year Ended December 31,

Exhibit 12.1

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Earnings:
Income (loss) from continuing operations before
taxes and equity in (earnings) losses of
unconsolidated affiliates $ 107.1 % 143.: % 139.¢ $ 413 % 25.1
Fixed charges 42.F 41.¢€ 34.1 22.€ 17.¢
Interest capitalized (2.5 (3.9 .7 (1.3 (2.8
Amortization of interest capitalized 0.¢ 0.8 0.7 0.€ 0.t
Earnings $ 148.C $ 182 $ 1727 % 63.z2 $ 40.7
Fixed Charges:
Interest expense, including amortization of
discounts, debt issuance costs and interest
component of rent expense $ 37t $ 357 $ 291 $ 18C $ 11.¢
Interest capitalized 2.t 3.4 1.7 3 2.¢
Portion of rental representative of interest 2.t 2.t 3.3 .3 33
Fixed charges $ 425 % 41€ % 341 % 22¢ $ 17.¢
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 3. 4.4 5.1 2.8 2.2




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement No. 333-165869 on Form S-3Nwogl 333-170513 and 333-135613 on
Form S-8 of our report dated February 19, 201%afirgy to the consolidated financial statement&Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and the
effectiveness of Kaiser Aluminum Corporation’s im&@ control over financial reporting, appearinghis Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation for the year ended Deber 31, 2014.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Costa Mesa, California
February 19, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Jack A. Hockema, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Kaisluminum Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or enittate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nkgadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opgerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durimg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntai report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changes in thésteant’s internal control over financial reportittgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrariburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigfgability to record, process, summarize and refiwoancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedyumanagement or other employees who have a samitifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl Jack A. Hockema

Jack A. Hockema

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 19, 2015

A signed original of this written statement reqdii®y Section 302 has been provided to Kaiser AlumirCorporation and will be retained
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and furnished to the8&ies and Exchange Commission or its staff ugmjuest.



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
[, Daniel J. Rinkenberger, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Kaisluminum Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or enittate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nkgadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opgerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durimg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargading the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntai report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changes in thésteant’s internal control over financial reportittgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrariburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigfgability to record, process, summarize and refiwoancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedyumanagement or other employees who have a samitifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl Daniel J. Rinkenberger

Daniel J. Rinkenberger

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 19, 2015

A signed original of this written statement reqdii®y Section 302 has been provided to Kaiser AlumirCorporation and will be retained
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and furnished to the8&ies and Exchange Commission or its staff ugmjuest.



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

February 19, 201

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 103KKaiser Aluminum Corporation, a Delaware corpanat{the “Company”)for the yeai
ended December 31, 2014 (the “Report”), as filedhendate hereof with the Securities and Exchargarfiission, the undersigned, Jack A.

Hockema, Chief Executive Officer of the Companyesibereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 aptad pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to such offickriswledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgfeAct of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
780(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fapphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods exguieaghe Report.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executisdctrtification as of the date first above written

/sl Jack A. Hockema

Jack A. Hockema

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this written statement reqdii®y Section 906 has been provided to Kaiser AlumitCorporation and will be retained
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and furnished to the8#ies and Exchange Commission or its staff ugzjuest.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

February 19, 201

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 103KKaiser Aluminum Corporation, a Delaware corpanat{the “Company”)for the yeai
ended December 31, 2014 (the “Report”), as filedhendate hereof with the Securities and Exchargar@iission, the undersigned, Daniel J.
Rinkenberger, Executive Vice President and Chie&Rkcial Officer of the Company, does hereby cerpfyrsuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 as ado
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, that to such officer’s knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgfeAct of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
780(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fapphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods exguieaghe Report.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executisdctrtification as of the date first above written

/sl Daniel J. Rinkenberger

Daniel J. Rinkenberger

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 has been provided to Kaiser AlumirCorporation and will be retained
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and furnished to the8#ies and Exchange Commission or its staff upgzyuest.



